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Financial statement presentation
Foreword

The final mile;
Presentation and disclosure

In the financial statement process, considerable time is devoted to determining
what items get recorded and how to account for them, but the critical final mile is
determining how they need to appear — i.e. how they are presented and
disclosed.

Once the debits and credits have been settled, presentation and disclosure is
how that information is conveyed to financial statement users in a transparent,
understandable and consistent manner. Disclosure goes ‘behind the numbers’
and is necessary to fully understand the financial statements.

Topics 205 to 280 in the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification® are
dedicated to presentation and disclosure and provide the baseline requirements.
Other Topics address more detailed requirements, specific to certain
transactions or industries. For SEC registrants, there is yet more guidance that
contains many additional requirements, which has helped shape practices over
the years for all other entities.

In this Handbook, we pull together many of the general requirements and
practices to provide you with a fuller picture of how the different financial
statements are constructed and how they interact with one another.

We hope you find our analysis and insights useful as you determine the
appropriate way to present and disclose information in your organization’s
financial statements.

Valerie Boissou and Tim Phelps

Department of Professional Practice, KPMG LLP

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Financial statement presentation
About this publication

About this publication

The purpose of this Handbook is to assist management in determining the
appropriate presentation of financial statement information under the various
presentation topics of the Codification (i.e. Topics 205 to 280), other broad
topics (e.g. related parties under Topic 850 and subsequent events under Topic
855) and SEC regulations.

Organization of the text

The chapters include excerpts from numerous Topics in the FASB’s Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC). Practical in-depth explanations and examples are
provided to assist with the real-world application of key concepts.

Our commentary is referenced to the Codification and other literature, where
applicable. The following are examples.

e 205-10-45-1 is paragraph 45-1 of ASC Subtopic 205-10
e CON 8.PR20 is paragraph PR20 of FASB Concepts Statement No. 8,
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, chapter 7, Presentation

e ASU 2014-15.BC26 is paragraph 26 of the basis for conclusions of
Accounting Standards Update 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about
an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

e FAS 130.106 is paragraph 106 of FASB Statement No. 130, Reporting
Comprehensive Income

¢ S-X Rule 5-02 is Rule 5-02 of SEC Regulation S-X

e 17 CFR 240.12b-23 is section 23 of SEC Regulation 12B

e SAB Topic 1.M.1 is SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 1.M.1, Assessing
materiality

e FRM 1360.1 is section 1360.1 of the SEC’s Financial Reporting Manual

¢ CFDG 2is the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance Disclosure Guidance:
Topic No. 2, Cybersecurity

e SEC Rel 33-11042 is SEC Release No. 33-11042, The Enhancement and
Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors

e TQA.1100.03 is section 1100.03 of the AICPA’s Technical Questions and
Answers

e 2021 AICPA Confis the 2021 AICPA National Conference on Current SEC
and PCAOB Developments

e« CAQ 04/2010 is meeting minutes from the April 2010 Center for Audit
Quality SEC Regulations Committee

e AS 3320.05 is paragraph 5 of PCAOB Auditing Standard 3320, Association
with Financial Statements

¢ AU-C 700.62 is paragraph 62 of AICPA Statements on Auditing Standards
(Clarified) Section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial
Statements

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved

2



Financial statement presentation 3
About this publication

Pending content

Some Codification paragraphs reproduced in this Handbook were amended by
Accounting Standards Updates that are not yet effective for all entities. These
amendments are presented as current content. The amendments presented as
current content do not affect the analysis in this Handbook differently than the
pre-amended Codification paragraphs.

Scope and terminology

The analysis in this Handbook applies to both SEC registrants and nonpublic
entities applying US GAAP.

The following terminology is used in this Handbook.
e Codification: The FASB ASC Caodification, which excludes SEC regulations
¢ Notes: Notes to financial statements (i.e. disclosures)

¢ Registrant(s): SEC registrant(s), an issuer of securities that is subject to
the rules and regulations of the SEC

e SEC guidance: All SEC sources, including SEC regulations
¢ SEC regulations: SEC Regulations S-X and S-K
¢ US GAAP: The FASB ASC Codification and SEC regulations

October 2024 edition

The October 2024 edition of our Handbook includes a new chapter on interim
reporting (chapter 10). It also includes new and updated interpretations of other
financial statement presentation issues. New items added are identified
throughout the Handbook with ** and items that have been significantly updated
are identified with #.

Abbreviations

We use the following abbreviations in this Handbook:

AICPA American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

AOCI Accumulated other comprehensive income

DD&A Depreciation, depletion and amortization

EBIT Earnings before interest and taxes

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization

EITF Emerging Issues Task Force

EPS Earnings per share

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved



IASB

IFRS® Accounting
Standards

IPO
IPR&D
LIBOR
MD&A
NCI
NFP
OClI
PP&E
R&D
Reg
ROU
SG&A
TCFD
usD
VIE

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
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International Accounting Standards Board

International Financial Reporting Standards
Initial public offering

In-process research and development
London Interbank Offered Rate
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Noncontrolling interest

Not-for-profit (entity)

Other comprehensive income

Property, plant and equipment

Research and development

Regulation

Right-of-use (asset)

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
US dollars

Variable interest entity
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1. Executive summary

Executive summary

Financial statements: general principles

This Handbook discusses the presentation and general disclosure requirements
relevant for financial statements prepared under US GAAP, focusing on the
following FASB ASC Topics and Subtopic:

e Subtopic 205-10 (presentation of financial statements)
e Topic 210 (balance sheet)

e Topic 220 (income statement/comprehensive income)
e Topic 235 (notes to financial statements)

e Topic 270 (interim reporting)

e Topic 275 (risks and uncertainties)

e Topic 850 (related party disclosures)

e Topic 855 (subsequent events).

Besides discussing the requirements in these (Sub)Topics, this Handbook also
discusses SEC regulations pertinent to presentation and disclosure of financial
statements filed by SEC registrants. Much of the discussion of SEC regulations
focuses on Reg S-X Article 5, which relates to commercial and industrial
registrants.

This Handbook does not address presentation of financial information outside of
the financial statements (e.g. MD&A).

Financial statements: general principles

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial
information about the reporting entity that is useful to investors, lenders and
other stakeholders as they make decisions about providing resources to the
entity. This generally requires presentation of a full set of financial statements.

Providing financial information for comparative periods enhances the usefulness
of the financial statements. Entities generally include at least one comparative
period in addition to the current period.

Financial statements are generally prepared on the basis that the entity will
continue to operate (i.e. a ‘going concern’ basis). In our experience, some
entities disclose their basis of preparation as ‘on a going concern basis’ or basis
of presentation ‘in accordance with US GAAP’ either in a basis of presentation
or significant accounting policies note.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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A full set of financial statements comprises the following statements.

Financial statement ‘ Comments

Statement of

. . i Commonly called the balance sheet.
financial position

Presented as a stand-alone statement or as a continuous
Income statement statement of comprehensive income with other
comprehensive income (OCI).

Statement of Presented when an entity has OCI. Comprises both net
comprehensive income and OCI.
income

Statement of cash

See KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows.
flows

Statement of Can be included in the notes.
shareholders’ equity | See KPMG Handbook, Debt and equity financing.

Financial statements are presented for the reporting period ending on the
balance sheet date (reporting date). A reporting period might represent an
annual or interim period. Understanding the nature and the length of the
reporting period is fundamental to understanding the financial information
presented and the applicable requirements.

Financial statements are accompanied by notes and, in some cases,
supplemental information.

Presentation and disclosures requirements in US GAAP only apply when the
reporting entity has material events or transactions that underlie these
requirements.

Role of SEC regulations

Reg S-X and related SEC rules provide more specific requirements than the
Cadification regarding presentation of financial statements. Most notably, Reg
S-X contains a list of minimum captions for the balance sheet and income
statement. Reg S-X also requires registrants to provide financial statements
from comparative periods in their periodic SEC filings (e.g. Form 10-K) and to
file supplemental schedules in certain circumstances.

The SEC requirements technically apply only to SEC registrants. However, they
are conceptually consistent with Subtopic 205-10, and therefore may be
relevant to nonpublic entities. When they clarify Codification requirements, we
believe they should be applied by all entities in the absence of specific
Cadification guidance. Further, when they go beyond the Codification
requirements, they can constitute common or best practice for nonpublic
entities.

Read more: Chapter 2

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Balance sheet

The balance sheet presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and equity as of the
reporting date — i.e. the last day of a reporting period.

Reg S-X Rule 5-02 lists the required minimum captions that commercial and
industrial registrants are expected to present on the balance sheet. It also
requires them to present a classified balance sheet, which distinguishes
between current and noncurrent assets and current and noncurrent liabilities.
Other entities often present a classified balance sheet but are not required to do
SO.

Two primary issues in presenting a balance sheet are the classification of
assets and liabilities as either current or noncurrent, and offsetting of liabilities
against related assets.

Current vs noncurrent classification

Topic 210 provides the general guidance on how to present a classified balance
sheet. A classified balance sheet shows separate classifications of current
assets and current liabilities, which allows the user of the balance sheet to
readily determine working capital.

Current assets Current liabilities

Liabilities incurred in the current
operating cycle or expected to be
settled within a relatively short period of
time (usually 12 months) of the
reporting date

Assets that are reasonably expected to
be realized in cash or sold or consumed
during the entity’s normal operating
cycle

Whether assets or liabilities are current depends on the entity’s operating cycle.
The operating cycle is commonly 12 months but can be longer in certain
industries in which the average time between acquiring assets for processing
and realizing their value in cash or cash equivalents is longer than 12 months.
The time period used as the basis for determining if an asset or liability is
classified as current or noncurrent cannot be shorter than 12 months.

Offsetting

Assets and liabilities may be offset against one another on the balance sheet
only when all of the following criteria are met.

Each of the two parties owes the other determinable

Mutual liability criterion
amounts.

The reporting party has the right to offset the amount

Holliyy i @i el e owed with the amount owed by the other party.

[N | B (oW I M YT i Ml The reporting party intends to offset.

S {T (LTI IR I The right of setoff is enforceable by law.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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The right of setoff has several nuances and application issues.

In addition, Subtopic 210-20 requires quantitative disclosures for offsetting of
derivatives, repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions. Its
objective is to allow users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s balance sheet, including
the effect of rights of setoff.

Read more: Chapter 3

Income statement

The income statement provides a measure of the entity’s operational
performance, excluding OCI items. While the income statement is often
presented as a part of a single continuous statement of comprehensive income
along with OCI, it may also be presented as a stand-alone statement.

Reg S-X Rule 5-03 lists the required minimum captions that commercial and
industrial registrants are expected to present in the income statement.

A significant issue in presenting an income statement is determining the
appropriate classification of items. While the Codification provides guidance on
allocating costs to discontinued operations, there is little authoritative guidance
on how to allocate items among the captions in income from continuing
operations. In general, each income statement caption represents similar
classes of items that are relatively consistent across each industry. Further, the
right of setoff (used to offset items on the balance sheet) does not apply to the
income statement; however, some other Codification Topics permit or require
offsetting in specific instances — e.g. recoveries on environmental losses are
classified in the same caption as the related loss.

Unusual items

Unusual items require special treatment in income from continuing operations.
Items need to fall in at least one of the following categories to be unusual.

Characteristics of the underlying
Category event or transaction

e High degree of abnormality; and
Unusual in nature e Clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to,
the ordinary activities of the entity.

Infrequent in ¢ Not reasonably expected to recur in the foreseeable
occurrence future.

Read more: Chapter 4

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income comprises net income and OCI. These elements
together represent the change in the entity’s equity from all sources except from
investments by and distributions to owners.

Comprehensive income

| I

| : Transactions with Change
I Net income + OClI | == owners in their = . gt

| | . in equity
| | capacity as owners

OCl is simply any revenues, expenses, gains and losses that affect an entity’s
equity but are not reported in net income. Only items specifically identified in US
GAAP as OCI items can be reported as OCI — e.g. Subtopic 830-30
characterizes foreign currency translation adjustments as OCI. There is no
conceptual basis for which items are recorded in OCI (instead of net income)
and later reclassified to net income.

An entity presents a statement of comprehensive income only when it has OCI;
otherwise, it presents just an income statement. There are two formats for a
statement of comprehensive income.

Single-statement Two-statement

Separate but consecutive statements

Single continuous statement containing with the income statement first and
both net income and OCI comprehensive income statement
second

Just as with the income statement, Reg S-X Rule 5-03 lists minimum captions
that commercial and industrial registrants are required to present in the
statement of comprehensive income.

An entity is permitted to present each of the components of OCI either:

e net of the related tax effects; or
e before the related tax effects, with one amount shown for the aggregate
income tax expense or benefit related to the total of OCI items.

Regardless of the presentation approach, the tax effect for each component of
OCI must be either presented in the statement of comprehensive income or
disclosed in the notes.

Accumulated other comprehensive income

The total of OCI for the period is transferred to AOCI (a component of equity) at
the reporting date. Amounts transferred to AOCI remain there until an event
occurs that requires them to be reclassified to net income. The following
diagram depicts how the reporting date AOCI balance and the changes to AOCI
during the period are presented in financial statements.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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o]
N Reclassifications .
Beginning + out of AOCI to + Other current- — Ending
AOCI net income period activity = AOCI

Because OCI items accumulate in AOCI and components of AOCI are
reclassified to net income at some point, they affect not only the statement of
comprehensive income, but also the balance sheet, statement of changes in
equity and notes.

Reclassifications of AOCI amounts to net income are presented in the
appropriate captions of the income statement. The effects of significant
reclassification adjustments on individual captions are provided either on the
face of the income statement or in the notes.

Read more: Chapter 5

Notes to financial statements

The notes to financial statements (notes) supplement, explain or amplify the
information presented in the financial statements. Importantly, disclosure is not
an acceptable alternative to the proper application of US GAAP.

Each Codification Topic (with a few exceptions) has disclosure requirements
relating to its accounting subject. In addition, the notes provide information
about:

¢ financial statement captions;

the reporting entity; and

past events and current conditions and circumstances that have not been
recognized but could affect the entity’s future cash flows.

Other considerations involved in preparing the notes include:

Materiality Disclosure of immaterial items is not required.

Disclosures from the prior year are repeated to the

AL extent they continue to be of significance.

Reg S-X requires additional disclosures from registrants. Further, throughout the
Cadification, entities meeting the definition of a ‘public entity’ or ‘public business
entity’ are required to make additional disclosures beyond those required for
nonpublic entities.

Topic 235 requires disclosure of all significant accounting policies. An
accounting policy is ‘significant’ if it has a material impact, either quantitatively or
qualitatively, on the financial statements presented. Typically, the first note in
the financial statements is the accounting policies note. The term ‘accounting
policy’ broadly includes accounting principles, methods and techniques.

Read more: Chapter 6

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Risks and uncertainties

Topic 275 requires entities to disclose risks and uncertainties that could
significantly affect the amounts reported in the financial statements in the near
term or the near-term functioning of the reporting entity. The Topic requires
disclosures of such risks and uncertainties in four risk areas, but an entity may
disclose risks and uncertainties from other sources.

Risk area General disclosure requirements

Describe major products or services and principal
markets, including their location.

Nature of operations

Explain that preparation of financial statements in
Estimates in general conformity with US GAAP requires use of
management’s estimates.

When it is reasonably possible that an estimate
will change materially in the near term, disclose
this fact and indicate the nature of the
uncertainty.

Certain significant estimates

Disclose concentrations in certain areas when:

e the concentration makes the entity
Current vulnerabilities due to vulnerable to the risk of near-term severe
concentrations impact; and
e itis at least reasonably possible that events
could occur to cause such severe impact.

Topic 275 disclosures may be aggregated in one note or disclosed together with
disclosures required by other Topics.

Read more: Chapter 7

Related parties

Transactions between related parties are typically accounted for in accordance
with their terms, in the same manner as transactions between unrelated parties.
However, related-party transactions can trigger certain qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements under Topic 850 because they are
presumed to not be at arm’s length.

The following table includes examples of related entities or individuals.
Principal owners Affiliates

Trusts for the benefit

Management
of employees

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Investments under
significant influence

Immediate family members
of principal owners and management

Required disclosures

Related-party transactions can trigger the Topic 850 disclosure requirements
summarized in the table below. However, these requirements are not triggered
when a related-party transaction:

e is immaterial;

e occurred in the ordinary course of business; or

e is eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated or combined financial
statements.

Qualitative information Quantitative information

Nature of the relationship Dollar amount of the transaction
(for each income statement

e  Description of the transactions
presented)

e Change in terms from the prior

period presented e Amounts due from or to related

parties (for each balance sheet

e Terms and manner of settlement presented)

Read more: Chapter 8

Subsequent events

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the reporting date
(i.e. balance sheet date) but before the financial statements are issued (SEC
filers) or are available to be issued (non-SEC filers).

There are two broad categories of subsequent events.

Recognized events (Type 1) Nonrecognized events (Type 2)

Events or transactions that provide
additional evidence about
conditions that existed at the
reporting date

Require adjustment to the financial
statements to reflect the impact of
events or transactions, and
possible specific disclosures

Events that provide evidence about
conditions that did not exist at the
reporting date but arose
subsequent to that date

May require disclosure in the notes
but the financial statements are not
adjusted

Recognized subsequent events

Subsequent events are recognized when they provide additional evidence
relevant to:

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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e an accounting judgment, such as confirmation that a liability has been
incurred or an asset has been impaired at the reporting date; or
e the measurement of an estimate at the reporting date.

Nonrecognized subsequent events

Generally, a nonrecognized subsequent event is disclosed if the event is
expected to have a material effect on the financial statements when recognized,
or if not disclosing it would otherwise be misleading.

Quantitative disclosure of the estimated financial effect of a nonrecognized
subsequent event is required, if such an estimate can be made. This estimate is
based on facts available at the date the financial statements are issued
(available to be issued).

Read more: Chapter 9

Interim reporting**

Interim financial statements are for periods shorter than a fiscal year. SEC
registrants generally must file them on a quarterly basis. Nonpublic companies
are not required by US GAAP to prepare interim financial statements; however,
they may prepare them voluntarily or due to contractual requirements.

Topic 270 applies to all entities that prepare interim financial statements
(whether public or nonpublic). However, Topic 270 exempts entities that are not
‘publicly traded entities’ (a defined term) from some of its provisions.

Types of interim financial statements

Interim financial statements generally comprise a full set of financial statements.
However, entities can choose the level of detail to provide in those statements.
The three types to choose from are as follows.

Complete financial These statements (including their notes) are
statements presented in the same way as annual statements.

These statements are presented in the same way as

Limited notes financial .
annual statements, except the required notes are

statements L .

limited in scope.
Condensed financial These statements are condensed and have limited
statements notes.

The presentation and disclosure guidance in Topic 270 applies to the latter two
types. Regardless of the type of interim financial statements, entities issuing
interim financial statements follow the interim accounting principles and
practices in Topic 270.

Interim accounting principles and practices

The fundamental characteristic of interim financial statements is that each
interim period is an integral part of the related annual period. Therefore, interim

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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financial statements are generally based on the accounting principles and
practices used in an entity’s latest annual financial statements until the entity
changes an accounting principle and complies with the requirements in Topic
250 (accounting changes and error corrections). However, certain accounting
principles and practices often are modified so that interim period results better
relate to the annual period.

SEC requirements

SEC regulations contain additional requirements for registrants in relation to the
frequency and content of their interim financial statements. The Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 requires most registrants to file a quarterly report with the
SEC, which includes interim financial statements. The quarterly report is filed on
a Form 10-Q, the format and contents of which are defined by the SEC’s rules
and regulations.

Read more: Chapter 10

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Financial statements: general principles

Detailed contents

New item added in this edition: **
Item significantly updated in this edition: #

21
2.2

23

24

How the standard works
Overview
Questions

2.2.10 How does Subtopic 205-10 interact with SEC regulations
and other guidance?

2.2.20 Are the SEC regulations and other guidance relevant to
nonpublic entities?

Composition of a full set of financial statements
Questions
2.3.10 What is a full set of financial statements? #

2.3.20 Can a financial statement be omitted from a full set of
financial statements?

2.3.30 How are financial statements labeled?

2.3.40 In what order are financial statements presented?

Form of financial statements

2.4.10 Basis of preparation and presentation

2.4.20 Presentation of amounts

2.4.30 Financial statement captions

2.4.40 Unaudited information

Questions

2.4.10 What are the bases of preparation available in US GAAP?

2.4.20 Can non-GAAP financial measures be included in the
financial statements? #

2.4.25 In what currency are financial statements presented?
2.4.27 Does US GAAP permit inflation-adjusted financial
statements?

2.4.30 How is the currency convention stated?
2.4.40 How are negative amounts presented?
2.4.50 How is materiality assessed in the financial statements?

2.4.60 Are required captions always presented on financial
statements?

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
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25

2.6

2.7

2470
2.4.80
2.4.90

Financial statement presentation
2. Financial statements: general principles

Can captions be aggregated on financial statements?
Can captions be disaggregated on financial statements?

Can unaudited information be included in audited financial
statements?

Reporting date and reporting period

Questions

2.5.10
2.5.20

Examples

2.5.10
2.5.20

How long is an annual reporting period? #

Can an entity change its annual reporting date? #

Nonpublic entity with a change in reporting date **

Registrant with a change in reporting date **

Comparative financial information

Questions

2.6.10
2.6.20
2.6.30

Is comparative information for prior periods required? #
How is a change affecting comparability presented?

How is data chronologically ordered?

Supplemental schedules for registrants

Question

2.7.10

Must the supplemental schedules be audited?

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Financial statement presentation

2. Financial statements: general principles

How the standard works

This Handbook explains the individual financial statements that collectively
represent a full set of financial statements.

Statement of financial position
(balance sheet)

See chapter 3

Income statement (usually part of the
statement of comprehensive income)

See chapter 4

Statement of comprehensive income

See chapter 5

Statement of cash flows

See KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash
flows

Statement of shareholders’ equity

See KPMG Handbook, Debt and equity
financing

A full set of financial statements with accompanying notes and required
supplemental information are needed to achieve the objective of general

purpose financial reporting.

This chapter explains basic principles that apply across financial statements.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
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Overview

I_TE Excerpt from ASC 205-10

> Entities

15-2 The guidance in the Presentation of Financial Statements Topic applies to
business entities and not-for-profit entities (NFPs).

For all entities, Subtopic 205-10 provides a basis for the composition of a full set
of financial statements, including the statements to be provided and
comparative financial statements and disclosures. [205-10-15-2, 45-3 — 45-4]

Question 2.2.10

How does Subtopic 205-10 interact with SEC
regulations and other guidance?

Interpretive response: For registrants, Reg S-X provides detailed requirements
in addition to those of Subtopic 205-10. For example, it prescribes specific
statements and schedules for certain industries, such as registered investment
companies. The SEC supplemental schedule requirements for commercial and
industrial registrants are discussed in section 2.7. [S-X Art 3, S-X Rules 5-01 — 5-04]

Reg S-X also clarifies exceptions, such as when statements or items in
statements can be omitted. [S-X Art 3, S-X Rules 4-01 — 4-04]

Question 2.2.20

Are the SEC regulations and other guidance relevant to
nonpublic entities?

Interpretive response: Yes. The detailed requirements in SEC regulations and
other guidance are conceptually consistent with Subtopic 205-10. Therefore,
these SEC sources may be relevant to nonpublic entities in two ways.

e They clarify the requirements in the Codification, in the absence of specific
guidance in the Codification, in which case we believe they should be
applied by all entities.

e They go beyond the requirements in the Codification, in which case they are
not required for nonpublic entities but may constitute common or best
practice.
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Composition of a full set of financial statements

> Comparative Financial Statements

45-1 The presentation of comparative financial statements in annual and other
reports enhances the usefulness of such reports and brings out more clearly
the nature and trends of current changes affecting the entity. Such presentation
emphasizes the fact that statements for a series of periods are far more
significant than those for a single period and that the accounts for one period
are but an installment of what is essentially a continuous history.

45-1A A full set of financial statements for a period shall show all of the
following:

a. Financial position at the end of the period

b. Earnings (net income) for the period, (which may be presented as a
separate statement or within a continuous statement of comprehensive
income [see paragraph 220-10-45-1A])

c. Comprehensive income (total nonowner changes in equity) for the period in
one statement or two separate but consecutive statements (if the reporting
entity is required to report comprehensive income, see paragraph 220-10-
15-3)

d. Cash flows during the period

e. Investments by and distributions to owners during the period.

45-2 In any one year it is ordinarily desirable that the statement of financial
position, the income statement, and the statement of changes in equity be
presented for one or more preceding years, as well as for the current year.

45-3 Prior-year figures shown for comparative purposes shall in fact be
comparable with those shown for the most recent period. Any exceptions to
comparability shall be clearly brought out as described in Topic 250.

45-4 Notes to financial statements, explanations, and accountants' reports
containing qualifications that appeared on the statements for the preceding
years shall be repeated, or at least referred to, in the comparative statements to
the extent that they continue to be of significance. (See paragraph 205-10-50-
2)

> Changes Affecting Comparability

50-1 If, because of reclassifications or for other reasons, changes have
occurred in the manner of or basis for presenting corresponding items for two
or more periods, information shall be furnished that will explain the change.
This procedure is in conformity with the well recognized principle that any
change in practice that affects comparability of financial statements shall be
disclosed.
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50-2 Notes to financial statements, explanations, and accountants' reports
containing qualifications that appeared on the statements for the preceding
years shall be repeated, or at least referred to, in the comparative statements to
the extent that they continue to be of significance. (See paragraph 205-10-45-
4.)

% Excerpt from Reg S-X Article 3

3-01 Consolidated balance sheets.

(a) There shall be filed, for the registrant and its subsidiaries consolidated,
audited balance sheets as of the end of each of the two most recent fiscal
years...

3-02 Consolidated statements of comprehensive income and cash flows.

(a) There shall be filed, for the registrant and its subsidiaries consolidated and
for its predecessors, audited statements of comprehensive income and
cash flows for each of the three fiscal years preceding the date of the most
recent audited balance sheet being filed or such shorter period as the
registrant (including predecessors) has been in existence...

3-04 Changes in stockholders' equity and noncontrolling interests.

An analysis of the changes in each caption of stockholders' equity and
noncontrolling interests presented in the balance sheets shall be given in a note
or separate statement...

I_:E Excerpt from Reg S-X Article 4

4-01 Form, order, and terminology.

(a) Financial statements should be filed in such form and order, and should
use such generally accepted terminology, as will best indicate their
significance and character in the light of the provisions applicable thereto.
The information required with respect to any statement shall be furnished
as a minimum requirement to which shall be added such further material
information as is necessary to make the required statements, in the light of
the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

(1) Financial statements filed with the Commission which are not prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles will be
presumed to be misleading or inaccurate, despite footnote or other
disclosures, unless the Commission has otherwise provided. This
article and other articles of Regulation S-X provide clarification of
certain disclosures which must be included in any event, in financial
statements filed with the Commission...
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4-03 Inapplicable captions and omission of unrequired or inapplicable
financial statements.

(a) No caption should be shown in any financial statement as to which the
items and conditions are not present.

(b) Financial statements not required or inapplicable because the required
matter is not present need not be filed.

(c) The reasons for the omission of any required financial statements shall be
indicated.

US GAAP is a general purpose financial reporting framework. The objective of
general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial information about the
reporting entity that is useful to investors, lenders and other stakeholders as
they make decisions about providing resources to the entity. [CON 8.0B2]

This section addresses how the financial statements help achieve the objective
of general purpose financial reporting.

Question 2.3.10#

What is a full set of financial statements?

Interpretive response: Subtopic 205-10 specifies that a full set of financial
statements for a period includes all of the following: [205-10-45-1A, 505-10-50-2]

e statement of financial position at the end of the period (e.g. balance sheet) —
see chapter 3;

e earnings for the period (e.g. income statement) — see chapter 4;
e comprehensive income for the period — see chapter 5;

e cash flows for the period — see KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows;
and

¢ investments by and distributions to owners for the period (e.g. statement of
shareholders’ equity), which may be presented as a financial statement or in
a note to the financial statements — see section 5.12.30 of KPMG
Handbook, Debt and equity financing.

In addition to a full set of financial statements, notes (see chapter 6) and
required supplemental information (see section 2.7) that provide relevant
disclosures are needed to achieve the objective of general purpose financial
reporting. [CON 8.PR20]

For limited liability companies, the Codification requires a statement of
operations to be included in a complete set of financial statements but does not
specify whether a statement of comprehensive income is required. We believe
to comply with U.S. GAAP, limited liability companies should present a
statement of comprehensive income if it is otherwise required by Subtopic 205-
10. As provided by Subtopic 205-10, we believe limited liability companies need
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not present a separate statement of operations if earnings for the period are
presented within a single continuous statement of comprehensive income (see
section 5.3.10). [272-10-45-1, 205-10-45-1A]

Question 2.3.20

Can a financial statement be omitted from a full set of
financial statements?

Interpretive response: It depends. If a registrant did not enter into transactions
related to the required matter, the SEC allows the registrant to omit the related
financial statement from a full set of financial statements. The reason for the
omission is disclosed. [S-X Rule 4-03(b), (c)]

We believe that similar omission is acceptable for nonpublic entities provided
the reason for the omission is disclosed.

Question 2.3.30

How are financial statements labeled?

Interpretive response: Financial statements are labeled using generally
accepted terminology that best indicates their character. [S-X Rule 4-01(a)]

Subtopic 205-10 reference ‘ Other commonly used terms

Statement of financial position e Balance sheet

Earnings (net income) e Income statement

e  Statement of net income (loss)
e Statement of activities

e Statement of operations

Comprehensive income e  Statement of comprehensive income
(loss)

Cash flows e Statement of cash flows

Investments by and distributions to e  Statement of changes in equity

owners e  Statement of shareholders’ equity

e Statement of stockholders’ equity and
noncontrolling interests
e Statement of changes in net assets
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Question 2.3.40

In what order are financial statements presented?

Interpretive response: Financial statements are presented in the order that
best indicates their significance. For example, for an asset-focused business,
the balance sheet may be presented first; in contrast, for a service industry
business, the income statement may be presented first. [S-X Rule 4-01(a)]

Form of financial statements

Basis of preparation and presentation

4-01 Form, order, and terminology.

(b) All money amounts required to be shown in financial statements may be
expressed in whole dollars or multiples thereof, as appropriate: Provided,
That, when stated in other than whole dollars, an indication to that effect is
inserted immediately beneath the caption of the statement or schedule, at
the top of the money columns, or at an appropriate point in narrative
material.

(c) Negative amounts (red figures) shall be shown in a manner which clearly
distinguishes the negative attribute. When determining methods of display,
consideration should be given to the limitations of reproduction and
microfilming processes.

4-02 Iltems not material.

If the amount which would otherwise be required to be shown with respect to
any item is not material, it need not be separately set forth. The combination of
insignificant amounts is permitted.

Financial statements are generally prepared on the basis that the entity will
continue to operate (i.e. a ‘going concern’ basis). In our experience, some
entities disclose their basis of preparation as ‘on a going concern basis’ or basis
of presentation ‘in accordance with US GAAP’ either in a basis of presentation
or significant accounting policies note.
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Question 2.4.10

What are the bases of preparation available in US
GAAP?

Interpretive response: Most US GAAP financial statements are prepared on a
going concern basis. This basis applies as long as liquidation is not imminent,
even if there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern or if the entity is entering into or emerging from bankruptcy
proceedings. However, in those situations, specific accounting and disclosure
requirements apply. See KPMG Handbooks, Going concern and Accounting for
bankruptcies. [205-40, 852-10]

When liquidation is imminent, financial statements are prepared under the
liquidation basis of accounting. [205-30]

Question 2.4.20#

Can non-GAAP financial measures be included in the
financial statements?

Background: A non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of an
entity’s historical or future financial performance, financial position or cash flows
that is not determined under US GAAP. Management generally decides which
non-GAAP financial measures are used and how they are calculated.

Interpretive response: No. For registrants, SEC regulations expressly prohibit
the use of non-GAAP measures in the financial statements. A registrant can
only present non-GAAP financial measures outside of the financial statements
(subject to compliance with SEC Regulation G). [S-K Item 10(e)(5)]

As a limited exception to this general rule, the SEC staff has stated that they will
not object to the voluntary disclosure of certain non-GAAP measures of
segment profit or loss in the notes to financial statements, as permitted by Topic
280 (segment reporting). The conditions attached to this exception are further
explained in Question 6.4.30 of KPMG Handbook, Segment reporting.

Further, the SEC staff has clarified that measures required or expressly
permitted to be disclosed by US GAAP are not non-GAAP measures, even if
they are not determined using US GAAP recognition and measurement
requirements — e.g. the segment measure of profit or loss closest to GAAP
required under Topic 280 is not a non-GAAP measure, as explained in Question
6.4.20 of KPMG Handbook, Segment reporting.

In our experience, non-GAAP financial measures are often reported by
registrants in conjunction with GAAP measures in MD&A, earnings releases and
other communications. Non-GAAP financial measures reported by registrants
are subject to certain SEC rules and oversight. The SEC staff frequently
comments on the presentation of non-GAAP performance measures that
substitute an individually tailored measurement method by adjusting a GAAP-
based measure.
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For nonpublic entities, the Codification does not address non-GAAP measures.
We believe that nonpublic entity financial statements should not include non-
GAAP financial measures unless the measures are provided in accordance with
an appropriate financial reporting framework (e.g. IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the IASB) and subject to audit procedures (see Question 4.3.100
and Question 6.4.10).

See KPMG Issues In-Depth, Non-GAAP financial measures.

Presentation of amounts

Monetary amounts must be presented consistently in the financial statements
and disclosures.

Question 2.4.25

In what currency are financial statements presented?

Background: An entity measures its assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses in its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates. All transactions in currencies other
than the functional currency are foreign currency transactions. See KPMG
Handbook, Foreign currency, for discussion of functional currency, foreign
currency transactions, translation of foreign currency financial statements and
changes in reporting currency. [830-10 Glossary, 45-2]

Interpretive response: In our experience, except in situations further described
below, an entity generally presents its financial statements in its functional
currency — i.e. the reporting currency is generally the functional currency. The
currency in which amounts in the financial statements are presented is to be
disclosed prominently on the face of the financial statements. [S-X Rule 3-20(b)(1)]

US domestic registrants and foreign issuers who are not FPIs

US domestic registrants and foreign issuers that do not meet the definition of
foreign private issuers (FPIs) are required to present their financial statements
in USD. [S-X Rule 3-20(a)(2)]

In limited instances, the SEC staff has not objected to the use of a different

reporting currency. Those instances have been limited to situations where: [SEC
FRM 6640]

e the entity had little or no assets or operations in the US;

e substantially all the operations were conducted in a single functional
currency other than USD; and

e the reporting currency selected was the same as the functional currency.

In these instances, reporting in the currency other than USD would produce little
or no foreign currency translation effects under Topic 830 (foreign currency).
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Nonpublic entities and FPIs

The Codification does not address the determination of reporting currency.
Therefore, we believe a nonpublic entity can make that election. FPIs may also

use any reporting currency that management believes is appropriate. [S-X Rule 3-
20(a)(M)]

Question 2.4.27

Does US GAAP permit inflation-adjusted financial
statements?

Interpretive response: It depends whether the entity uses USD as its reporting
currency.

USD is the reporting currency

If the entity uses USD as its reporting currency, it cannot use inflation-adjusted
financial statements as primary financial statements. However, disclosing
information about the effects of changing prices is encouraged under Topic 255
for business entities. [255-10-15-2 — 15-3]

For the purposes of this disclosure, Topic 255 provides guidance on applying
current cost-constant purchasing power accounting, a method of accounting that
restates historical cost into current cost in units of constant purchasing power.
See KPMG Handbook, Foreign currency, for additional guidance on whether

certain assets or liabilities are monetary or nonmonetary items. [255-10 Glossary,
255-10-50-19 — 50-55]

The following table summarizes the optional, supplementary Topic 255
disclosures for changing prices.

Applicability ‘ Optional disclosures

General Disclose a five-year summary of selected financial data on
a current cost basis. The information is stated as either in
average-for-the-year or end-of-year units of constant
purchasing power or in dollars based on the Consumer
Price Index (CPI) for All Urban Consumers. [255-10-50-3 —
50-10]

The CPI for All Urban Consumers is published in the
Consumer Price Index Detailed Report and available on
the Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
website at http://www.bls.gov/cpi.

Significant differences If income from continuing operations on a current cost-
for income from constant purchasing power basis would differ significantly
continuing operations from that in the primary financial statements, disclose

certain components of income from continuing operations
for the current year on a current cost basis while applying
the same constant purchasing power option used for the
five-year summary. [255-10-50-11 — 50-15]

Disclose certain additional information regarding current

cost or lower recoverable amount at the end of the period
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Applicability ‘ Optional disclosures

of inventory and property, plant and equipment. [255-10-
5016]
Entities with mineral Disclose additional information regarding mineral reserves
reserves other than oil and mineral products for each of the five most recent fiscal
and gas years. [255-10-50-17 — 50-18]

USD is not the reporting currency

Price-level adjusted financial statements for certain entities in highly inflationary
economies are permitted using historical cost-constant purchasing power
accounting. [255-10-45-2 — 45-4]

However, in our experience, price-level adjusted financial statements are
presented infrequently in practice.

See paragraph 7.053 of KPMG Handbook, Accounting for income taxes, for
additional guidance related to the recognition and measurement of income taxes
in general price-level financial statements of non-US entities.

Question 2.4.30

How is the currency convention stated?

Interpretive response: Registrants may show all monetary amounts in whole
dollars or multiples thereof — i.e. amounts are rounded to the nearest dollar or
multiples thereof. When using multiples, such as ‘000s, the financial statements
must state that multiples are being used, either immediately beneath the
statement caption, at the top of monetary columns or at a prominent point in the
disclosure. [S-X Rule 4-01(b)]

Although not required, these currency conventions are also common practice for
nonpublic entities.

Question 2.4.40

How are negative amounts presented?

Interpretive response: Negative amounts must be shown in a way that clearly
distinguishes the negative attribute. In our experience, many entities use
parentheses to identify negative numbers. [S-X Rule 4-01(c)]
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Financial statement captions

FE Excerpt from ASC 105-10

05-6 The provisions of the Codification need not be applied to immaterial items.

I_Tg Excerpt from Reg S-X Article 4

4-02 Iltems not material.

If the amount which would otherwise be required to be shown with respect to
any item is not material, it need not be separately set forth. The combination of
insignificant amounts is permitted.

The Codification does not specify minimum captions to be presented in the
financial statements, but SEC regulations do for registrants; see section 3.2.10
for the balance sheet, and section 4.3.10 for the income statement.

Immaterial items do not require separate presentation or disclosure. Entities
may combine insignificant amounts into a single caption. [105-10-05-6, S-X Rule 4-02]

Question 2.4.50

How is materiality assessed in the financial statements?

Interpretive response: The concept of materiality is not discussed in the
Cadification, but some guidance is included in FASB Concepts Statement No. 8
(CON 8). Although CON 8 is not authoritative for entities in preparing their
financial statements, it provides a framework that is consistent with the
precedent on ‘materiality’ established by the Supreme Court, and with the SEC
staff’s interpretive guidance that is derived from the Supreme Court precedent.

As reported in SAB Topic 1.M.1 (i.e. SAB 99), “The Supreme Court has held
that a fact is material if there is ‘a substantial likelihood that the...fact would have
been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the ‘total
mix’ of information made available’.”

Materiality is entity-specific, and the same concept applies to both recording
information in the entity’s books and records and disclosing information in the
financial statements. Materiality assessments are typically complex and take
into account both qualitative and quantitative factors. [SAB Topic 1.M.1, CON 8.QC11-
QC11B]

For further discussion of materiality in the financial statements, see section 2.3
of KPMG Handbook, Accounting changes and error corrections.
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Question 2.4.60

Are required captions always presented on financial
statements?

Interpretive response: No. For registrants, SEC regulations require certain
minimum captions to be presented on the financial statements; see section
3.2.10 for the balance sheet, and section 4.3.10 for the income statement.
However, a required caption does not need to be presented if it is:

¢ not applicable because the conditions are not present; or
e immaterial (see Question 2.4.50).

For example, SEC regulations require a separate balance sheet caption for
marketable securities. However, if a registrant has no marketable securities for

the periods presented, the caption does not need to be presented. [S-X Rule 4-
03(a)]

Question 2.4.70

Can captions be aggregated on financial statements?

Interpretive response: It depends. We believe amounts of the same nature or
function may be aggregated in a single caption with an appropriately descriptive
label, subject to the minimum caption requirements for registrants (see Question
2.4.60).

For example, it may be appropriate to aggregate prepaid insurance and
operating supplies (current assets of a prepaid nature). However, it would not be
appropriate to aggregate prepaid insurance (a current asset) with cash
surrender value of life insurance policies (a noncurrent asset that is not prepaid
in nature). [210-10-45-4(d)]

Question 2.4.80

Can captions be disaggregated on financial statements?

Interpretive response: Yes. We believe captions can be disaggregated if the
disaggregation is not misleading and does not obscure the financial information.
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Unaudited information

Question 2.4.90

Can unaudited information be included in audited
financial statements?

Interpretive response: Yes. However, each page or section of unaudited
financial statements and/or unaudited supplementary information is captioned,

'Unaudited—see accompanying accountants' report'. [AU-C 700.62, AS 3320.05, AS
2705.11]

Reporting date and reporting period

Financial statements are presented for the reporting period ending on the
balance sheet date (reporting date). [205-10-45-1A]

A reporting period might represent an annual or interim period. Understanding
the nature and the length of the reporting period is fundamental to
understanding the financial information presented and the applicable
requirements. This Handbook discusses annual financial statements, except for
chapter 10, which discusses interim reporting.

Question 2.5.10#

How long is an annual reporting period?

Interpretive response: In our experience, an annual reporting period is
generally 12 months, and the annual reporting date is the fiscal year-end. In
certain industries, such as restaurants and retail, entities often use week-based
periods with 52-week annual reporting periods (and 53-week periods every
fourth year).

Nonpublic entities

While the Codification does not address the length of an annual reporting
period, reporting periods are referred to throughout the Codification as ‘periods’
or fiscal years'. In addition, the Codification discusses the concept of an
operating cycle in the context of a classified balance sheet (see section 3.3.20).
The concept of operating cycle is also often used to support the length of the
annual reporting period (i.e. an annual reporting period of 12 months).

However, we believe that in limited circumstances it may be acceptable for a
nonpublic entity reporting period to exceed 12 months, such as newly
established entities with no significant operations in the initial stub period. If the
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reporting period is greater than 12 months, the title of the financial statements
should clearly describe the period covered. [TQA 9160.07]

Registrants

SEC regulations also refer to fiscal years’, which they define as annual
accounting periods (i.e. 12 months) or, if no closing date has been adopted, the
calendar year ending on December 31. SEC regulations also provide certain
exceptions to accommodate for annual reporting periods shorter than 12 months
— e.g. if the registrant has been in existence for less than one fiscal year or had
a change in fiscal year. [S-X Rule 1-02(k), S-X Rule 3-06]

SEC guidance further states that audited reporting periods cannot exceed 12
months for domestic issuers. [FRM 1365.3]

However, in a 2005 No-Action Letter, the SEC stated that a newly registered
broker-dealer may file inception-to-date financial statements for a reporting
period up to 15 months when certain conditions are met. In such cases, the
period of the first fiscal year is incorporated into the second fiscal year, and a
single balance sheet is presented.

Question 2.5.20#

Can an entity change its annual reporting date?

Interpretive response: Yes. We believe an entity can change its fiscal year-
end, thereby changing its annual reporting date, under any circumstances. A
change from a fiscal year ending on the last day of the month to a 52-week
annual reporting period is not a change in reporting date if the new fiscal year
begins at the end of the old fiscal year. [FRM 1365.7]

There are current period presentation, disclosure and comparative information
considerations when changing the annual reporting date.

Nonpublic entities

While the Codification does not require specific presentation or disclosure
related to the change, disclosure of the change is generally necessary to make
the financial statements meaningful to users. Nonpublic entities may elect to use
one of the transition period approaches used by registrants discussed below. In
addition, they may elect to not present comparative financial statements (see
Question 2.6.10). [TQA 1800.03]

Registrants

When electing to change its fiscal year-end, a registrant files a transition report
covering the transition period. The transition period is the period between the

end of the registrant’s most recent fiscal year and the opening date of its newly
selected fiscal year. Therefore, the transition period is less than 12 months. For
registrants, the timing, audit requirements and form of the reports varies based

on the length of the transition period and timing of the election. [FRM 1360.1 —
1360.2, 1365.1 — 1365.6]
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A registrant is permitted, but not required, to recast its prior period financial
statements in subsequent annual reports. In our experience, entities changing
their reporting date apply either a: [FRM 1360.1 — 1360.2, FRM 1365.6]

e recast approach, where financial statements are retrospectively adjusted to
reflect the newly selected fiscal year (i.e. 12 months); or

e stub period approach, where financial statements are not retrospectively
adjusted and prepared for the transition period only (i.e. less than 12
months).

In our experience, under the stub period approach, the presentation of
comparative financial information in subsequent annual reports varies. For
example, some entities present stub periods with comparable stub periods
either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes, while others
present the previously issued 12-month period.

Example 2.5.10**

Nonpublic entity with a change in reporting date

ABC Corp is a nonpublic entity with a fiscal year-end of October 31. ABC elects
to change its annual reporting date to December 31, effective as of December
31, 20X3.

The transition (or ‘stub’) period is the two-month period ending December 31,
20X3, representing the period between the closing of the most recent fiscal year
(October 31, 20X3) and the opening date of the newly selected fiscal year.

While there may be other acceptable approaches, ABC could provide financial
statements as follows.

Financial statements for period ended December 31, 20X3

Approach ‘ Current | Comparative

Stub period

2 months

November 1, 20X3 to
December 31, 20X3

2 months

November 1, 20X2 to
December 31, 20X2

Stub period alternative 1

2 months

November 1, 20X3 to
December 31, 20X3

12 months

November 1, 20X2 to
October 31, 20X3

January 1, 20X3 to
December 31, 20X3

Stub period alternative 2 | 2 months None
November 1, 20X3 to
December 31, 20X3

Recast 12 months 12 months

January 1, 20X2 to
December 31, 20X2
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Approach

Comparative

12 months None

January 1, 20X3 to
December 31, 20X3

Recast alternative

Example 2.5.20**

Registrant with a change in reporting date

ABC Corp is an SEC registrant with a fiscal year-end of October 31. ABC elects
to change its annual reporting date to December 31, effective as of December
31, 20X3.

The transition (or ‘stub’) period is the two-month period ending December 31,
20X3, representing the period between the closing of the most recent fiscal year
(October 31, 20X3) and the opening date of the newly selected fiscal year.

Assuming that ABC has already provided financial statements for the annual
period ended October 31, 20X3, it could provide financial statements as follows.

Transition report - Financial statements for period ended December 31,
20X3

Comparative

2 months
November 1 to December 31, 20X2

2 months
November 1 to December 31, 20X3

Financial statements for period ended December 31, 20X4

Approach | Current Stub period Comparative 1 Comparative 2

Stub 12 months 2 months 12 months 12 months

period January 1to | November 1to | November 1, November 1,
December 31, | December 31, | 20X2 to October | 20X1 to October
20X4 20X3 31, 20X3 31, 20X2

Recast 12 months N/A 12 months 12 months
January 1 to January 1 to January 1 to
December 31, December 31, December 31,
20X4 20X3 20X2

As discussed in Question 2.5.20, the presentation of comparative financial
information in subsequent financial statements could vary as long as ABC
complies with the minimum financial statement requirements of Regulation S-X.
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Comparative financial information

Providing financial information for comparative periods enhances the usefulness
of the financial statements. Entities generally include at least one comparative
period in addition to the current period.

Question 2.6.10#

Is comparative information for prior periods required?

Interpretive response: It depends.

Registrants are generally required to provide two balance sheets and three
years of statements of changes (e.g. income, cash flows and shareholders’
equity). However, certain exceptions exist. For example, smaller reporting
companies may provide only two years of statements of comprehensive income
and cash flows. [S-X Rule 3-01, S-X Rule 8-02, FRM Topic 10]

For nonpublic entities, providing comparative financial information is desirable
because it gives financial statement users important context about the nature
and trends of an entity’s financial performance. In our experience, nonpublic
entities present two balance sheets and two to three years of statements of
changes. Single-period financial statements, although not desirable, are still in
accordance with US GAAP. [205-10-45-1 — 45-2, 250-10-50-9]

Limited liability companies that are SEC registrants should present comparative
financial statements consistent with the requirements of Reg S-X. Similar to
other nonpublic entities, limited liability companies not subject to SEC
regulations are encouraged, but not required, to present comparative financial
statements. [S-X Rule 3-01, 272-10-45-6]

For all entities, disclosures from previous years are repeated to the extent they
continue to be of significance. [205-10-50-2]

Question 2.6.20

How is a change affecting comparability presented?

Interpretive response: When provided, comparative information must in fact be
comparable. For example, comparative information is for the same length of
time immediately preceding the most recent reporting period (e.g. prior 12

months), unless there is a change in reporting date (see Question 2.5.20). [205-
10-45-3]

Changes affecting comparability include the following. [205-10-45-3, 205-10-50-1]

e Error corrections and accounting changes (i.e. change in accounting
principle, estimate or reporting entity). Topic 250 explains which accounting
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approach applies — i.e. whether the error or change is recorded
retrospectively or prospectively.

e Changes in classification and presentation that do not rise to the level of a
change in accounting principle. Topic 250 does not provide specific
guidance on these changes. However, consistent with the general
requirements of Subtopic 205-10, we believe an entity should nonetheless
recast prior-period information to conform to the presentation in the current
period.

See KPMG Handbook, Accounting changes and error corrections.

Question 2.6.30

How is data chronologically ordered?

Interpretive response: Data can be presented current first or oldest first.
Although the SEC staff has no preference, it believes financial statements and
tabular disclosures should read consistently from left to right in the same
chronological order throughout the financial statements (or filing). We believe
that financial statements of nonpublic entities should also read consistently to
prevent the financial statements from being misleading. [SAB Topic 11.E]

For example, if the comparative balance sheets for December 31, 20X4
presents 20X4 amounts to the left of the comparative 20X3 amounts, then the
income statement must do the same. In addition, numerical data in narrative
disclosures should be consistently ordered. [SAB Topic 11.E]

Supplemental schedules for registrants

5-04 What schedules are to be filed.
(a) Except as expressly provided otherwise in the applicable form:

(1) The schedules specified below in this Section as Schedules Il and il
shall be filed as of the date of the most recent audited [balance] sheet
for each person or group.

(2) Schedule Il of this section shall be filed for each period for which an
audited statement of comprehensive income is required to be filed for
each person or group.

(38) Schedules | and IV shall be filed as of the date and for periods specified
in the schedule.
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(b) When information is required in schedules for both the registrant and the
registrant and its subsidiaries consolidated it may be presented in the form
of a single schedule: Provided, That items pertaining to the registrant are
separately shown and that such single schedule affords a properly
summarized presentation of the facts. If the information required by any
schedule (including the notes thereto) may be shown in the related financial
statement or in a note thereto without making such statement unclear or
confusing, that procedure may be followed and the schedule omitted.

(c) The schedules shall be examined by the independent accountant if the
related financial statements are so examined.

Schedule I—Condensed financial information of registrant. The schedule
prescribed by § 210.12—-04 shall be filed when the restricted net assets [(§
210.1-02(dd))] of consolidated subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consolidated
net assets as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year.

Schedule Il—Valuation and qualifying accounts. The schedule prescribed by §
210.12-09 shall be filed in support of valuation and qualifying accounts
included in each balance sheet but not included in Schedule VI. (See § 210.4—
02.)

Schedule Ill—Real estate and accumulated depreciation. The schedule
prescribed by § 210.12-28 shall be filed for real estate (and the related
accumulated depreciation) held by persons a substantial portion of whose
business is that of acquiring and holding for investment real estate or interests
in real estate, or interests in other persons a substantial portion of whose
business is that of acquiring and holding real estate or interests in real estate
for investment. Real estate used in the business shall be excluded from the
schedule.

Schedule IV—Mortgage loans on real estate. The schedule prescribed by §
210.12-29 shall be filed by persons specified under Schedule Xl for
investments in mortgage loans on real estate.

Schedule V—Supplemental Information Concerning Property-casualty
Insurance Operations. The schedule prescribed by § 210.12—18 shall be filed
when a registrant, its subsidiaries or 50%-or-less-owned equity basis investees,
have liabilities for property-casualty ("P/C") insurance claims. The required
information shall be presented as of the same dates and for the same periods
for which the information is reflected in the audited consolidated financial
statements required by §§ 210.3-01 and 3-02. The schedule may be omitted if
reserves for unpaid P/C claims and claims adjustment expenses of the
registrant and its consolidated subsidiaries, its unconsolidated subsidiaries and
its 50%-or-less-owned equity basis investees did not, in the aggregate, exceed
one-half of common stockholders' equity of the registrant and its consolidated
subsidiaries as of the beginning of the fiscal year. For purposes of this test only
the proportionate share of the registrant and its other subsidiaries in the
reserves for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses of 50%-or-less-
owned equity basis investees taken in the aggregate after intercompany
eliminations shall be taken into account.
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Registrants are required to file certain supplemental schedules for their
particular industry, if applicable. For example, commercial and industrial

registrants file the following schedules when the relevant conditions are met: [s-
X Rule 5-04]

e Schedule | — Condensed financial information

e Schedule Il — Valuation and qualifying accounts

e Schedule Il — Real estate and accumulated depreciation

e Schedule IV — Mortgage loans on real estate

e Schedule V — Supplemental information concerning property-casualty
insurance operations.

These schedules may be filed outside of the financial statements. Alternatively,
they can be omitted if the required information is included in either: [S-X Rule 5-04]

e the notes to financial statements; or
e the related statement itself, as long as that statement doesn’t become
unclear or confusing.

Question 2.7.10

Must the supplemental schedules be audited?

Interpretive response: Yes. Even if the schedules are presented outside of the
financial statements, the required supplemental schedules contain financial
information that is considered part of the financial statements. Because these
schedules are part of the financial statements, the SEC requires the schedules
to be audited. [S-X Rule 1-01(b)]
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Balance sheet

Detailed contents

New item added in

this edition: **

Item significantly updated in this edition: #

31 How the standard works
3.2 Overview
3.2.10 Required captions
Questions
3.2.10 Where is the balance sheet industry guidance located in the

3.2.20

3.2.30

3.2.40

3.2.50
3.2.60

3.2.70

3.3 Classified
3.3.10
3.3.20
3.3.30
3.3.40
3.3.50
Questions
3.3.10
3.3.20
3.3.30

3.3.40
3.3.50

3.3.60

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware

Codification?

Where is the balance sheet industry guidance located in
SEC guidance?

Are there minimum balance sheet captions required for
nonpublic entities? #

Are there minimum balance sheet captions required for
registrants?

Can balance sheet captions be disaggregated?

Are there any specific ordering requirements for the balance
sheet?

What are considerations when aggregating individual items
in one caption?

balance sheet

General requirements
Operating cycle
Classification of assets
Classification of liabilities

Valuation allowances

When is a classified balance sheet required?
How is a classified balance sheet presented?

Is a change from a classified to an unclassified balance
sheet or vice versa a change in accounting principle?

How is the operating cycle determined?

Can an entity with different businesses have multiple
operating cycles?

How are common types of assets generally classified? #
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3.3.70 How is equipment held for rental classified?

3.3.80 How are money market funds that have suspended
redemptions classified?

3.3.90 How is classification affected when the asset is pledged?

3.3.100 How is classification affected when the asset will be used for
acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets, or for the
liquidation of long-term debts?

3.3.105 How do currency exchange restrictions affect the
classification of noncash USD monetary assets? **

3.3.110  How are common types of liabilities generally classified?

3.3.120 Is a long-term obligation classified as current if it funds short-
term needs?

3.3.130  Are short-term obligations always classified as current
liabilities?

3.3.140  How do currency exchange restrictions affect the
classification of noncash USD monetary liabilities owed by a
non-US entity? **

Examples

3.3.10 Unclassified balance sheet for a nonpublic venture with a
limited life

3.3.20 Operating cycle determination — construction company
Offsetting

3.4.10 Right of setoff

3.4.20 Application issues

3.4.30 Right of setoff disclosures

Questions

3.4.10 What are the right of setoff criteria?

3.4.20 Can a right of setoff exist with more than two parties?

3.4.30 Can a right of setoff exist between assets and liabilities of
different currency, interest or maturity?

3.4.40 Can a right of setoff exist without both intent and ability to
offset?

3.4.50 When is a right of setoff enforceable at law?

3.4.60 Can the cash surrender value of a life insurance policy be
presented net of policy loans?

3.4.70 Can deferred compensation or other benefit arrangement
liabilities be presented net of an investment in life insurance?

3.4.80 Can a liability be presented net of a related insurance
recovery?
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3.4.90 Can bank overdrafts be presented net of cash balances?

3.4.100 Can tax liabilities be presented net of securities issued by
governments?

Examples
3.4.10 Right of setoff not permitted in three-party arrangements

3.4.20 Right of setoff when assets and liabilities have different

maturities
3.4.30 Insurance recovery — general liability
3.4.40 Insurance recovery — medical expenses
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How the standard works

The balance sheet is one of the statements required in a full set of financial
statements and presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and equity as of the last
day of a reporting period. The balance sheet is also referred to as the statement
of financial position.

Topic 210 contains the general requirements for balance sheet presentation and
disclosures. In particular, it addresses the current versus noncurrent
classification of assets and liabilities in a classified balance sheet and explains
when assets and liabilities may be offset.

Topic 210 by itself is not prescriptive on other aspects of presentation, such as
required captions or disaggregation. It also does not require a classified balance
sheet, although this format is widely used in practice in certain industries.
However, other Codification Topics, including industry-specific topics as well as
Reg S-X for registrants, provide more specific guidance in this area.

This chapter addresses presentation requirements specific to the balance sheet
only. Other general presentation requirements applicable to all financial
statements (e.g. number of comparative periods, comparability and
chronological ordering) are addressed in chapter 2.
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Overview

05-1 The Balance Sheet Topic includes the following two Subtopics:

a. Overall
b. Offsetting

05-2 The balance sheet is commonly referred to as statement of financial
position. For purposes of the Codification, both titles are interchangeable.

05-3 The Offsetting Subtopic provides guidance about offsetting amounts for
certain contracts and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements.

05-4 The Overall Subtopic provides general guidance on the classification of
current assets and current liabilities and discusses the determination of
working capital. The balance sheets of most entities show separate
classifications of current assets and current liabilities (commonly referred to as
classified balance sheets) permitting ready determination of working capital.

Topic 210 provides the general balance sheet presentation requirements. In
particular, it addresses:

e current versus noncurrent classification of assets and liabilities in a
classified balance sheet, and the determination of working capital (see
section 3.3); and

o offsetting of assets and liabilities (see section 3.4).

Topic 210 is silent on other presentation aspects of the balance sheet, such as
required captions, disaggregation and ordering. However, guidance may be
provided in other general or industry Codification Topics.

For registrants, Reg S-X has specific balance sheet presentation guidance and
certain required disclosures by industry. Unless otherwise stated, the SEC
requirements discussed in this Handbook address commercial and industrial
registrants.

Question 3.2.10

Where is the balance sheet industry guidance located in
the Codification?

Interpretive response: The industry guidance in the Codification relevant to
balance sheet presentation is summarized in the following table.

Industry ‘ Subtopic reference

Contractors — federal government 912-210

Financial services — brokers and dealers 940-210
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Industry ‘ Subtopic reference

Financial services — depository and lending 942-210
Financial services — insurance 944-210
Financial services — investment companies 946-210
Health care entities 954-210
NFP entities 958-210

Question 3.2.20

Where is the balance sheet industry guidance located in
SEC guidance?

Interpretive response: Reg S-X Article 5 prescribes the minimum requirements
for registrants that are commercial and industrial registrants. The SEC industry
guidance relevant to balance sheet presentation for other types of entities is
summarized in the following table.

Industry ‘ Reference

Registered investment companies S-X Article 6

Employee stock purchase, savings, and similar plans S-X Article 6A

Insurance companies S-X Article 7
Bank holding companies and banks S-X Article 9
Brokers and dealers when filing Form X-17A-5 Reg § 240.17a-5

In addition, Reg S-X Article 8 prescribes the form and content of financial
statements for smaller reporting companies, as defined by Reg S-K Item 10(f).

Required captions

Question 3.2.30#

Are there minimum balance sheet captions required for
nonpublic entities?

Interpretive response: Yes. Topic 210 does not include a comprehensive list of
captions required to be separately presented on an entity’s balance sheet;
however, other Codification Topics require certain financial statement captions
to be separately presented on the balance sheet. The following are examples.

e Topic 220 (comprehensive income): report AOCI as a separate component
of equity. [220-10-45-14]
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e Topic 320 (debt and equity securities): report investments in available-for-
sale securities and trading securities separately from similar assets that are
subsequently measured using another measurement attribute. [320-10-45-1]

e Subtopic 350-20 (goodwill): report goodwill separately from other assets.
[350-20-45-1]

e Subtopic 350-30 (general intangibles other than goodwill): report aggregate
intangible assets, including crypto intangible assets not in the scope of
Subtopic 350-60* (see Question 6.2.10 in KPMG Issues-in-Depth, Crypto
intangible assets), as a separate line item. [350-30-45-1]

e Subtopic 350-60 (crypto assets): report crypto intangible assets in the scope
of Subtopic 350-60 separately from other intangible assets. [350-60-45-1]

e  Subtopic 360-10 (property, plant and equipment): report long-lived assets
classified as held-for-sale and assets and liabilities of a disposal group

classified as held-for-sale separately from other assets and liabilities. [360-10-
45-14]

In our experience, the balance sheet of nonpublic entities is generally presented
similar to that of registrants. However, there are no quantitative balance sheet
disaggregation thresholds in the Codification (see Question 3.2.50).

*

Subtopic 350-60 (crypto assets) was created by ASU 2023-08, Accounting for
and Disclosure of Crypto Assets. It specifies subsequent measurement,
presentation and disclosure requirements for all digital assets in its scope
(e.g. bitcoin and ether). The amendments made by the ASU are effective for
all entities for annual and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual
financial statements that have not yet been issued (or made available for
issuance).

Question 3.2.40

Are there minimum balance sheet captions required for
registrants?

Interpretive response: In addition to the requirements in the Codification (see
Question 3.2.30), registrants must provide certain balance sheet captions
(known as ‘major captions’ and ‘subcaptions’) or disclose certain information, if
applicable, on the balance sheet or in the notes. The distinction between major
captions and subcaptions is important when the registrant is presenting
condensed interim financial statements (see Question 10.3.70).

The following table lists the general requirements and instructions provided in
Reg S-X for commercial and industrial registrants. See Appendix for the full
excerpt. [S-X Rule 5-02]

See Question 3.2.20 for the location of SEC guidance for other types of entities.
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Assets and other debits (current assets when appropriate)

Major caption

Cash and cash items

‘ Subcaptions

‘ Disclosures related to

Restricted cash and
compensating balances

Marketable securities

Current marketable
securities other than equity
securities

Accounts and notes
receivable

Due from:

e Customers (trade)

¢ Related parties

e Underwriters,
promoters and
employees (other than
related parties) not in
the ordinary course of
business

e Others

If the aggregate amount of
notes receivable > 10% of
the aggregate amount of
all receivables, provide the
above information
separately for accounts
receivable and notes
receivable.’

Certain amounts due
under long-term
contracts."

Allowances for doubtful
accounts and notes
receivable'

Unearned income

Inventories

Major classes (e.g.
finished goods, work in
progress, raw materials,
supplies)’

e  Basis for determining
amounts

e LIFO inventory
method

e Long-term contracts
or programs

Prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Any amount > 5% of total
current assets'

Total current assets
(subtotal)

Securities of related
parties

Indebtedness of related
parties (noncurrent)
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‘ Disclosures related to

Investments other than
noncurrent marketable
equity securities

Property, plant and
equipment

Basis of determining
the amounts

Public utility
companies

Accumulated depreciation,
depletion, and
amortization of property,
plant and equipment’

Intangible assets

Each class > 5% of total
assets

Basis of determining
the amounts

Any significant
addition or disposition

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization of
intangible assets1

Other assets

Any other item not
classified in one of the

preceding asset captions >

5% of total assets’

Any significant
addition or disposition
Policy for deferral and
amortization for any
significant deferred
charge

Total assets (subtotal)

Note:

1. Can be presented on the balance sheet or in the notes.

Liabilities and stockholders' equity — Current liabilities (when appropriate)

Major caption

Accounts and notes
payable

‘ Subcaptions

Amounts payable to:

e Banks for borrowings'

e  Factors or other
financial institutions
for borrowings’

e  Holders of commercial

paper’
e Trade creditors
e Related parties
e Underwriters,
promoters, and

employees (other than

related parties)
e Others

‘ Disclosures related to

Lines of credit
Short-term financings

Other current liabilities

Any item > 5% of total
current liabilities’
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Major caption Subcaptions Disclosures related to

Total current liabilities - --
(subtotal)

Note:
1. Can be presented on the balance sheet or in the notes.

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity — Long-term debt

Major caption ‘ Subcaptions ‘ Disclosures related to
Bonds, mortgages and Each issue or type of General character of each
other long-term debt, obligation’ type of debt including
including capitalized interest rate, maturity,
leases priority, unused

commitments, etc.

Indebtedness to related - -
parties—noncurrent

Other liabilities Any item not classified in --
one of the preceding
liability captions > 5% of
total liabilities'

Commitments and -- -
contingent liabilities

Deferred credits e Deferred income -
taxes

e Deferred tax credits

e Material items of
deferred income

Note:
1. Can be presented on the balance sheet or in the notes.

Liabilities and stockholders' equity — Preferred stocks

Major caption ‘ Subcaptions ‘ Disclosures related to

Preferred stocks For each issue: For each issue:

redeemable subject. to o Title! e Description of

?;a:ﬁztrzreynzgiern\:vﬁ:)osz «  Carrying amount' redemption features

re?jemption is outside the *  Redemption amount' *  Differences between

control of the issuer ¢ Dollar amount of the carrying value and
shares subscribed but the redemption
unissued amount

e Number of shares
authorized, and
number of shares
issued or outstanding?®

Preferred stocks which are | For each issue: Changes in each class of
not redeemable or are o Title! preferred shares
redeemable solely at the

) . e Dollar amount’
option of the issuer
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Major caption
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‘ Subcaptions

Dollar amount of
shares subscribed but
unissued

Number of shares
authorized and shares
issued or outstanding?®

3. Balance sheet

‘ Disclosures related to

Notes:

1. Presented on the balance sheet or, if more than one issue, in the notes.
2. Can be presented on the balance sheet or in the notes.

Liabilities and stockholders' equity — Common stocks

Major caption

Common stocks

‘ Subcaptions

For each class:

Number of shares
issued or outstanding
Dollar amount thereof
The fact that the
shares are convertible
(if applicable)

Title'

Number of shares
authorized’

Basis for conversion
(if applicable)’

Dollar amount of
shares subscribed but
unissued

‘ Disclosures related to

Changes in each class of
common shares

Note:

1. Can be presented on the balance sheet or in the notes.

Liabilities and stockholders' equity — Other stockholders' equity

Major caption

Other stockholders' equity

‘ Subcaptions

Additional paid-in
capital

Other additional
capital

Retained earnings
(appropriated vs
unappropriated)
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income

‘ Disclosures related to

Quasi-reorganizations
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Liabilities and stockholders' equity — Noncontrolling interests

Major caption ‘ Subcaptions ‘ Disclosures related to

Noncontrolling interests in | -- Preferred stock
consolidated subsidiaries

Total liabilities and - -
equity (subtotal)

Question 3.2.50

Can balance sheet captions be disaggregated?

Interpretive response: Yes. US GAAP does not preclude disaggregation
beyond required captions and subcaptions (see Question 3.2.30). For example,
an entity can present individual intangible assets or classes of intangible assets
as separate line items. We believe other appropriate captions are permissible
beyond those required as long as they are not misleading and do not obscure
the financial information (see Question 2.4.80). [350-30-45-1]

In addition, registrants must separately present individual balance sheet
amounts that exceed certain quantitative thresholds. The information can be
presented on the balance sheet or in the notes, unless otherwise stated. Reg S-
X for commercial and industrial registrants includes quantitative thresholds for
the following captions (see Question 3.2.40): [S-X Rule 5-02]

e notes receivable;

e other current assets;

¢ intangible assets;

e other assets;

e other current liabilities; and
o other liabilities.

Question 3.2.60

Are there any specific ordering requirements for the
balance sheet?

Interpretive response: No. US GAAP does not prescribe how to order balance
sheet captions.

It is common practice for an entity to present assets and liabilities in descending
order of liquidity (i.e. order of the amount of time to convert to cash). However,
in our experience, assets may also be presented in order of prominence relative
to the entity’s respective industry.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved

49



3.3
3.3.10

Financial statement presentation
3. Balance sheet

Question 3.2.70

What are considerations when aggregating individual
items in one caption?

Interpretive response: To increase its relevance and usefulness, each caption
should only include homogenous classes of items. When determining the

individual items to include in each balance sheet caption, consider: [CON 8.PR39,
PRA40]

e the expected time until realization or settlement of an asset or a liability;

e the expected form (e.g. cash or shares) of realization or settlement of an
asset, a liability, or in certain circumstances an equity instrument;

e the types of changes in economic conditions that can affect the cash flows
related to similar revenues, expenses, and gains or losses in the future; and

o similarities and differences in measurement methods.

Classified balance sheet

General requirements

05-5 Financial position, as it is reflected by the records and accounts from
which the statement is prepared, is revealed in a presentation of the assets and
liabilities of the entity. In the statements of manufacturing, trading, and service
entities, these assets and liabilities are generally classified and segregated,; if
they are classified logically, summations or totals of the current or circulating or
working assets (referred to as current assets) and of obligations currently
payable (designated as current liabilities) will permit the ready determination of
working capital.

05-6 The ordinary operations of an entity involve a circulation of capital within
the current asset group. Cash is expended for materials, finished parts,
operating supplies, labor, and other factory services, and such expenditures are
accumulated as inventory cost. Inventory costs, upon sale of the products to
which such costs attach, are converted into trade receivables and ultimately
into cash again.

> Transactions

15-3 The guidance in this Subtopic that relates to separate classification of
current assets and current liabilities (that is, a classified balance sheet) applies
only when an entity is preparing a classified balance sheet for financial
accounting and reporting purposes.
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20 Glossary
Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that have both of the
following characteristics:

a. Readily convertible to known amounts of cash
b. So near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in
value because of changes in interest rates.

Generally, only investments with original maturities of three months or less
qualify under that definition. Original maturity means original maturity to the
entity holding the investment. For example, both a three-month U.S. Treasury
bill and a three-year U.S. Treasury note purchased three months from maturity
qualify as cash equivalents. However, a Treasury note purchased three years
ago does not become a cash equivalent when its remaining maturity is three
months. Examples of items commonly considered to be cash equivalents are
Treasury bills, commercial paper, money market funds, and federal funds sold
(for an entity with banking operations).

Current Assets

Current assets is used to designate cash and other assets or resources
commonly identified as those that are reasonably expected to be realized in
cash or sold or consumed during the normal operating cycle of the business.
See paragraphs 210-10-45-1 through 45-4.

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities is used principally to designate obligations whose liquidation
is reasonably expected to require the use of existing resources properly
classifiable as current assets, or the creation of other current liabilities. See
paragraphs 210-10-45-5 through 45-12.

Working Capital

Working capital (also called net working capital) is represented by the excess of
current assets over current liabilities and identifies the relatively liquid portion of
total entity capital that constitutes a margin or buffer for meeting obligations
within the ordinary operating cycle of the entity.

A classified balance sheet shows separate classifications of current assets and
current liabilities, which allows the user of the balance sheet to readily
determine working capital. [210-10-05-4]

Subtopic 210-10 provides general guidance on how to present a classified
balance sheet, including the definition of operating cycle, currents assets and
current liabilities. This general guidance applies unless other Codification Topics
address the current versus noncurrent classification of the specific assets or
liabilities — e.g. Topic 470 for debt or Topic 740 for deferred tax assets and
liabilities.
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Question 3.3.10

When is a classified balance sheet required?

Interpretive response: Subtopic 210-10 does not require a classified balance
sheet, even though in our experience it is common for nonpublic entities to
present one. Further, the AICPA illustrates a situation when it would be
appropriate for a nonpublic entity to present an unclassified balance sheet (see
Example 3.3.10). [TQA 1100.03]

However, Reg S-X requires commercial and industrial registrants to present a
classified balance sheet. [S-X Rule 5-02]

Example 3.3.10

Unclassified balance sheet for a nonpublic venture with
a limited life

This example is based on section 1100.03 of the AICPA’s Technical Questions
and Answers.

ABC Corp was organized with the sole purpose of constructing a shopping
center that will take several years to complete. Upon completion of the
construction, ABC will be liquidated. ABC recognizes revenue over time by
measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of its performance
obligation (construction of the shopping center) and has only one operating
cycle (see Question 3.3.40).

ABC concludes that it is more appropriate to present an unclassified balance
sheet than a classified one because a classified balance sheet would not be
meaningful under the circumstances. Because the sole purpose of ABC is to
construct the shopping center, the time to complete the construction represents
the appropriate time frame for reporting purposes, instead of an arbitrary 12-
month period.

Question 3.3.20

How is a classified balance sheet presented?

Interpretive response: Subtopic 210-10 requires a current liabilities subtotal to
be presented in a classified balance sheet, but does not specifically require a
current assets subtotal, although it is often presented. Reg S-X requires
commercial and industrial registrants to present both when appropriate.
Classified balance sheets are generally presented in descending order of
liquidity (see Question 3.2.60). [210-10-45-5, S-X Rule 5-02]
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Question 3.3.30

Is a change from a classified to an unclassified balance
sheet or vice versa a change in accounting principle?

Interpretive response: Yes. Subtopic 210-10 does not explicitly address how
an entity effects a change from a classified to an unclassified balance sheet or
vice versa. However, we believe the change in presentation represents a
change in accounting principle that would require the entity to assess whether
the change is preferable. See Question 3.2.40 in KPMG Handbook, Accounting
changes and error corrections, for further discussion.

Operating cycle

I_Tg Excerpt from ASC 210-10

20 Glossary
Operating Cycle

The average time intervening between the acquisition of materials or services
and the final cash realization constitutes an operating cycle.

In a classified balance sheet, an entity classifies each asset and liability as
either current or noncurrent. Current assets are those assets that are
reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed during the
entity’s normal operating cycle. Current liabilities generally include obligations
for items that have entered the operating cycle. Therefore, to classify assets and

liabilities, an entity needs to determine its operating cycle. [210-10 Glossary, 210-10-
05-4, 45-8]

Question 3.3.40

How is the operating cycle determined?

Interpretive response: To determine its operating cycle, an entity considers the
average time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realization in cash or cash equivalents. It is the ultimate realization in cash that
matters for the analysis, not a change in the nature of the item (e.g. a contract
asset becoming a trade receivable). [210-10 Glossary]

The time period used as the basis for determining if an asset or liability is
classified as current or noncurrent cannot be shorter than 12 months, as follows.
[210-10-45-3]
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Time period used for current
classification

Operating cycle

Undefined 12 months
Shorter than 12 months 12 months
Longer than 12 months (e.g. tobacco, Operating cycle
distillery and lumber businesses)

Example 3.3.20

Operating cycle determination — construction company

Developer enters into a contract with Customer to construct a building for fixed
consideration of $100 million. The construction takes 30 months to complete.
The milestone payments and actual construction progress are as follows (in
millions).

Actual
Milestone construction Contract
payments ($) progress asset/(liability) ($)

0 (at inception) 5 0% (5)

12 10 30% 15

24 10 80% 55

30 65 100% 10

42 10 100% -

Of the contract asset of $15 million recognized at the end of the first 12 months,
$10 million will be collected within 12 months and the remaining $5 million will
be collected after 12 months.

Scenario 1: Identifiable operating cycle

Developer considers the duration of its projects in determining its operating
cycle. If all projects are performed within a similar timeframe, this may indicate
that Developer’s operating cycle is identifiable and approximates the average
duration of its projects (e.g. 30 months). In this case, the entire amount of the
contract asset of $15 million is presented as a current asset on the classified
balance sheet.

Scenario 2: Unidentifiable operating cycle

Modifying the fact pattern, if Developer’s contracts in the same business are of
different duration, it defaults to the 12-month operating cycle. In this scenario, to
classify the contract asset of $15 million, Developer looks at its characteristics
and determines that it is similar to a trade receivable (see Question 3.3.60).
Therefore, the amount is split into a current ($10 million) and noncurrent ($5
million) portion. The noncurrent portion will subsequently be reclassified into
current when it is due within 12 months.
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Question 3.3.50

Can an entity with different businesses have multiple
operating cycles?

Interpretive response: Yes. We believe that if an entity has different operating
cycles for different parts of the business, the classification of an asset or liability

as current is based on the operating cycle that is relevant to that particular asset

or liability. The entity need not identify a single operating cycle.

For example, if an entity has a construction business with a 30-month operating
cycle and a construction equipment retail business with a 12-month operating
cycle, the entity would classify the assets and liabilities of the construction and
retail businesses as current based on the respective operating cycles of the
related businesses.

Classification of assets

> Classification of Current Assets
45-1 Current assets generally include all of the following:

a. Cash available for current operations and items that are cash equivalents

b. Inventories of merchandise, raw materials, goods in process, finished
goods, operating supplies, and ordinary maintenance material and parts

c. Trade accounts, notes, and acceptances receivable

d. Receivables from officers, employees, affiliates, and others, if collectible in
the ordinary course of business within a year

e. Installment or deferred accounts and notes receivable if they conform
generally to normal trade practices and terms within the business

f. Marketable securities representing the investment of cash available for
current operations

g. Prepaid expenses such as the following:

Insurance

Interest

Rents

Taxes

Unused royalties

Current paid advertising service not yet received
Operating supplies

Noohkwh =

45-2 Prepaid expenses are not current assets in the sense that they will be
converted into cash but in the sense that, if not paid in advance, they would
require the use of current assets during the operating cycle. An asset
representing the overfunded status of a single-employer defined benefit
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pension or postretirement plan shall be classified pursuant to Section 715-20-
45,

45-3 A one-year time period shall be used as a basis for the segregation of
current assets in cases where there are several operating cycles occurring
within a year. However, if the period of the operating cycle is more than 12
months, as in, for instance, the tobacco, distillery, and lumber businesses, the
longer period shall be used. If a particular entity has no clearly defined
operating cycle, the one-year rule shall govern.

45-4 The concept of the nature of current assets contemplates the exclusion
from that classification of such resources as the following:

a. Cash and claims to cash that are restricted as to withdrawal or use for other
than current operations, are designated for expenditure in the acquisition or
construction of noncurrent assets, or are segregated for the liquidation of
long-term debts. Even though not actually set aside in special accounts,
funds that are clearly to be used in the near future for the liquidation of
long-term debts, payments to sinking funds, or for similar purposes shall
also, under this concept, be excluded from current assets. However, if such
funds are considered to offset maturing debt that has properly been set up
as a current liability, they may be included within the current asset
classification.

b. Investments in securities (whether marketable or not) or advances that
have been made for the purposes of control, affiliation, or other continuing
business advantage.

c. Receivables arising from unusual transactions (such as the sale of capital

assets, or loans or advances to affiliates, officers, or employees) that are

not expected to be collected within 12 months.

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies.

Land and other natural resources.

Depreciable assets.

Long-term prepayments that are fairly chargeable to the operations of

several years, or deferred charges such as bonus payments under a long-

term lease, costs of rearrangement of factory layout or removal to a new
location.

@ ™oa

> Current Assets

50-1 It is important that the amounts at which current assets are stated be
supplemented by information that reveals, for the various classifications of
inventory items, the basis upon which their amounts are stated and, where
practicable, indication of the method of determining the cost—for example,
average cost, first-in first-out (FIFO), last-in first-out (LIFO), and so forth.

Current assets are cash and other assets or resources that are reasonably
expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed during the normal
operating cycle of the business. [210-10 Glossary]

Subtopic 210-10 provides a list of assets that are generally classified as current
or noncurrent. [210-10-45-1, 45-4]
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e Unrestricted cash and cash e Restricted cash

equivalents

e Certain operating
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e Long term investments
e Certain non-operating receivables that are

receivables not expected to be collected within 12 months
e Marketable securities e  Cash surrender value of life insurance
available for current policies
operations e Land and other natural resources
e  Certain prepaid assets e Depreciable assets

e Long-term prepayments

Question 3.3.60#

How are common types of assets generally classified?

Interpretive response: The following tables identify common assets and their
typical classification in an entity’s balance sheet as prescribed in Subtopic 210-
10 or other Codification Topics.

Cash, cash equivalents and securities

Asset class ‘ Typical classification

Unrestricted cash
and cash
equivalents

Current. [210-10-45-1(a)]
See chapter 6 of KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows.

Restricted cash

Noncurrent, unless considered to offset maturing debt that has
properly been set up as a current liability. [210-10-45-4(a)]

See chapter 6 of KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows.

Marketable
securities

e  Current if available for current operations. [210-10-45-1(f)]
e Noncurrent if made for the purposes of control, affiliation or
other continuing business advantage. [210-10-45-4(b)]

Trade receivables and customer contract assets

Asset class ‘ Typical classification

Trade receivables

Current. [210-10-45-1(c)]

Net customer
contract assets

We believe current, noncurrent or bifurcated depending on the
characteristics of the net contract asset (or liability), and the
contract terms. All relevant facts and circumstances should be
considered in this determination.

See Question 14.2.50 in KPMG Handbook, Revenue
recognition.

An entity presents total net contract assets separately from total
net contract liabilities, instead of a net position for all contracts
with customers. The split of contract assets (or liabilities)
between current and noncurrent is determined at the contract
level.
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Contract cost
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‘ Typical classification

In general, we believe noncurrent in its entirety unless the
original amortization period is less than 12 months. However,
there is diversity in practice, and some entities bifurcate the
asset between current and noncurrent based on the period of
amortization.

See Question 14.6.20 in KPMG Handbook, Revenue
recognition.

Inventory and prepaid assets

Asset class

Inventory including
spare parts

‘ Typical classification

Current, except for the portion of slow-moving inventory that an
entity does not reasonably expect to realize in cash during its
normal operating cycle. [210-10-45-1(b), TQA 2140.13]

We believe spare parts inventory should be classified as current
if it does not exceed the expected consumption over the next 12
months (or expected operating cycle if longer). See Question
5.2.40 in KPMG Handbook, Inventory.

Prepaid assets

Current if the prepayment represents an asset that if not paid in
advance would require the use of current assets during the
operating cycle. [210-10-45-1(g)]

Noncurrent if the long-term prepayment is chargeable to the
operations of several years. [210-10-45-4(g)]

Long-lived and ROU assets

Asset class

Long-lived assets

Typical classification

Noncurrent. [210-10-45-4(e) — 45-4(f)]

Lease right-of-use
(ROU) assets

Noncurrent, consistent with long-lived assets. [842-20-45-1]
See section 6.9.1 of KPMG Handbook, Leases.

Other assets

Asset class ‘ Typical classification

Other receivables

Current if arising in the ordinary course of business and
collectible within 12 months. [210-10-45-1(d)]

Noncurrent if arising from unusual transactions and not
collectible within 12 months — e.g. sale of capital assets, loans
to affiliates or employees. [210-10-45-4(c)]

Overfunded single-
employer defined
benefit pension or
postretirement plan
assets

Noncurrent. [715-20-45-2]
See Question 6.5.10 in KPMG Handbook, Employee benefits.

Deferred tax
assets, net of
valuation
allowance

Noncurrent. [740-10-45-6]

See section 9.002 of KPMG Handbook, Accounting for income
taxes.
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Asset class ‘ Typical classification

Cash surrender Noncurrent. [210-10-45-4(d)]
value of life
insurance policy,
net of policy loans
(if appropriate, see
Question 3.4.60)

Derivative assets Topic 815 does not provide specific guidance for classifying
derivative instruments on a classified balance sheet.

See section 14.2.30 of KPMG Handbook, Derivatives and
hedging.

Crypto assets Neither Subtopic 350-30 nor Subtopic 350-60 addresses
classification of crypto intangible assets on a classified balance
sheet.

Section 6.2 in KPMG Issues-in-Depth, Crypto intangible assets.

See Question 3.2.30 for information on when Subtopic 350-60 becomes
effective.

Question 3.3.70

How is equipment held for rental classified?

Interpretive response: We believe equipment held for rental should be
classified as a noncurrent asset because it is a depreciable asset, which is

excluded from the classification of a current asset in Subtopic 210-10. [210-10-45-
4(f)]

Question 3.3.80

How are money market funds that have suspended
redemptions classified?

Background: We believe money market funds that restrict or suspend
redemptions are not cash equivalents because they are no longer highly liquid.
See Question 6.3.70 in KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows.

Interpretive response: Money market funds that have suspended redemptions
are classified as current only if they are available for current operations. We
believe investors may need to consider the maturities of the underlying assets
held by the fund to make this assessment. [210-10-45-1(f)]
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Question 3.3.90

How is classification affected when the asset is
pledged?

Interpretive response: Pledging assets does not affect their classification as
current assets if the entity can use these assets in current operations without
restriction — as long as no individual accounts or items are specifically
designated in the collateral agreement.

However, Subtopic 210-10 excludes from current assets cash and claims to
cash that are restricted as to withdrawal or use for other than current operations.
We believe this guidance applies by analogy to pledged assets other than cash
— e.g. receivables, investments in money market funds or other assets pledged
as collateral for a long-term loan and restricted as to withdrawal or use. [210-10-
45-4(a)]

Question 3.3.100
How is classification affected when the asset will be

used for acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets,
or for the liquidation of long-term debts?

Interpretive response: Subtopic 210-10 excludes from current assets cash and
claims to cash that are designated for expenditure in the acquisition or
construction of noncurrent assets, are segregated for the liquidation of long-term
debts, or are clearly to be used in the near future for similar purposes. For
example, proceeds from a bond issuance restricted to finance the construction
of a manufacturing facility are classified as noncurrent. [210-10-45-4(a)]

We believe this guidance may be applied in limited circumstances by analogy to
classify the assets and liabilities of a discontinued operation when the proceeds
from their sale will clearly be used in the near future as described in this
guidance. See Question 6.2.40 in KPMG Handbook, Discontinued operations
and held-for-sale disposal groups.

Question 3.3.105**

How do currency exchange restrictions affect the
classification of noncash USD monetary assets?

Background: During periods of economic instability, countries may introduce
currency exchange restrictions that limit the ability to exchange foreign currency
into USD. For example, in 2015, after a period of hyperinflation, the Venezuelan
government introduced multiple mechanisms for exchanging Bolivars and
volume restrictions of foreign currency that could be exchanged using the
various mechanisms.
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Interpretive response: We believe that entities with noncash USD-
denominated monetary assets (e.g. accounts receivable) due from a foreign
entity experiencing currency exchange restrictions should consider the impact of
exchange restrictions on the classification of those assets on a classified
balance sheet.

Presentation in current assets may not be appropriate if the USD-denominated
asset cannot be settled during the normal operating cycle of the business as a
result of the volume limitations or currency controls. If material, entities disclose
any changes to the classification of assets along with their overall classification
policy and rationale for any changes. [210-10 Glossary]

3.3.40 Classification of liabilities

> Classification of Current Liabilities

45-5 A total of current liabilities shall be presented in classified balance
sheets.

45-6 The concept of current liabilities includes estimated or accrued amounts
that are expected to be required to cover expenditures within the year for
known obligations the amount of which can be determined only approximately
(as in the case of provisions for accruing bonus payments) or where the
specific person or persons to whom payment will be made cannot as yet be
designated (as in the case of estimated costs to be incurred in connection with
guaranteed servicing or repair of products already sold).

45-7 Section 470-10-45 includes guidance on various debt transactions that
may result in current liability classification. These transactions are the following:

a. Due on demand loan agreements
b. Callable debt agreements
c. Short-term obligations expected to be refinanced.

+ > Obligations in the Operating Cycle

45-8 As a balance sheet category, the classification of current liabilities
generally includes obligations for items that have entered into the operating
cycle, such as the following:

a. Payables incurred in the acquisition of materials and supplies to be used in
the production of goods or in providing services to be offered for sale.

b. Collections received in advance of the delivery of goods or performance of
services. Examples of such current liabilities are obligations resulting from
advance collections on ticket sales, which will normally be liquidated in the
ordinary course of business by the delivery of services. On the contrary,
obligations representing long-term deferments of the delivery of goods or
services would not be shown as current liabilities. Examples of the latter
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are the issuance of a long-term warranty or the advance receipt by a lessor
of rental for the final period of a 10 year lease as a condition to execution of
the lease agreement.

c. Debts that arise from operations directly related to the operating cycle,
such as accruals for wages, salaries, commissions, rentals, royalties, and
income and other taxes.

« > Other Liabilities

45-9 Other liabilities whose regular and ordinary liquidation is expected to occur
within a relatively short period of time, usually 12 months, are also generally
included, such as the following:

a. Short-term debts arising from the acquisition of capital assets

b. Serial maturities of long-term obligations

c. Amounts required to be expended within one year under sinking fund
provisions

d. Agency obligations arising from the collection or acceptance of cash or
other assets for the account of third persons. Loans accompanied by
pledge of life insurance policies would be classified as current liabilities fif,
by their terms or by intent, they are to be repaid within 12 months. The
pledging of life insurance policies does not affect the classification of the
asset any more than does the pledging of receivables, inventories, real
estate, or other assets as collateral for a short-term loan. However, when a
loan on a life insurance policy is obtained from the insurance entity with the
intent that it will not be paid but will be liquidated by deduction from the
proceeds of the policy upon maturity or cancellation, the obligation shall be
excluded from current liabilities.

45-10 A liability representing the underfunded status of a single-employer
defined benefit pension or postretirement plan shall be classified pursuant to
Section 715-20-45.

45-11 If the amounts of the periodic payments of an obligation are, by contract,
measured by current transactions, as for example by rents or revenues
received in the case of equipment trust certificates or by the depletion of natural
resources in the case of property obligations, the portion of the total obligation
to be included as a current liability shall be that representing the amount
accrued at the balance sheet date.

45-12 The current liability classification is not intended to include debts to be
liquidated by funds that have been accumulated in accounts of a type not
properly classified as current assets, or long-term obligations incurred to
provide increased amounts of working capital for long periods.

Subtopic 210-10 requires an entity to present a total of current liabilities on its
classified balance sheet. It identifies and illustrates two categories into which a
current liability may fall. [210-10-45-5]
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Examples

e Trade payables

e Collections received in advance of the delivery of goods or
performance of services

e Debts that arise from operations directly related to the
operating cycle [210-10-45-8]

Expected to be
settled within a
relatively short
period, usually 12
months, after the
reporting date

e  Short-term debts arising from the acquisition of capital
assets

e  Serial maturities of long-term obligations

e Amounts required to be expended within 12 months under
sinking fund provisions

e  Agency obligations arising from the collection or
acceptance of cash or other assets for the account of third
persons [210-10-45-9]

Question 3.3.110

How are common types of liabilities generally classified?

Interpretive response: The following table identifies common liabilities and
their typical classification on an entity’s balance sheet as prescribed in Subtopic
210-10 or other Codification Topics.

Trade payables and net customer contract liabilities

Liability class ‘ Typical classification

Trade accounts
payable

Current. [210-10-45-8(a)]

Net customer
contract liabilities

See Question 3.3.60.

Debt and lease liabilities

Liability class ‘ Typical classification

Debt

Current if due on demand, callable or for its short-term portion —
i.e. portion due within 12 months (or an operating cycle, if
longer). This assessment is complex and factors in the
likelihood at the reporting date of whether the creditor will
accelerate repayment of the debt (e.g. in the case of subjective
acceleration clauses). [210-10-45-7, 45-9, 470-10-45]

Noncurrent otherwise.

See section 3.6.10 of KPMG Handbook, Debt and equity
financing
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Current for the short-term portion.

We believe either of the following approaches may be
acceptable under Subtopic 210-10 to determine the short-term
portion of a lease liability.

e Approach 1. The current portion of the lease liability is the
amount by which the total lease liability will be reduced

over the next 12 months (or operating cycle, if longer). This

equals the payment(s) the lessee will make, less
interest/accretion of the lease liability.

e Approach 2. The current portion of the lease liability is
equal to the present value of the lease payment(s)
scheduled to be made over the next 12 months (or
operating cycle, if longer).

Under both approaches, the noncurrent portion of the lease

liability is the difference between the carrying amount of the

total lease liability and the current portion.

See section 6.9.1 of KPMG Handbook, Leases.

Other liabilities

Liability class ‘ Typical classification

Estimated and
accrued amounts
(e.g. accruals and
loss contingencies)

Current, if:

e directly related to the operating cycle (e.g. accruals for
wages, salaries, commissions, rentals, royalties, and
income and other taxes); or [210-10-45-8(c)]

e expected to cover expenditures within 12 months. [210-10-
45-6]

Noncurrent otherwise.

Estimated and accrued amounts cover known obligations: [210-

10-45-6]

e for which amounts can only be estimated (e.g. accruals for

bonuses payable); or
e where the specific person(s) to whom payment will be

made cannot be identified (e.g. estimated costs incurred in

connection with guaranteed servicing or repair of products
sold).

Underfunded
single-employer
defined benefit
pension or
postretirement plan
obligation

Current for the amount by which the net benefit obligation
payable in the next 12 months (or an operating cycle if longer)
exceeds the fair value of plan assets.

Noncurrent otherwise.

This generally results in employers with funded plans classifying

the obligation as noncurrent. However, for unfunded plans or
significantly underfunded plans, the liability may be partially
current and noncurrent. [715-20-45-2]

Deferred tax
liabilities

Noncurrent. [740-10-45-6]

See paragraph 9.002 of KPMG Handbook, Accounting for
income taxes.
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Liability class Typical classification
Derivative liabilities | Topic 815 does not provide specific guidance for classifying
derivative instruments on a classified balance sheet.

See section 14.2.30 of KPMG Handbook, Derivatives and
hedging.

Question 3.3.120

Is a long-term obligation classified as current if it funds
short-term needs?

Interpretive response: No. Long-term obligations are not classified as current
because they fund short-term needs — e.g. provide increased amounts of
working capital for long periods. [210-10-45-12]

Question 3.3.130

Are short-term obligations always classified as current
liabilities?

Interpretive response: No. Short-term obligations incurred in the normal
course of business with customary terms are generally classified as current
liabilities (see Question 3.3.110) but there are exceptions. [210-10-45-8 — 45-9]

We believe certain short-term obligations may be excluded from current
liabilities if the entity has the intent and ability to refinance the obligations on a
long-term basis. Examples include:

e short-term obligations incurred from the purchase or construction of
noncurrent assets, if they are refinanced on a long-term basis;

e short-term obligations not directly related to the operating cycle (such as a
note given to a supplier that replaces an account payable) if the note is
refinanced on a long-term basis.

A short-term obligation can be excluded from current liabilities only if the entity
intends to refinance it on a long-term basis and that intent is supported by an
ability to consummate the refinancing. See section 3.6.20 of KPMG Handbook,
Debt and equity financing, for further discussion related to an entity's intent and
ability to refinance. [470-10-45-14]
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Question 3.3.140**

How do currency exchange restrictions affect the

classification of noncash USD monetary liabilities owed
by a non-US entity?

Background: See Question 3.3.105 for discussion of currency exchange
restrictions.

Interpretive response: We believe a non-US entity in a country experiencing
currency exchange restrictions should not classify an otherwise current USD-
denominated liability (e.g. USD-denominated accounts payable owed by the
non-US entity) as noncurrent simply due to the volume limitations or currency
controls in that country, unless there has been a change to the actual terms of a
liability and that change has been contractually agreed to by the counterparty.

3.3.50 Valuation allowances

I_:% Excerpt from ASC 210-10

> Valuation Allowances

45-13 Asset valuation allowances for losses such as those on receivables and
investments shall be deducted from the assets or groups of assets to which the
allowances relate.

Valuation allowances for losses on receivables, loans and investments are
deducted from the related assets — e.g. not presented separately. See chapter
24 of KPMG Handbook, Credit impairment, regarding the required disclosures
for valuation allowances. [210-10-45-13]

3.4 Offsetting
3.4.10 Right of setoff

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 210-20

20 Glossary
Right of Setoff
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A right of setoff is a debtor's legal right, by contract or otherwise, to discharge
all or a portion of the debt owed to another party by applying against the debt
an amount that the other party owes to the debtor.

05-1 This Subtopic provides criteria for offsetting amounts related to certain
contracts and provides guidance on presentation. It is a general principle of
accounting that the offsetting of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet is
improper except if a right of setoff exists.

05-2 The general principle that the offsetting of assets and liabilities is improper
except where a right of setoff exists is usually thought of in the context of
unconditional receivables from and payables to another party. That general
principle also applies to conditional amounts recognized for contracts under
which the amounts to be received or paid or items to be exchanged in the
future depend on future interest rates, future exchange rates, future commodity
prices, or other factors.

> Entities
15-1 The guidance in this Subtopic applies to all entities.
> Transactions

15-2 The guidance in this Subtopic does not apply to the following types of
transactions and contract arrangements:

a. The derecognition or nonrecognition of assets and liabilities. Derecognition
by sale of an asset or extinguishment of a liability results in removal of a
recognized asset or liability and generally results in the recognition of gain
or loss. Although conceptually different, offsetting that results in a net
amount of zero and derecognition with no gain or loss are indistinguishable
in their effects on the statement of financial position. Likewise, not
recognizing assets and liabilities of the same amount in financial
statements achieves similar reported results.

> Other Considerations

15-3 The general principle of a right of setoff involves only two parties, and
exceptions to that general principle shall be limited to practices specifically
permitted by the Subtopics listed in this paragraph. Various accounting
Subtopics specify accounting treatments in circumstances that result in
offsetting or in a presentation in a statement of financial position that is similar
to the effect of offsetting. The guidance in this Subtopic does not modify the
accounting treatment in the particular circumstances prescribed by any of the
following Subtopics:

Subtopic 842-50 (leveraged leases)

Subtopic 715-30 (accounting for pension plan assets and liabilities)
Subtopic 715-60 (accounting for plan assets and liabilities)

Subtopic 740-10 (net tax asset or liability amounts reported)

d. Paragraphs 815-10-45-1 through 45-7 (derivative instruments with the right
to reclaim cash collateral or the obligation to return cash collateral)

gopoow
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e. Subtopics 940-320 (trade date accounting for trading portfolio positions)
and 910-405 (advances received on construction contracts)
f. Paragraph 942-210-45-3A (reciprocal balances with other banks).

> Right of Setoff Conditions
45-1 A right of setoff exists when all of the following conditions are met:

a. Each of two parties owes the other determinable amounts.

b. The reporting party has the right to set off the amount owed with the
amount owed by the other party.

c. The reporting party intends to set off.

d. The right of setoff is enforceable at law.

45-2 A debtor having a valid right of setoff may offset the related asset and
liability and report the net amount.

45-3 If the parties meet the criteria specified in paragraph 210-20-45-1,
specifying currency or interest rate requirements is unnecessary. However, if
maturities differ, only the party with the nearer maturity could offset because the
party with the longer term maturity must settle in the manner that the other
party selects at the earlier maturity date.

45-4 If a party does not intend to set off even though the ability to set off exists,
an offsetting presentation in the statement of financial position is not
representationally faithful.

45-5 Acknowledgment of the intent to set off by the reporting party and, if
applicable, demonstration of the execution of the setoff in similar situations
meet the criterion of intent.

> Offsetting Securities Against Taxes Payable

45-6 The offset of cash or other assets against the tax liability or other amounts
owing to governmental bodies shall not be acceptable except in the
circumstances described in the following paragraph.

45-7 Most securities issued by governments are not by their terms designed
specifically for the payment of taxes and, accordingly, shall not be deducted
from taxes payable on the balance sheet. The only exception to this general
principle occurs when it is clear that a purchase of securities (acceptable for the
payment of taxes) is in substance an advance payment of taxes that will be
payable in the relatively near future, so that in the special circumstances the
purchase is tantamount to the prepayment of taxes. This occurs at times, for
example, as an accommodation to a local government and in some instances
when governments issue securities that are specifically designated as being
acceptable for the payment of taxes of those governments.

> Assurance that Right of Setoff Is Enforceable in a Bankruptcy

45-8 State laws about the right of setoff may provide results different from those
normally provided by contract or as a matter of common law. Similarly, the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code imposes restrictions on or prohibitions against the right of
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setoff in bankruptcy under certain circumstances. Legal constraints should be
considered to determine whether the right of setoff is enforceable.

45-9 The phrase enforceable at law encompasses the idea that the right of
setoff should be upheld in bankruptcy. The nature of support required for an
assertion in financial statements that a right of setoff is enforceable at law is
subject to a cost-benefit constraint and depends on facts and circumstances.
All of the information that is available, either supporting or questioning
enforceability, should be considered. Offsetting is appropriate only if the
available evidence, both positive and negative, indicates that there is
reasonable assurance that the right of setoff would be upheld in bankruptcy.

> Implementation Guidance

* > Other Considerations

55-18A Cash on deposit at a financial institution shall be considered by the
depositor as cash rather than as an amount owed to the depositor.

Subtopic 210-20 provides the general guidance on when assets and liabilities
may be presented net on the balance sheet.

Certain considerations related to whether specific assets and liabilities may be
offset are addressed in other KPMG Handbooks as follows.

Type of asset/liability Reference to relevant KPMG Handbook

Derivative instruments Section 14.2.20, Derivatives and hedging.

Paragraph 9.013, Accounting for income

Income taxes payable or receivable
taxes.

Tax credits Section 2.2.40, Tax credits.

Assets and liabilities in deferred

: Question 3.6.20, Employee benefits.
compensation arrangements

Repurchase and reverse repurchase | Section 8.3.20, Transfers and servicing of
agreements financial assets.

Question 3.4.10

What are the right of setoff criteria?

Interpretive response: A debtor may offset assets and liabilities if a right of
setoff exists —i.e. when all the following criteria are met. [210-20-05-1, 45-1 — 45-2]

Each of the two parties owes the other

Mutual liability criterion determinable amounts.

The reporting party has the right to offset the
Ability to offset criterion amount owed with the amount owed by the other
party.
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Intent to offset criterion The reporting party intends to offset.

Enforceability criterion The right to setoff is enforceable at law.

Subtopic 210-20 also covers offsetting requirements specific to repurchase and
reverse repurchase agreements, which are addressed in chapter 8 of KPMG
Handbook, Transfers and servicing of financial assets.

Specific offsetting requirements may also be found in other Codification Topics
— e.g. Topic 606 for customer contract assets and liabilities or Topic 740 for
deferred tax.

Question 3.4.20

Can a right of setoff exist with more than two parties?

Interpretive response: No. A right of setoff can exist only with two parties
involved. [210-20-45-1(a)]

Example 3.4.10

Right of setoff not permitted in three-party arrangements

Relo Corp is a provider of relocation services. ABC Corp engages Relo to
provide services to its employees that involve funding their relocation expenses.
Relo draws on a line of credit from Bank to advance cash to ABC's relocating
employees. ABC is obligated to reimburse Relo for the advance, but if ABC is
unable to do so, Relo is still obligated to pay Bank.

Because there are three parties to the transaction, Relo cannot offset the
receivable from ABC with the borrowing from Bank.

Question 3.4.30

Can a right of setoff exist between assets and liabilities
of different currency, interest or maturity?

Interpretive response: It depends. Assuming a right of setoff exists, Subtopic
210-20 does not preclude offsetting between assets and liabilities of differing
currency or interest rates. However, if assets and liabilities have different
maturities, only the party with the nearer liability maturity can offset because the
other party must settle in the manner that the party with the nearer liability
maturity selects at that earlier maturity date — i.e. only the party with the nearer
liability maturity meets the ability to offset criterion. [210-20-45-3]
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Example 3.4.20

Right of setoff when assets and liabilities have different
maturities

ABC Corp and XYZ Corp are commercial partners. ABC owes XYZ $100 in
three months. XYZ owes ABC $100 in six months. The parties have a legal right
of setoff.

ABC has the nearer liability maturity and can offset its payable to XYZ against
its receivable from XYZ if it has the intent to do so in three months when its
payable becomes due.

Conversely, XYZ cannot offset its six-month payable to ABC against its three-
month receivable from XYZ. This is because it must ultimately settle its payable
in the manner ABC will select in three months when ABC’s payable to XYZ
becomes due.

Question 3.4.40

Can a right of setoff exist without both intent and ability
to offset?

Interpretive response: No. Ability to offset is not sufficient if parties lack intent.
A debtor meets the intent to offset criterion if it acknowledges its intent to do so
and, if applicable, demonstrates the execution of setoff in similar situations. In

addition, intent to offset is not sufficient without an enforceable right to do so.
[210-20-45-4 — 45-5]

For example, nonrecourse debt is debt secured by a pledge of collateral,
typically real property, but for which the borrower is not personally liable. If the
borrower defaults, the lender can seize and sell the collateral. We believe the
parties to nonrecourse debt would not ordinarily have the ability to offset the
debt and the pledged asset, regardless of their intent to do so. Therefore, it
would be uncommon for those assets and liabilities to meet the right of setoff
criteria to be presented on a net basis.

Question 3.4.50

When is a right of setoff enforceable at law?

Interpretive response: Enforceability at law includes situations in which an
entity can enforce the right of setoff through regulatory procedures or as part of
normal business practice even if a setoff is not specifically included in a
contract. Enforceability at law also encompasses the idea that the right of setoff
should be upheld.

The US Bankruptcy Code includes certain restrictions on or prohibitions against
the right of setoff in bankruptcy. There is no separate requirement in Subtopic
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210-20 for bankruptcy protection. An entity should consider all of the available
information that either supports or questions enforceability, including legal
constraints imposed by the Bankruptcy Code. Offsetting is appropriate only if
the available evidence, both positive and negative, indicates that there is

reasonable assurance that the right of setoff would be upheld in bankruptcy.
[210-20-45-8 — 45-9]

See KPMG Handbook, Accounting for bankruptcies, for additional financial
statement presentation requirements for entities in Chapter 11 bankruptcy.

Application issues

Question 3.4.60

Can the cash surrender value of a life insurance policy
be presented net of policy loans?

Interpretive response: Generally, yes. Certain life insurance policies allow the
insured entity to take a loan out against the cash surrender value built up in the
underlying policy. Typically, the policy owner has the right to offset the loans
against the proceeds on the policy's maturity or cancellation. In this case, the
entity can appropriately apply the amount of the loans to reduce the cash
surrender value and disclose the amount offset. [TQA 2240.01]

Question 3.4.70

Can deferred compensation or other benefit
arrangement liabilities be presented net of an
investment in life insurance?

Interpretive response: Generally, no. We believe an investment in life
insurance and any associated deferred compensation or other benefit
arrangement should be accounted for separately because there is generally no
right of setoff. See Question 3.6.40 in KPMG Handbook, Employee benefits.

Question 3.4.80

Can a liability be presented net of a related insurance
recovery?

Interpretive response: Generally, no. The SEC staff has stated that the right of

setoff for an insurance recovery and related liability is usually rare. An entity

reports the gross liability for the loss and a separate asset for the estimate of the

probable amount recoverable from the insurance company. When a third-party
actuary develops an estimate of a liability, it often reports the liability net of
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estimated insurance recoveries. Therefore, an entity should request that the
actuary report the gross and net estimates to record the gross amounts for the
asset and liability. [2002 AICPA Conf]

We believe that if the insurance company rather than the entity is the primary
obligor in the claim, the entity should not recognize a liability for the loss
recoverable under the insurance policy.

Example 3.4.30

Insurance recovery — general liability

ABC Corp (a building owner) purchases general liability insurance to manage
risk of loss related to injury and property damage claims arising from the
property's use by others (e.g. insurance coverage for slips and falls at a retail
property). Under the terms of the policy, the insurer undertakes the defense of
all claims and, in the event of loss, the insurer pays or reimburses damages
subject to the deductible and other limits of the insurance policy.

Following a winter storm, an ABC employee slips on ice located on the property,
breaks their leg, and files a personal injury claim against ABC for their losses.

ABC recognizes a liability for the full amount of the probable payment to the
employee for the claim (the probable loss). Any insurance recovery is evaluated
and recognized separately. The insurance recovery receivable is not netted
against the liability because a right of setoff does not exist and ABC has not
been legally released by the injured party from being the primary obligor, even
though the insurer has undertaken the defense of the claim.

Example 3.4.40

Insurance recovery — medical expenses

ABC Corp pays for the medical expenses of active employees and purchases
an insurance policy that covers medical expenses exceeding $15,000 of lifetime
benefits per employee.

ABC recognizes a liability for its obligation to cover all of the medical expenses
of its employees as of the reporting date. It does not consider the insurance
coverage in its measurement of the liability. Any insurance recovery is evaluated
and recognized separately. The insurance recovery receivable is not netted
against the liability recorded for the medical expenses because a right of setoff
does not exist and ABC has not been legally released from being the primary
obligor for the health benefits.
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Question 3.4.90

Can bank overdrafts be presented net of cash
balances?

Interpretive response: No. Cash on deposit at a financial institution is
considered cash by the depositor, not as an amount owed by the bank (i.e. it is
not a receivable). Conversely, amounts in an overdraft position with the bank
(bank overdrafts) are considered owed to the bank (a liability). Therefore, bank
overdrafts cannot be offset by cash balances with the bank because those cash
balances are not an amount owed to the depositor by the bank. [210-20-55-18A]

Sections 6.2.20 and 6.2.30 of KPMG Handbook, Statement of cash flows,
discuss bank and book overdrafts, and centralized cash management
arrangements.

Question 3.4.100

Can tax liabilities be presented net of securities issued
by governments?

Interpretive response: Generally, no. Offsetting of tax liabilities with securities
issued by governments is not permitted except when the securities represent a
prepayment of taxes. This is because most government securities are not by
their terms designed specifically for the payment of taxes.

To represent a prepayment of taxes, the government securities must be
acceptable for the payment of taxes, and it must be clear that the purchase is in

substance an advance payment of taxes due in the relatively near future. [210-20-
45-6 — 45-7]

Right of setoff disclosures

> Offsetting of Derivatives, Repurchase Agreements, and Securities Lending
Transactions

50-1 The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 210-20-50-2 through 50-5
apply to both of the following: ...

c. Recognized derivative instruments accounted for in accordance with
Topic 815, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase
agreements accounted for as collateralized borrowings and reverse
repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending
transactions that are offset in accordance with either Section 210-20-45 or
Section 815-10-45
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Recognized derivative instruments accounted for in accordance with Topic
815, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase agreements
and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and
securities lending transactions that are subject to an enforceable master
netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether they are
offset in accordance with either Section 210-20-45 or Section 815-10-45.

50-2 An entity shall disclose information to enable users of its financial
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements on
its financial position for recognized assets and liabilities within the scope of the
preceding paragraph. This includes the effect or potential effect of rights of
setoff associated with an entity’s recognized assets and recognized liabilities
that are in the scope of the preceding paragraph.

50-3 To meet the objective in the preceding paragraph, an entity shall disclose
at the end of the reporting period the following quantitative information
separately for assets and liabilities that are within the scope of paragraph 210-
20-50-1:

a.

b.

e.

50-4 The information required by the preceding paragraph shall be presented in

The gross amounts of those recognized assets and those recognized
liabilities

The amounts offset in accordance with the guidance in Sections 210-20-45
and 815-10-45 to determine the net amounts presented in the statement of
financial position

The net amounts presented in the statement of financial position

The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or
similar agreement not otherwise included in (b):

1. The amounts related to recognized financial instruments and other
derivative instruments that either:

i. Management makes an accounting policy election not to offset.
ii. Do not meet some or all of the guidance in either Section 210-20-
45 or Section 815-10-45.

2. The amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral).

The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c).

a tabular format, separately for assets and liabilities, unless another format is
more appropriate. The total amount disclosed in accordance with paragraph
210-20-50-3(d) for an instrument shall not exceed the amount disclosed in
accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) for that instrument.

50-5 An entity shall provide a description of the rights of setoff associated with
an entity’s recognized assets and recognized liabilities subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement disclosed in

accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(d), including the nature of those rights.

50-6 If the information required by paragraphs 210-20-50-1 through 50-5 is
disclosed in more than a single note to the financial statements, an entity shall
cross-reference between those notes.
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* > Disclosure of Quantitative Information for Recognized Assets and Liabilities
within the Scope of Paragraph 210-20-50-1

55-6 Instruments disclosed in accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3 may be
subject to different measurement attributes (for example, a payable related to a
repurchase agreement may be measured at amortized cost, while a derivative
will be measured at fair value). An entity should include instruments at their
recognized amounts and describe any resulting measurement differences in the
related disclosures.

* > Disclosure of the Gross Amounts of Recognized Assets and Liabilities

55-7 The disclosures required by paragraph 210-20-50-3(a) relate solely to
recognized assets and liabilities within the scope of paragraph 210-20-50-1.

« > Disclosure of the Amounts Offset in Accordance with Sections 210-20-45
and 815-10-45

55-8 Paragraph 210-20-50-3(b) requires that entities disclose the amounts
offset in accordance with Sections 210-20-45 and 815-10-45 to determine the
net amounts presented in the statement of financial position. The amounts of
both the recognized assets and the recognized liabilities subject to setoff under
the same arrangement will be disclosed in the respective tables; however, the
amounts included in the tables are limited to the amount that is subject to
setoff. For example, an entity may have a recognized derivative asset and
recognized derivative liability that meet the offsetting guidance in Section 815-
10-45. If the gross amount of the derivative asset is larger than the gross
amount of the derivative liability, the asset disclosure table will include the
entire amount of the derivative asset and the entire amount of the derivative
liability. The liability disclosures table, however, will include the entire amount of
the derivative liability, but it will only include the amount of the derivative asset
equal to the amount of the derivative liability.

« > Disclosure of the Net Amounts Presented in the Statement of Financial
Position

55-9 If an entity has instruments that meet the scope of the disclosures but that
do not meet the offsetting guidance in either Section 210-20-45 or Section 815-
10-45 or that management does not elect to offset, the amounts required to be
disclosed by paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) would equal the amounts required to be
disclosed by paragraph 210-20-50-3(a).

55-10 The amounts required by paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) must be reconciled
to the individual line item amount(s) presented in the statement of financial
position. For example, if an entity determines that the aggregation or
disaggregation of individual financial statement line items provides more
relevant information, it must reconcile the aggregated or disaggregated
amounts disclosed in accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) to the
statement of financial position.

55-10A An entity also may elect to include all recognized derivatives accounted
for in accordance with Topic 815, including bifurcated embedded derivatives,
repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities
borrowing and securities lending transactions in the scope of paragraph 210-
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20-50-1 to reconcile to the individual line-item amount(s) presented in the
statement of financial position. For instruments not subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement, the amounts disclosed in
accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(a) would equal the amounts disclosed
for those instruments in accordance with both paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) and
paragraph 210-20-50-3(e).

* > Disclosure of Amounts Subject to an Enforceable Master Netting
Arrangement or Similar Agreement Not Otherwise Included in Paragraph 210-
20-50-3(b)

55-11 Paragraph 210-20-50-3(d) requires that entities disclose other amounts
for instruments that are within the scope of paragraph 210-20-50-1 but are not
included in paragraph 210-20-50-3(b). These amounts include those that meet
the guidance in either Section 210-20-45 or Section 815-10-45 to qualify for
offsetting but management elects not to offset.

55-12 An entity should also disclose the fair value amounts related to cash or
financial instrument collateral received or pledged (see paragraph 210-20-50-

3(d)(2)).
* > Limits on the Amounts Disclosed in Paragraph 210-20-50-3(d)

55-13 When disclosing amounts in accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(d),
an entity must take into account the effect of overcollateralization by instrument.
To do so, an entity must first deduct the amounts disclosed in accordance with
paragraph 210-20-50-3(d)(1) from the amount disclosed in accordance with
paragraph 210-20-50-3(c). An entity should then limit the amounts disclosed in
accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(d)(2) to the remaining amount for the
related instrument. However, if rights to collateral can be enforced across
financial instruments, such rights may be included in the disclosure provided in
accordance with 210-20-50-3(d).

« > Description of the Rights of Setoff Subject to Enforceable Master Netting
Arrangements and Similar Agreements

55-14 An entity should describe the types of rights of setoff and similar
agreements disclosed in accordance with paragraph 210-20-50-3(d), including
the nature of those rights. For example, for a conditional right of setoff, an entity
should describe the related condition(s). For any financial collateral received or
pledged, an entity should describe the terms of the collateral agreement (for
example, when the collateral is restricted).

* > Disclosure by Type of Financial Instrument or by Counterparty

55-15 The disclosures required by paragraph 210-20-50-3(a) through (e) may
be grouped by type of instrument or transaction (for example, derivatives,
repurchase and reverse agreements, and securities borrowing and lending
agreements).

55-16 Alternatively, an entity may group the information required by paragraph
210-20-50-3(a) through (c) by type of instrument and paragraph 210-20-50-3(c)
through (e) by counterparty. If an entity provides the required information by
counterparty, the entity is not required to identify the counterparties by name.
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However, designation of the counterparties (Counterparty A, Counterparty B,
Counterparty C, and so forth) should remain consistent from year to year to
maintain comparability, and qualitative disclosures should be considered to give
further information about the types of counterparties. When disclosure of the
amounts in paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) through (e) is provided by counterparty,
the amounts related to individually significant counterparties with respect to
total counterparty amounts should be separately disclosed, and the remaining
individually insignificant counterparties should be aggregated into one line item.

« > Other Considerations

55-17 The disclosures required by paragraphs 210-20-50-3 through 50-5 are
minimum requirements, and to meet the objective in paragraph 210-20-50-2 an
entity may need to supplement the disclosures with additional (qualitative)
disclosures depending on the terms of the enforceable master netting
arrangements and related agreements, including the nature of the rights of
setoff and their effect or potential effect on the entity’s financial position.

55-18 An entity should present the disclosures in a manner that clearly explains
to users of its financial statements the nature of rights of setoff and related
arrangements and their effect on the entity’s assets and liabilities in the scope
of paragraph 210-20-50-1 and its financial position. An entity should determine
how much detail it must provide to satisfy the disclosure requirements. The
entity must strike a balance between obscuring important information because
of excessive aggregation and obscuring important information because of
excessive detail that may not help users of financial statements to understand
the entity’s financial position. For example, an entity should not disclose
information that is so aggregated that it obscures important differences
between the different types of rights of setoff or related arrangements.

Subtopic 210-20 requires quantitative disclosures for offsetting of derivatives,
repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions. Its objective is to
allow users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of
netting arrangements on an entity’s balance sheet, including the effect of rights
of setoff as discussed in section 3.4.10. See section 11.4.20 of KPMG
Handbook, Transfers and servicing of financial assets, for additional disclosure
considerations related to offsetting of repurchase and reverse repurchase
agreements. [210-20-50-1 — 50-2]

The following table summarizes the required disclosures and related
implementation guidance. [210-20-50-3]

Disclosures for offsetting of derivatives, repurchase | Implementation

agreements, and securities lending transactions guidance

Gross amounts of recognized assets and recognized

liabilities 210-20-55-6 — 55-7

Amounts offset to determine the net amounts presented

on the balance sheet 210-20-55-8

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 210-20-55-9 — 55-10-A

Amounts subject to an enforceable master netting 210-20-55-11 — 55-14

arrangement or similar agreement
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Disclosures for offsetting of derivatives, repurchase | Implementation

agreements, and securities lending transactions guidance

The net amount after deducting the amounts subject to
an enforceable master netting or similar arrangement n/a
from the net amounts presented on the balance sheet

The required disclosures are presented in a tabular format unless another
format is more appropriate. If the information is presented across notes, it is
cross-referenced between notes. [210-20-40-5 — 50-6]

Subtopic 210-20 also includes illustrative disclosure examples, which are
reproduced below.

> |llustrations

55-19 The following Examples illustrate ways to meet the quantitative
disclosure requirements in paragraphs 210-20-50-1 through 50-5 by type of
financial instrument or other derivative instrument.

« > Example 1: Disclosure by Type of Financial Instrument

55-20 In this Example, the reporting entity has entered into transactions subject
to an enforceable master netting arrangement or other similar agreement with
the following counterparties. The reporting entity has the following recognized
financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from those transactions that
meet the scope of the disclosure requirements in paragraph 210-20-50-1. This
Example has the following assumptions.

a. Counterparty A:

1. The reporting entity has a derivative asset (fair value of $100 million)
and a derivative liability (fair value of $80 million) with Counterparty A.
Assume that the entity qualifies for and makes an accounting policy
election to offset in accordance with Section 815-10-45. Cash collateral
also has been received from Counterparty A for a portion of the net
derivative asset ($10 million). The derivative liability and the cash
collateral received are set off against the derivative asset in the
statement of financial position, resulting in the presentation of a net
derivative asset of $10 million.

b. Counterparty B:

1. The reporting entity had entered into a sale and repurchase agreement
with Counterparty B that is accounted for as a collateralized borrowing.
The carrying value of the financial asset (bonds) used as collateral and
held by the reporting entity for the transaction is $79 million, and their
fair value is $85 million. The carrying value of the collateralized
borrowing (repo payable) is $80 million.

2. The reporting entity also has entered into a reverse sale and
repurchase agreement with Counterparty B that is accounted for as a
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collateralized lending. The fair value of the asset (bonds) received as
collateral (and not recognized in the statement of financial position) is
$105 million. The carrying value of the secured lending (reverse repo
receivable) is $90 million.
3. Assume that the transactions are not offset.

Application of Paragraph 210-20-50-3(a)-(e)

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Derivative Assets

$ million
As of
December (v)=(iii)-
31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)~(ii) (iv) (iv)
Gross Amounts Not
Offset in the Statement of
Financial Position
Net Amounts
Gross of Assets
Amounts Presented in
Gross Offset in the the
Amounts of Statement of Statement of Cash
Recognized Financial Financial Financial Collateral Net
Assets Position Position Instruments Received Amount
Description
Derivatives $100 $(90) $ 10 - $- $10
Reverse
repurchase,
securities
borrowing,
and similar
arrangements 90 = 90 (90) = =
Total $190 $(90) $100 $(90) $- $10
Offsetting of Financial Liabilities and Derivative Liabilities
$ million
As of
December (v)=(iii)-
31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)~(ii) (iv) (iv)
Gross Amounts Not
Offset in the Statement
of Financial Position
Net
Amounts
of
Liabilities
Gross Presented
Amounts in the
Gross Offset in the Statement
Amounts of Statement of of Cash
Recognized Financial Financial Financial Collateral Net
Liabilities Position Position Instruments Pledged Amount
Description
Derivatives $ 80 $(80) $ - $ - $- $-
Repurchase,
securities
lending, and
similar
arrangements 80 = 80 (80) = =
Total $160 $(80) $80 $(80) $- $-
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» > Example 2: Disclosure by Type of Financial Instrument and Type of
Counterparty

55-21 The following table illustrates how an entity might provide the quantitative
disclosure requirements in paragraph 210-20-50-3(a) through (c) by type of
instrument and the information required in paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) through
(e) by counterparty.

Application of Paragraph 210-20-50-3(a)-(c) by Instrument and Paragraph
210-20-50-3(c)-(e) by Counterparty

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Derivative Assets

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)~(ii)
Gross Amounts Net Amounts of Assets
Offset in the Presented in the
Gross Amounts of Statement of Statement of Financial
Recognized Assets Financial Position Position
Description
Derivatives $100 $(90) $10
Reverse repurchase, securities
borrowing, and similar
arrangements 90 = 90
Total $190 $(90) $100

Financial Assets, Derivative Assets, and Collateral Held by Counterparty

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (iii) (iv) (v)=(iii)-(iv)
Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Statement of Financial Position
Net Amount of
Assets in the
Statement of Financial Cash Collateral
Financial Position Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty A $10 $ - $- $10
Counterparty B 90 (90) - -
Other
Total $100 $(90) $- $10

Application of Paragraph 210-20-50-3(a)-(c) by Instrument and Paragraph
210-20-50-3(c)-(e) by Counterparty

Offsetting of Financial Liabilities and Derivative Liabilities

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)-(ii)
Gross Amounts Net Amounts of
Gross Amounts Offset in the Liabilities Presented in
of Recognized Statement of the Statement of
Liabilities Financial Position Financial Position
Description
Derivatives $ 80 $(80) $-
Repurchase, securities
lending, and similar
arrangements 80 = 80
Total $160 $(80) $80
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Financial Liabilities, Derivative Liabilities, and Collateral Pledged by
Counterparty

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (iii) (iv) (v)=(iii)=(iv)
Gross Amounts Not Offset in
the Statement of Financial
Position
Net Amounts of
Liabilities
Presented in the
Statement of Cash
Financial Financial Collateral
Position Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty A $ - $ - $- $-
Counterparty B 80 (80) - -
Other
Total $80 $(80) $- -

» > Example 3: Sophisticated Entity Disclosure by Type of Financial Instrument
and Type of Counterparty

55-22 The following table illustrates how a sophisticated entity that engages in
significant derivative activity might provide the quantitative disclosure
requirements in paragraph 210-20-50-3(a) through (c) by type of instrument
and paragraph 210-20-50-3(c) through (e) by type of counterparty. In this
Example, the entity further disaggregates the derivative line item by type of
contract as discussed in paragraph 815-10-50-4D, with further disaggregation
based on how the derivative is transacted.

Application of Paragraph 210-20-50-3(a)-(c) by Instrument and Paragraph
210-20-50-3(c)-(e) by Counterparty

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Derivative Assets

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)~(ii)
Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts of
Amounts of Offset in the Assets Presented in
Recognized Statement of the Statement of
Assets Financial Position Financial Position
Description
Derivatives
Interest rate contracts
Over the counter BXX XXX BXX XXX BXX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Foreign exchange contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Equity contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Commaodity contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
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Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Credit contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Other contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX, XXX
Total derivatives, subject to
a master netting
arrangement or similar
arrangement XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total derivatives, not
subject to a master netting
arrangement or similar
arrangement XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Total derivatives XX, XXX XX, XXX XX XXX
Reverse repurchase, securities
borrowing, and similar
arrangements XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX

Financial Assets, Derivative Assets, and Collateral Held by Counterparty

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (iii) (iv) (v)=(iii)-(iv)
Gross Amounts Offset in the
Statement of Financial
Position
Net Amount of
Assets in the Cash
Statement of Financial Collateral

Financial Position Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty A SXX XXX FXX, XXX SXX XXX SXX XXX
Counterparty B XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Other XX XXX XX XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX

Application of Paragraph 210-20-50-3(a)-(c) by Instrument and Paragraph
210-20-50-3(c)-(e) by Counterparty

Offsetting of Financial Liabilities and Derivative Liabilities

$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (i) (ii) (iii)=(i)-(ii)
Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts of
Amounts of Offset in the Liabilities Presented in
Recognized Statement of the Statement of
Liabilities Financial Position Financial Position
Description
Derivatives
Interest rate contracts
Over the counter BXX XXX BXX XXX BXX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Foreign exchange contracts
Over the counter XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
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Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Equity contracts
Over the counter XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Commaodity contracts
Over the counter XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Credit contracts
Over the counter XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Other contracts
Over the counter XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange traded XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Exchange cleared XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Total derivatives, subject to
a master netting
arrangement or similar
arrangement XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total derivatives, not
subject to a master netting
arrangement or similar
arrangement XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total derivatives XX XXX XX XXX XX, XXX
Reverse repurchase, securities
borrowing, and similar
arrangement XX, XXX XX XXX XX, XXX
Total SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX
Financial Liabilities, Derivative Liabilities, and Collateral Held by
Counterparty
$ million
As of December 31, 20XX (iii) (iv) (v)=(iii)-(iv)
Gross Amounts Not Offset in
the Statement of Financial
Position
Net Amount of
Liabilities in the Cash
Statement of Financial Collateral
Financial Position Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty A SXX XXX FXX, XXX SXX XXX SXX XXX
Counterparty B XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX XX XXX
Other XX XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX SXX, XXX
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4. Income statement

Detailed contents

New item added in this edition: **
Item significantly updated in this edition: #

41 How the standard works
4.2 Overview
Questions

4210 Where is the income statement industry guidance located in
the Codification?

4.2.20 Where is the income statement industry guidance located in
SEC guidance?

4.3 Format of the income statement
4.3.10 Required captions
4.3.20 General classification principles
4.3.30 Offsetting
4.3.40 Subtotals
Questions

4.3.10 Are specific income statement captions required for
nonpublic entities?

4.3.20 What captions are presented separately in a registrant’s
income statement?

4.3.30 Can income statement captions be disaggregated?
4.3.40 How are the income statement captions ordered?

4.3.50 How does an investor present equity in earnings of equity
method investees?

4.3.60 Is income or loss attributable to common stock reported in
the income statement?

4.3.70 What are considerations when aggregating individual items
in one caption?

4.3.80 What is the meaning of operating?
4.3.90 Can items of income and expense be offset?
4.3.100 Can subtotals be presented in the income statement?

4.3.110 Can income before depreciation, depletion and amortization
(DD&A) be presented?
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Unusual or infrequently occurring items
4.410 Unusual items defined

4.4.20 Financial effects of unusual items
4.4.30 Presentation and disclosures
Questions

4.4.10 What are unusual items?

4.4.20 Is a natural disaster considered an unusual item?
4.4.30 Is a global macroeconomic event considered an unusual
item? #

4.4.40 How are the financial effects of a natural disaster
determined?

4.4.60 How are unusual items presented?
4470 How are unusual items described?

4.4.80 What other disclosures may be relevant for unusual or
infrequently occurring items?

4.4.90 Can a registrant adjust unusual items in non-GAAP financial
measures?

Revenue and other income classification issues

4510 Lease income

4.5.20 Government grants and subsidies

4.5.30 Gain contingencies and insurance recoveries

Questions

4510 What is the difference between revenue and other income?
4.5.20 How is lease income presented in the income statement?

4.5.30 How are government grants presented in the income
statement of a business entity?

4.5.40 How are gain contingencies and insurance recoveries
presented in the income statement?

4.5.50 How are the proceeds from business interruption insurance
presented in the income statement?

Expense classification issues
Questions
4.6.10 Are expenses presented by nature or function?

4.6.20 How is the cost of sales caption presented if it excludes
DD&A?

4.6.30 Which caption includes stock-based compensation
expense?
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4.6.40 How is bad debt expense presented in the income
statement?

4.6.50 How are impairment losses of nonfinancial assets presented
in the income statement? #

4.6.60 How are exit or disposal costs presented in the income
statement?

4.6.70 Can litigation expenses arising from cases with shareholders
be reported outside of operating expenses?

Example

4.6.10 Depreciation and depletion as a separate caption
4.7 Other classification issues

Questions

4.7.10 How are gains and losses from involuntary conversions
presented in the income statement?

4.7.20 How are gains and losses on the sale of a business that is
not a discontinued operation presented in the income
statement?

4.7.30 How are gains and losses on the remeasurement and sale of
crypto intangible assets presented in the income
statement? **
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How the standard works

The income statement, also referred to as the statement of activities or
operations, is one of the statements required in a full set of financial statements.
It provides a measure of the performance of the entity’s operations, excluding
items of OCI (see chapter 5). While the income statement is often presented as
a part of a single continuous statement of comprehensive income along with
OCl, it may also be presented in a stand-alone statement.

Subtopic 220-10 contains the general presentation and disclosure requirements
for the statement of comprehensive income but is not prescriptive on the format
of the income statement itself. Other Codification Topics, including industry
specific topics and Reg S-X for registrants, provide more specific guidance in
this area.

This chapter addresses the presentation requirements specific to the income
statement only — either as a stand-alone statement or as part of a statement of
comprehensive income. Chapter 5 addresses the formatting requirements for
the statement of comprehensive income and the components of OCI. Other
general presentation requirements applicable to all financial statements (e.g.
number of comparative periods, comparability, chronological ordering) are
addressed in chapter 2.
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Overview

20 Glossary
Net Income

A measure of financial performance resulting from the aggregation of revenues,
expenses, gains, and losses that are not items of other comprehensive
income. A variety of other terms such as net earnings or earnings may be used
to describe net income.

* > Components within Net Income

45-7 |ltems included in net income are presented in various components. Those
components can include items of income from continuing operations and
discontinued operations. This Subtopic does not change those components or
other requirements for reporting the results of operations included in net
income.

45-7A Net income shall reflect all items of profit and loss recognized during the
period with the sole exception of error corrections as addressed in Topic 250.
However, the requirement that net income be presented as one amount does
not apply to the following entities that have developed income statements with
formats different from those of the typical commercial entity:

a. Investment companies
b. Insurance entities
c. Certain not-for-profit entities (NFPs).

Net income is the measure of financial performance that reflects all items of
profit and loss recognized during the period — i.e. revenues, expenses, gains
and losses that are not items of OCI — except for error corrections in the scope
of Topic 250. [220-10 Glossary]

The income statement presents net income and its various components.
However, it is acceptable for the following types of entities to not present a net
income amount because their income statement is formatted differently from
that of typical commercial entities: investment companies, insurance entities and
certain NFPs (see Question 4.2.10). [220-10-45-7A]

Subtopic 220-10 requires separate subtotals for continuing operations and
discontinued operations but is otherwise silent about other formatting aspects of
the income statement, such as required captions, disaggregation, ordering and
subtotals. However, additional guidance is provided in other general or industry
Codification Topics. [220-10-45-7]
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For registrants, Reg S-X has certain additional requirements. Unless otherwise
stated, the SEC requirements discussed in this Handbook address commercial
and industrial registrants.

Section 5.3.40 includes an example income statement.

Question 4.2.10

Where is the income statement industry guidance
located in the Codification?

Interpretive response: The industry guidance in the Codification relevant to
income statement presentation is summarized in the following table.

Industry ‘ Subtopic reference
Contractors — federal government 912-220
Extractive activities — oil and gas 932-220
Financial services — depository and lending 942-220
Financial services — insurance 944-220
Financial services — investment companies 946-220
Health care entities 954-220
NFP entities 958-220

Question 4.2.20

Where is the income statement industry guidance
located in SEC guidance?

Interpretive response: Reg S-X Article 5 prescribes the minimum requirements
for commercial and industrial registrants. The SEC industry guidance relevant to
income statement (statement of comprehensive income) presentation for other
types of entities is summarized in the following table.

Industry ‘ Reference

Registered investment companies S-X Article 6

Employee stock purchase, savings, and similar plans S-X Article 6A

Insurance companies S-X Article 7
Bank holding companies and banks S-X Article 9
Brokers and dealers when filing Form X-17A-5 Reg § 240.17a-5

In addition, Reg S-X Article 8 prescribes the form and content of financial
statements for ‘smaller reporting companies’ (as defined by Reg S-X).
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Format of the income statement

Required captions

Question 4.3.10

Are specific income statement captions required for
nonpublic entities?

Interpretive response: Yes. Subtopic 220-10 requires that the components of
net income be shown but does not list which components. However, other
Codification Topics require certain financial statement captions to be separately
presented in the income statement if applicable — for example:

e goodwill impairment loss. See section 10.2 of KPMG Handbook, Impairment
of nonfinancial assets; [350-20-45-2 — 45-3]

e an investor’s share of profit or loss from equity-method investees;
[323-10-35-4, 35-18]

o discontinued operations. See section 6.3 of KPMG Handbook, Discontinued
operations and held-for-sale disposal groups; [205-20-45-3 — 45-3B]

¢ net income attributable to NCI. [810-10-50-1A(a)]

In addition, some other Codification Topics provide an option for certain
captions to be either separately presented in the income statement or disclosed
— for example:

¢ revenue from contract with customers; [606-10-50-4]
e income arising from leases. [842-30-45-3]

In our experience, the income statement of nonpublic entities is generally
presented similar to that of registrants (see Question 4.3.20).

Question 4.3.20

What captions are presented separately in a registrant’s
income statement?

Interpretive response: In addition to the requirements in the Codification (see
Question 4.3.10), Reg S-X contains a list of captions (known as ‘major captions’
and ‘subcaptions’) required in an income statement for commercial and
industrial registrants. The distinction between major captions and subcaptions is
important when the registrant is presenting condensed interim financial
statements (see Question 10.3.70). [S-X Rule 5-03]

The following table lists these requirements for commercial and industrial
registrants; see Appendix for a full excerpt. Question 4.2.20 discusses the
location of SEC guidance for other types of entities.
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Disclosures

Major caption Subcaptions related to

Net sales and gross revenues | Related-party transactions and | Excise taxes
any of the following revenue
categories that exceed 10% of
total revenues:

e Net sales of tangible
products (gross sales less
discounts, returns and
allowances)

¢ Revenues from services

¢ Income from rentals

e  Operating revenues of
public utilities

e  Other revenues

Costs and expenses Costs and expenses related to | --
applicable to sales and each subcaption of revenues
revenues presented

Other operating costs and Any material amounts not -
expenses included under the above

‘costs and expenses
applicable to sales and
revenues’ caption

Selling, general and -- -
administrative expenses
(SG&A)

Provision for doubtful - -
accounts and notes

Other general expenses -- -

Nonoperating income Amounts earned from:" Transactions in

e Dividends securities of related
parties and material
miscellaneous
other income

e |Interest on securities
e  Profits on securities (net

of losses)
e Miscellaneous other
income
Interest and amortization of - -
debt discount and expense
Nonoperating expenses Amounts of:’ Material
 Losses on securities (net | Miscellaneous
expenses

of profits)
e Miscellaneous expenses

Income or loss before - -
income tax expense and
appropriate items below
(subtotal)

Income tax expense - -
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Equity in earnings of
unconsolidated subsidiaries
and 50% or less owned
entities

Financial statement presentation

Subcaptions

Amount of dividends received
from such entities
(parenthetically)’

4. Income statement

Disclosures
related to

Income or loss from
continuing operations
(subtotal)

Discontinued operations

Net income or loss
(subtotal)

Net income attributable to the
noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to
the controlling interest
(subtotal)

Earnings per share?

Notes:

1. Can be presented in the income statement or in the notes.

2. Rule 5-03 contains a few additional captions between net income attributable to
the controlling interest and earnings per share data. These additional captions
(omitted in this table) pertain to presentation of comprehensive income and OCI,
which are explained in chapter 5. An entity presenting just an income statement
(i.e. no OCI) would omit these additional captions.

Question 4.3.30

Can income statement captions be disaggregated?

Interpretive response: Yes. US GAAP does not preclude disaggregation
beyond required captions and subcaptions (see Questions 4.3.10 and 4.3.20).

We believe other appropriate captions are permissible if they are not misleading

and do not obscure the financial information (see Question 2.4.80).

For example, the SEC staff has indicated that when disaggregating elements of

cost of sales or SG&A, such as technology costs, registrants must make clear
which required caption the disaggregated amount relates to (e.g. a particular
cost of sales subcaption or SG&A) such that investors can interpret relevant
measures like gross margin. [2021 AICPA Conf]
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Question 4.3.40

How are the income statement captions ordered?

Interpretive response: Reg S-X Rule 5-03 includes a list of required captions
and a general order of the captions. Subtopic 220-10 includes example income
statements (see section 5.3.40). While there is some flexibility in the order in
which captions are presented, the presentation cannot be misleading.

For example, in our experience, many commercial and industrial registrants
present revenues and cost of sales together with a subtotal for gross margin.
Other entities may present revenue and other income followed by operating
expenses and other expenses or losses.

See Question 4.3.50 for ordering considerations relating to the earnings of an
equity method investee.

Question 4.3.50

How does an investor present equity in earnings of
equity method investees?

Interpretive response: For commercial and industrial registrants, Reg S-X
requires equity in earnings of equity method investees to be presented as a
separate caption after the income tax expense caption, but before discontinued
operations. To understand exceptions to this rule and implication on the
presentation of related income tax, see Question 7.2.50 in KPMG Handbook,
Equity method of accounting. [S-X Rule 5-03(b)]

In our experience, nonpublic entities’ income statement presentation typically is
similar to that of registrants; however, other presentations may be acceptable.

Question 4.3.60

Is income or loss attributable to common stock reported
in the income statement?

Accounting Series Release 280—General Revision Of Regulation S-X:
Income Or Loss Applicable To Common Stock

Facts: A registrant has various classes of preferred stock. Dividends on those
preferred stocks and accretions of their carrying amounts cause income
applicable to common stock to be less than reported net income.
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Question: In ASR 280, the Commission stated that although it had determined
not to mandate presentation of income or loss applicable to common stock in all
cases, it believes that disclosure of that amount is of value in certain situations.
In what situations should the amount be reported, where should it be reported,
and how should it be computed?

Interpretive Response: Income or loss applicable to common stock should be
reported on the face of the income statement' when it is materially different in
quantitative terms from reported net income or loss? or when it is indicative of
significant trends or other qualitative considerations. The amount to be reported
should be computed for each period as net income or loss less: (a) dividends
on preferred stock, including undeclared or unpaid dividends if cumulative; and
(b) periodic increases in the carrying amounts of instruments reported as
redeemable preferred stock (as discussed in Topic 3.C) or increasing rate
preferred stock (as discussed in Topic 5.Q).

" When a registrant reports net income and total comprehensive income in one
continuous financial statement, the registrant must continue to follow the
guidance set forth in the SAB Topic. One approach may be to provide a
separate reconciliation of net income to income available to common stock
below comprehensive income reported on a statement of income and
comprehensive income.

2 The assessment of materiality is the responsibility of each registrant.
However, absent concerns about trends or other qualitative considerations, the
staff generally will not insist on the reporting of income or loss applicable to
common stock if the amount differs from net income or loss by less than ten
percent.

Interpretive response: It depends. Income or loss attributable to common
stock is reported in the income statement when it is materially different in
quantitative terms from reported net income or loss or when it is indicative of
significant trends or other qualitative considerations. [SAB Topic 6.8]

General classification principles

In general, each income statement caption represents a similar class of items.
Captions are relatively consistent across each industry. This enables financial
statement users to compare similar transactions across similar entities. [CON
8.PR39]
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Question 4.3.70

What are considerations when aggregating individual
items in one caption?

Interpretive response: To increase its relevance and usefulness, each caption
should include only a homogenous class of items. When determining the

individual items to include in each income statement caption, consider: [CON
8.PR40]

¢ the event that caused an item to be recognized — e.g. whether the event
was caused by a transaction, a change in circumstances or conditions, an
accounting adjustment like systematic allocation, or an accounting change;

e the activity with which an item is associated,;

e similarities and differences in the frequency with which similar items are
expected to result in similar amounts to be recognized in the future;

e the types of changes in economic conditions that can affect the cash flows
related to similar revenues, expenses, and gains or losses in the future; and

o similarities and differences in measurement methods.

Question 4.3.80

What is the meaning of operating?

Interpretive response: Neither SEC guidance nor the Codification define
operating, although the concept is used in both. For example, Reg S-X explicitly
refers to other operating costs and expenses and the Codification refers to

income from operations (i.e. operating income) as a possible subtotal. [360-10-45-
5, 410-30-45-4, 420-10-45-3]

Separating operating from nonoperating items helps financial statement users
understand the performance of an entity’s ongoing operations. The
determination of whether an item is operating or nonoperating is entity-specific
and requires judgment based on the circumstances of the entity and the event
or transaction.

In our experience, operating activities are often viewed as those activities that
are part of the entity’s ongoing operations. This view is from superseded FASB
Concepts Statement No. 6. Operating items generally include those that are
expected to recur. Conversely, nonoperating items are generally expected to not
recur frequently. In addition, Reg S-X provides specific examples of
nonoperating income and nonoperating expenses for commercial and industrial
registrants. [S-X Rule 5-03, CON 8.E87]
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Common classification practices and requirements are summarized below:

Operating items ‘ Nonoperating items

e revenue e dividends [S-X Rule 5-03]
e cost of sales e interest on securities

e R&D costs [S-X Rule 5-03]

e SG&A e net profits or losses on

e impairments of goodwill, intangible assets and securities [S-X Rule 5-03]

other long-lived assets (see Question 4.6.50)
[360-10-45-4]

e gain or loss on the sale of long-lived assets
[360-10-45-5]

e environmental remediation-related expenses and
corresponding recoveries [410-30-45-4]

e exit or disposal activities [420-10-45-3]

e asset retirement obligation accretion expense
[410-10 Glossary]

Offsetting

Question 4.3.90

Can items of income and expense be offset?

Interpretive response: It depends. While there is explicit general offsetting
guidance for balance sheet items (see section 3.4), the Codification is silent
about offsetting income statement items. In our experience, items of income and
expense are generally not offset unless:

e offsetting is required or permitted by another Codification Topic. For
example:

derivatives executed with the same counterparty under a master netting
arrangement may be offset; [815-10-45]

recoveries on environmental losses must be classified in the same
caption as the related loss; [410-30-45-4]

e the amounts relate to similar transactions or events that are not significant;

e the entity is being reimbursed for costs incurred outside a contract with a
customer, such as certain R&D expenses or transition services (see
Question 3.4.80 in KPMG Handbook, Research and development). When
determining if the entity is being reimbursed for costs incurred, we believe
all relevant facts and circumstances should be considered. We believe
Subtopic 410-30 (environmental obligations) may be applied by analogy to
perform this assessment; or
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e the entity is acting as an agent in the transaction. When determining if the
entity is acting as an agent or a principal in the transaction, all relevant facts
and circumstances should be considered. We believe Topic 606 (revenue
from customers) may be applied by analogy to perform this assessment.

Because transactions are generally presumed to be presented gross, we
believe entities should have a clear rationale for offsetting them and should
clearly disclose the facts surrounding the transactions. See Question 4.5.30 for
discussion about government grants and Question 4.5.40 for discussion about
business interruption insurance.

Subtotals

Question 4.3.100

Can subtotals be presented in the income statement?

Interpretive response: Yes, provided they are not non-GAAP measures and
that the terminology used to describe them is not misleading. Reg S-X requires
the use of certain subtotals, such as ‘Income or loss before income tax’ (see
Question 4.3.20). In our experience, both registrants and nonpublic entities
often use additional subtotals, such as gross margin, operating income, and
income from operations (see Question 4.3.80).

Subtotals that represent non-GAAP financial measures (e.g. EBIT or EBITDA)
may not be presented in the financial statements. A non-GAAP financial
measure is a numerical measure of an entity’s historical or future financial
performance, financial position or cash flows that is not determined under US
GAAP. See Question 2.4.20 and KPMG Issues in-depth, Non-GAAP financial
measures.

For a discussion of EBITDA, see Question 4.3.110. For a discussion of
operating income before restructuring charges or exit costs, see Question
4.6.60.
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Question 4.3.110

Can income before depreciation, depletion and
amortization (DD&A) be presented?

I_:\E Excerpt from SAB Topic 7.D

Income Before Depreciation

Facts: Occasionally an income statement format will contain a subtitle or
caption titled "Income before depreciation and depletion."

Question: Is this caption appropriate?

Interpretive Response: The staff objects to this presentation because in the
staff's view the presentation may suggest to the reader that the amount so
captioned represents cash flow for the period, which is rarely the case (see
ASR 142).

Interpretive response: No. For registrants, SEC guidance states that DD&A
may not be positioned in the income statement in a manner that presents
income before DD&A (e.g. EBITDA). [SAB Topic 7.D]

In our experience, nonpublic entities generally also do not present income
before DD&A.

Unusual or infrequently occurring items

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-20

20 Glossary
Infrequency of Occurrence

The underlying event or transaction should be of a type that would not
reasonably be expected to recur in the foreseeable future, taking into account
the environment in which the entity operates (see paragraph 220-20-60-1).

Unusual Nature

The underlying event or transaction should possess a high degree of
abnormality and be of a type clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to,
the ordinary and typical activities of the entity, taking into account the
environment in which the entity operates (see paragraph 220-20-60-1).
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> Presentation of Unusual or Infrequently Occurring Items

45-1 A material event or transaction that an entity considers to be of an
unusual nature or of a type that indicates infrequency of occurrence or both
shall be reported as a separate component of income from continuing
operations. The nature and financial effects of each event or transaction shall
be presented as a separate component of income from continuing operations
or, alternatively, disclosed in notes to financial statements (see paragraph 220-
20-50-1). Gains or losses of a similar nature that are not individually material
shall be aggregated. Such items shall not be reported on the face of the income
statement net of income taxes. Similarly, the EPS effects of those items shall
not be presented on the face of the income statement.

> Unusual or Infrequently Occurring ltems

50-1 The nature and financial effects of each event or transaction that is
unusual in nature or occurs infrequently or both shall be presented as a
separate component of income from continuing operations or, alternatively,
disclosed in notes to the financial statements.

> Implementation Guidance
* > Unusual Nature

55-1 The specific characteristics of the entity, such as type and scope of
operations, lines of business, and operating policies should be considered in
determining ordinary and typical activities of an entity. The environment in
which an entity operates is a primary consideration in determining whether an
underlying event or transaction is abnormal and significantly different from the
ordinary and typical activities of the entity. The environment of an entity
includes such factors as the characteristics of the industry or industries in which
it operates, the geographical location of its operations, and the nature and
extent of governmental regulation. Thus, an event or transaction may be
unusual in nature for one entity but not for another because of differences in
their respective environments. Unusual nature is not established by the fact
that an event or transaction is beyond the control of management.

* > Infrequency of Occurrence

55-2 For purposes of this Subtopic, an event or transaction of a type not
reasonably expected to recur in the foreseeable future is considered to occur
infrequently. Determining the probability of recurrence of a particular event or
transaction in the foreseeable future should take into account the environment
in which an entity operates. Accordingly, a specific transaction of one entity
might meet that criterion and a similar transaction of another entity might not
because of different probabilities of recurrence. The past occurrence of an
event or transaction for a particular entity provides evidence to assess the
probability of recurrence of that type of event or transaction in the foreseeable
future.

» > Events or Transactions That Are Unusual In Nature or Occur Infrequently

55-3 The following are illustrative of events or transactions that are unusual in
nature or occur infrequently:
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a. A large portion of a tobacco manufacturer's crops are destroyed by a halil
storm. Severe damage from hail storms in the locality where the
manufacturer grows tobacco is rare.

b. A steel fabricating entity sells the only land it owns. The land was acquired
10 years ago for future expansion, but shortly thereafter the entity
abandoned all plans for expansion and held the land for appreciation.

c. An earthquake destroys one of the oil refineries owned by a large
multinational oil entity.

Material events or transactions that are unusual or infrequently occurring
(referred to as unusual items throughout this chapter) are presented as a
separate component of income from continuing operations, in a way that
communicates their nature and financial effects. [220-20-45-1, 50-1]

The determination of whether an item is a material unusual item also affects
interim period income tax calculations. See section 10 of KPMG Handbook,
Accounting for income taxes, for more details about interim period tax
calculations.

Unusual items defined

Question 4.4.10

What are unusual items?

Interpretive response: An item is unusual when it results from a material

transaction or event that is either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.
[220-20-45-1]

Characteristics of the underlying event or

Category transaction

¢ high degree of abnormality
Unusual in nature e clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to,
the ordinary activities of the entity

e not reasonably expected to recur in the foreseeable

Infrequent in occurrence
future

This determination is entity-specific, and therefore an event or transaction might
be unusual or infrequently occurring for one entity and not for another. It
requires judgment by considering: [220-20-50-1 — 55-2]

e the ordinary activities of the entity — e.g. type and scope of operations, lines
of business and operating policies; and

¢ the environment in which the entity operates — e.g. industry, location and
regulatory environment.
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Question 4.4.20

Is a natural disaster considered an unusual item?

Interpretive response: It depends on the environment in which the entity
operates. Natural disasters (e.g. floods, fires, earthquakes) may be unusual or
infrequent in certain geographies, resulting in separate presentation in income
from continuing operations. However, in other geographies natural disasters
may be more common or less severe and would not warrant separate
presentation.

Subtopic 220-20 provides examples of events and transactions that are
considered unusual or infrequently occurring. [220-20-55-1 — 55-3]

Question 4.4.30#

Is a global macroeconomic event considered an unusual
item?

Interpretive response: It depends. The determination of whether an event is
considered unusual is entity-specific. However, a global macroeconomic event,
such as a global pandemic, could be considered an unusual item for many
entities. For example, we believe many entities may have considered COVID-19
an unusual item during much of 2020.

However, we believe that as the conditions created by the event persist, entities
may need to consider which aspects of the event are unusual and not expected
to recur. For example, a retailer may determine that a government lockdown
order is an unusual item, but operating stores under stricter cleaning and social
distancing protocols is not. This is because these new protocols have become
part of the new operating model for the foreseeable future and are likely to
recur.

For further discussion of macroeconomic events, see KPMG Handbook,
Accounting for economic disruption.

Financial effects of unusual items

Subtopic 220-20 is silent on how to determine the financial effects of unusual
items for separate presentation or disclosure (see section 4.4.30). Judgment is
required in this area.
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Question 4.4.40

How are the financial effects of a natural disaster
determined?

Interpretive response: We believe the financial effects of a natural disaster
should generally be limited to the losses and costs that are incremental and
directly attributable to the natural disaster. Assessing which losses and costs
are incremental and directly attributable to a natural disaster versus other
events, and should be reported separately, may require judgment.

Incremental and directly attributable losses and costs may include:

e physical destruction of property;

¢ losses on right-of-use assets for unusable leased facilities or equipment
(unusable refers to facilities or equipment that cannot be used due to
physical damage or constraints imposed by government or other
authoritative bodies);

¢ losses on advances, guarantees, receivables and loans to entities that are a
direct result of the natural disaster;

¢ losses on debt securities due to default or bankruptcy by entities that are a
direct result of the natural disaster;

e recreation of lost data;

¢ clean-up of facilities;

¢ relocation of operations.

We believe the financial effects of a natural disaster should not include:

e |ost revenues,
¢ interest expense or
e increases in valuation allowances on deferred tax assets.

We believe that the financial effects of a global pandemic may be assessed
similar to the effects of a natural disaster.

Presentation and disclosures

Question 4.4.60

How are unusual items presented?

Interpretive response: Unusual items are presented as a separate caption in
income from continuing operations. Gains or losses of a similar nature are
aggregated if they are not individually material. [220-20-45-1]

The nature and financial effects of each unusual item can be described either as
a separate caption in income from continuing operations or, alternatively, in the
notes. [220-20-50-1]
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Unusual or infrequently occurring items cannot be presented in the income
statement net of income taxes. Similarly, the EPS effects of those items cannot
be presented in the income statement. [220-20-45-1]

Registrants also consider the requirements in Reg S-X for commercial and
industrial registrants. The regulation allows registrants to disaggregate material
amounts as a separate caption(s) in the income statement subject to clear
disclosure of the nature of those costs (see Question 4.3.30). However, certain
costs are expected to be part of cost of sales or SG&A, when they relate to
activities historically included in those captions (see Question 4.3.20). For
example, we believe inventory markdowns are expected to be part of cost of
sales and should be included in gross margin and operating income if those
subtotals are presented, whereas inventory destroyed in a natural disaster may
qualify as an unusual item (see Question 4.6.50). [S-X Rule 5-03]

Question 4.4.70

How are unusual items described?

Interpretive response: While specific terminology is not required to describe an
unusual transaction, it cannot be described as extraordinary or exceptional. US
GAAP previously included a caption for extraordinary events to describe events
that were both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. However, that
caption was eliminated and cannot be used any longer. [ASU 2015-01]

Question 4.4.80

What other disclosures may be relevant for unusual or
infrequently occurring items?

Interpretive response: An entity may need to provide disclosures in addition to
those in Subtopic 220-20 to enable financial statement users to evaluate the
financial effects resulting from the occurrence of unusual items. Additional
disclosures may include:

e the amounts of any related insurance recoveries;

e a description of contingencies from the event that have not yet been
recognized in the financial statements but for which there is a reasonable
possibility of financial statement impact; [450-20-50-3, 450-30-50-1]

« the amount of exposure to credit losses and how that risk was evaluated;
[326-20-50-4]

e the potential loss of customer base and the related revenue recognition;
[275-10-50-18(a)]

e major disruptions in supply chain that affect inventory; [275-10-50-18(c)]

e additional information regarding significant estimates and uncertainties
related to the event that may impact the financial statements (see Question
7.7.50). [275-10-50-6]
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Question 4.4.90

Can a registrant adjust unusual items in non-GAAP
financial measures?

Interpretive response: It depends. A registrant may not present in an SEC
filing a non-GAAP performance measure that eliminates or smooths items
identified as nonrecurring, infrequent or unusual: [S-K Item 10(e)(ii)(B)]

e when the nature of the charge or gain makes it reasonably likely to recur
within two years; or

e there was a similar charge or gain within the prior two years (i.e. the item is
considered recurring).

For further discussion, see section 3.8.20 of KPMG Issues In-Depth, Non-GAAP
financial measures.

Revenue and other income classification issues

Question 4.5.10

What is the difference between revenue and other
income?

B Excerpt from ASC 606-10

20 Glossary
Revenue

Inflows or other enhancements of assets of an entity or settlements of its
liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing goods,
rendering services, or other activities that constitute the entity’s ongoing major
or central operations.

FE Excerpt from FASB Concepts Statement No. 8

E80. Revenues are inflows or other enhancements of assets of an entity or
settlements of its liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or
producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities.

E82. Gains are increases in equity (net assets) from transactions and other
events and circumstances affecting an entity except those that result from
revenues or investments by owners.
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E84. Revenues and expenses result from delivering or producing goods,
rendering services, or carrying out other activities. Other activities, as
referenced in the definitions of revenues and expenses in this chapter, are
those activities that permit others to use the entity’s resources, which, for
example, result in interest, rent, royalties, and fees. Other activities also include
charitable contributions received and made.

E85. Gains and losses typically result from one of the following three
circumstances:

a. Nonreciprocal transactions or events such as natural catastrophes
b. Exchange transactions
c. Holding gains and losses.

Additionally, current updates or adjustments of estimates of prior periods are
often referred to in practice as gains and losses. These are not gains and
losses; they are adjustments to previously recognized revenues, expenses,
gains, or losses that should be reported as initially recognized.

E86. Nonreciprocal transactions or events are generally distinguishable from
revenues and expenses. Holding gains and losses can be a result of a
contractual change in value of an asset or a liability from a passage of time, as
is the case of interest, or a change in the value of the asset or liability. Those
value changes would be distinguished between those that are classified as
revenues and expenses or those that are classified as gains and losses.
Distinctions between revenues and gains and expenses and losses from
exchange transactions of an entity depend to a significant extent on the nature
of the entity and the activity with which an item is associated. An identical item
can be used by entities differently. As a result, the proceeds from the sale of an
asset may be revenue for one entity and may be a factor in determining gain or
loss for another. For example, the proceeds from the sale of a machine
displayed as inventory would be considered revenue, and the cost of that
machine would be considered an expense. However, the proceeds from the
sale of a machine used by an entity in a productive capacity would not be
considered revenue, and the entity would report a gain or a loss upon
disposition of that machine to be consistent with the representations in the
statement of financial position.

E87. The difference between items recognized as a result of transactions,
especially routine transactions that result in recognizing revenues or expenses,
and those recognized from other events and circumstances is fundamental in
meeting the objective of providing information to help resource providers
assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of potential future cash flows. Gains
and losses also can provide useful information about a particular activity even
though gains and losses in similar amounts would not be expected to reoccur
frequently or at all.

FASB Concepts Statement No. 8 (CON 8) distinguishes revenues from gains.
The term gains is used to describe all other positive changes in net assets

flowing through comprehensive income that are not revenues. [606-10 Glossary,
CON 8.E82]
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In this chapter, we refer to revenues and gains collectively as sources of
income. In our experience, the term other income rather than gains is generally
used to describe sources of income other than revenues, as depicted in the
below diagram. [610-10-05-1]

: : Revenue I : Other income I
| |
|1 . ! " i |
1l Revenue_ln scope BT YRR P O_peratlng Nor_10perat|ng |
1| of Topic 606 ! income income |
Il . I
|

CON 8 provides a broad framework to distinguish revenue from other income
and the Codification defines ‘revenue’ as outputs from the entity’s ongoing major
or central operations. In our experience, the determination of revenue versus
other income depends on the entity’s business model and the frequency with
which the transactions recur. [606-10 Glossary, CON 8.E80, E84 — E87]

Revenue

Revenue transactions in the scope of Topic 606 are those in which the entity
contracts with a customer to provide goods or services that are outputs of its
ordinary activities in exchange for consideration. [606-10-15-2 — 15-3]

Sources of income outside the scope of Topic 606 are presented as other
revenue in the income statement if they otherwise meet the definition of
revenue. [606-10-15-2]

The different sources of revenue (i.e. those in the scope of Topic 606 versus
those that are not) are presented separately in the income statement or
disclosed in the notes. See Question 4.3.20 for additional requirements
applicable to registrants. [606-10-50-4]

For detailed guidance about the scope of Topic 606 and presentation of
revenue, see sections 2.2 and 14.7 of KPMG Handbook, Revenue recognition.

Other income

Sources of income that are not revenue are presented as other income, unless
it is appropriate in the circumstances to offset them against related expenses
(see Question 4.3.90). Other income typically results from nonreciprocal
transactions, exchange transactions or holding gains — e.g. gain from the sale of
a long-lived asset, gain on the involuntary conversion of a nonmonetary asset to

monetary assets resulting from destruction in a natural disaster. [CON 8.E85, 610-
20-15-2, 610-30-15-2]

Other income can be either operating income or nonoperating income, if such a
distinction is provided in the income statement. As discussed in Question

4.3.80, operating is not defined in US GAAP. However: [CON 8.E82, E84 — E87, S-X
Rule 5-03(b)(7)]

e operating items generally include those items that are expected to recur as
part of the entity’s ongoing operations, such as gains on the disposal of
long-lived assets (e.g. property, plant and equipment).
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e nonoperating items are generally expected to not recur frequently. For
commercial and industrial registrants, nonoperating income also includes
dividends received, interest earned on securities, net profits on securities
and miscellaneous other income (see Question 4.3.20).

Lease income

Question 4.5.20

How is lease income presented in the income
statement?

Interpretive response: Presentation of lease income depends on the nature of
the lease and the lessor’s business model. Additionally, registrants present
lease income separately in the income statement when it exceeds 10% of total
revenue (see Question 4.3.20). [S-X Rule 5-03]

Sales-type and direct financing leases

Lessors present selling profit or loss recognized at lease commencement on
sales-type and direct financing leases in a manner that best reflects the lessor’s
business model — i.e. on a gross (revenue and cost of goods sold) or net (in a
single line-item) basis. [842-30-45-4]

Interest income earned on those leases (see section 7.3.2 of KPMG Handbook,
Leases) is presented in the same manner as any other interest income.

Lease income is presented separately in the income statement or in the notes. If
only disclosed separately in the notes, the disclosure includes reference to the
caption in which lease income is included. [842-30-45-3]

Operating leases

Topic 842 does not provide any income statement presentation guidance for
operating lease income. We believe operating lease income should be
presented as revenue if leasing constitutes the entity’s ongoing major or central
operations.

Section 7.7 of KPMG Handbook, Leases, addresses lessor financial statement
presentation more broadly.
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Government grants and subsidies

Question 4.5.30

How are government grants presented in the income
statement of a business entity?

Background: There is currently limited explicit US GAAP guidance about how a
business entity should account for government grants. Unless specific guidance
applies, business entities should consider the most appropriate guidance to
apply by analogy given the facts and circumstances — e.g. by analogizing to the
grant guidance in IFRS Accounting Standards (IAS 20), to Subtopic 958-605
(NFPs), or to Subtopic 450-30 (gain contingencies). If the transaction is in the
scope of Topic 606 because the government is a customer in the transaction,
the transaction is not a government grant. [606-10-15-3]

Interpretive response: We do not believe government grants should be
presented as revenue from contracts with customers. In our experience,
business entities typically present government grants as other income or a
reduction of the related expense, which are policy choices allowed under IAS
20. [IAS 20.29 - 31]

Regardless of the presentation used, Topic 832 (government assistance)
requires disclosures for certain government assistance, including the income
statement captions affected and the amounts of assistance. [832-10-50-3]

Gain contingencies and insurance recoveries

Question 4.5.40

How are gain contingencies and insurance recoveries
presented in the income statement?

Interpretive response: The presentation of gain contingencies in the income
statement requires judgment and depends on the nature of the contingencies.
All relevant facts and circumstances should be considered.

Subtopic 410-30 (environmental obligations) requires environmental claims
recoveries to be presented in the same captions as the related costs. This
guidance is often used by analogy to support a presentation of other types of
loss recoveries, such as insurance recoveries, as a reduction of the
corresponding costs. [410-30-45-4]

For business interruption insurance, see Question 4.5.50. For insurance
proceeds received for involuntary conversions of nonmonetary assets, see
Question 4.7.10.
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Question 4.5.50

How are the proceeds from business interruption
insurance presented in the income statement?

20 Glossary

Business Interruption Insurance

Insurance that provides coverage if business operations are suspended due to
the loss of use of property and equipment resulting from a covered cause of
loss. Business interruption insurance coverage generally provides for
reimbursement of certain costs and losses incurred during the reasonable
period required to rebuild, repair, or replace the damaged property.

45-1 An entity may choose how to classify business interruption insurance
recoveries in the statement of operations, as long as that classification is not
contrary to existing generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

50-1 The following information shall be disclosed in the notes to financial
statements in the period(s) in which business interruption insurance
recoveries are recognized:

a. The nature of the event resulting in business interruption losses

b. The aggregate amount of business interruption insurance recoveries
recognized during the period and the line item(s) in the statement of
operations in which those recoveries are classified.

Interpretive response: Subtopic 220-30 provides flexibility around the income
statement classification of business interruption insurance, as long as the
presentation does not contradict existing US GAAP. [220-30-45-1]

We do not believe proceeds from business interruption insurance should be
presented as revenue. However, in our experience entities frequently include
these proceeds in operating income, if such a subtotal is presented. Examples
of income statement display include presenting:

e proceeds representing recoveries of costs and losses incurred as a
separate caption, reducing total operating expenses, or netted from the
corresponding expense lines. In the latter case, we believe the amounts
received should be disclosed (see Question 4.3.90);

e proceeds in excess of costs and losses incurred as a separate caption from
operating expenses; or

e the total amount of proceeds as a separate caption from operating
expenses.
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Judgment may be needed to select the most appropriate presentation in the
circumstances. The presentation approach should be disclosed and applied
consistently.

Expense classification issues

The following table identifies common expense captions and the types of
transactions included in an entity’s income statement.

Caption ‘ Typical transactions

Cost of sales Cost of sales includes costs related to the revenue caption:

e direct costs — e.g. materials and labor for product
manufacturing;

e indirect costs — e.g. depreciation of manufacturing
facilities; lease expense, managerial salaries and
overhead for such facilities; and amortization of
revenue-related intangible assets.

SG&A SG&A includes:

e direct and indirect selling expenses — e.g. advertising
and selling costs paid to third parties and
compensation costs for sales employees;

e general and administrative expenses — e.g. direct
costs of administering the business and other indirect
costs excluding those included in cost of sales.

Other operating Other operating expenses are expected to recur as part of
expenses the entity’s ongoing operations but are not otherwise
included in other captions.

Nonoperating expenses | Nonoperating expenses are those that are expected to not
recur frequently.

Question 4.6.10
Are expenses presented by nature or function?

I_:E Excerpt from ASC Master Glossary

Functional Expense Classification

A method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which costs are
incurred. The primary functional classifications of a not-for-profit entity are
program services and supporting activities.
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Natural Expense Classification

A method of grouping expenses according to the kinds of economic benefits
received in incurring those expenses. Examples of natural expense
classifications include salaries and wages, employee benefits, professional
services, supplies, interest expense, rent, utilities, and depreciation.

Interpretive response: Reg S-X specifies expense classification for registrants.
As described in Question 4.3.20, for commercial and industrial registrants, Reg
S-X indicates classification of certain operating expenses by function (e.g. cost
of sales, SG&A). However, we observe that some industries classify expenses
by nature (e.g. employee compensation, lease expense).

The Codification does not require business entities to classify expenses by
either nature of expense or by function. In our experience, nonpublic entities’
income statement presentation typically is similar to that of registrants; however,
other presentations may be acceptable. See Question 4.3.70 for considerations
on determining financial statement captions.

The Codification requires NFPs to report information about all expenses in one
location on the face of the statement of activities, as a schedule in the notes to
financial statements or in a separate financial statement. NFPs may present
expenses in the statement of activities by either natural classification or
functional classification or both. NFPs are also required to present the
relationship between functional classification and natural classification for all
expenses in an analysis that disaggregates functional expense classifications by
their natural expense classifications. [958-205-45-6, 958-720-45-15]

Question 4.6.20

How is the cost of sales caption presented if it excludes
DD&A?

Depreciation And Depletion Excluded From Cost Of Sales

Facts: Company B excludes depreciation and depletion from cost of sales in its
income statement.

Question: How should this exclusion be disclosed?

Interpretive Response: If cost of sales or operating expenses exclude charges
for depreciation, depletion and amortization of property, plant and equipment,
the description of the line item should read somewhat as follows: "Cost of
goods sold (exclusive of items shown separately below)" or "Cost of goods sold
(exclusive of depreciation shown separately below)." To avoid placing undue
emphasis on "cash flow," depreciation, depletion and amortization should not
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be positioned in the income statement in a manner which results in reporting a
figure for income before depreciation.

Interpretive response: For registrants, the SEC staff expects that the cost of
sales caption include applicable DD&A, unless the description of the caption is
modified to clearly indicate that DD&A is excluded. For example, the caption
might be titled: [SAB Topic 11.B]

e ‘cost of goods sold (exclusive of items shown separately below)’; or
e ‘cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below)'.

If DD&A is excluded from cost of sales, a separate caption for appropriate
DD&A must be included before any subtotals, such as gross margin or
operating income. If the registrant presents both product and service revenues
(and therefore both cost of product and cost of service captions), the SEC staff
expects disclosure of DD&A related to each cost of revenue category. See
Question 4.3.30 about disaggregation and Question 4.3.110 about income
before DD&A. [2021 AICPA Conf]

In our experience, nonpublic entities generally follow the same guidance.

Example 4.6.10

Depreciation and depletion as a separate caption

Example income statement

Total revenues
Costs and expenses
Cost of materials
Operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization reflected below)
Depreciation and amortization
Total cost of goods sold

General and administrative (G&A) (exclusive of depreciation and amortization
reflected below)

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses
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Question 4.6.30

Which caption includes stock-based compensation
expense?

Classification of Compensation Expense Associated with Share-Based
Payment Arrangements

Facts: Company G utilizes both cash and share-based payment arrangements
to compensate its employees and nonemployee service providers. Company G
would like to emphasize in its income statement the amount of its
compensation that did not involve a cash outlay.

Question: How should Company G present in its income statement the non-
cash nature of its expense related to share-based payment arrangements?

Interpretive Response: The staff believes Company G should present the
expense related to share-based payment arrangements in the same line or
lines as cash compensation paid to the same employees.8* The staff believes a
company could consider disclosing the amount of expense related to share-
based payment arrangements included in specific line items in the financial
statements. Disclosure of this information might be appropriate in a
parenthetical note to the appropriate income statement line items, on the cash
flow statement, in the footnotes to the financial statements, or within MD&A.

84 FASB ASC Topic 718 does not identify a specific line item in the income
statement for presentation of the expense related to share-based payment
arrangements, with the exception of the guidance in ASC 718-10-15-5A on
share-based payment awards granted to a customer.

Interpretive response: For registrants, the SEC staff expects share-based
payment expense to be presented in the same caption(s) as the cash
compensation to the same employee. Registrants may disclose the amount of
share-based payment expense included in each income statement caption.
Such disclosure can be parenthetical in the income statement, statement of
cash flows, notes or MD&A. [SAB Topic 14.F]

In our experience, nonpublic entities typically follow the same guidance.
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Question 4.6.40

How is bad debt expense presented in the income
statement?

Interpretive response: Reg S-X requires commercial and industrial registrants
to present ‘Provision for doubtful accounts and notes’ (credit loss expense) as a
separate caption in the income statement (see Question 4.3.20). [S-X Rule 5-03]

Question 4.6.50#

How are impairment losses of nonfinancial assets
presented in the income statement?

Interpretive response: It depends on the nature of the nonfinancial asset being
impaired and its use to the entity. Impairment losses associated with
discontinued operations are included (net of tax) in the results of discontinued
operations. The following table summarizes presentation requirements when the
impairment loss is associated with continuing operations. [350-20-45-3]

Asset ‘ Income statement presentation

Goodwill Presented as a separate income statement caption. [350-20-45-2]

We believe the impairment loss should be included in operating
income (see Question 4.3.80), if such a subtotal is presented.

Other intangible May be presented: [350-30-45-2 — 45-3, 35-11, 50-3]

assets e as aseparate income statement caption; or

e together with amortization in the relevant income statement
caption based on the use of the asset — e.g. cost of sales if
the asset is a patent used in production (see Question
4.6.20). The amount of the impairment loss and the caption
that includes the loss are disclosed.

We believe the impairment loss should be included in operating
income (see Question 4.3.80), if such a subtotal is presented.

Long-lived assets | May be presented: [360-10-50-2(b)]

to be held and e as a separate income statement caption; or

used
e together with depreciation, in the relevant income statement
caption based on the use of the asset — e.g. cost of sales if
manufacturing equipment. The impairment loss and the
caption that includes the loss are disclosed.
The impairment loss is included in operating income, if such a
subtotal is presented (see Question 4.3.80). [360-10-45-4]
Inventory We believe that subsequent measurement adjustments of

inventory (lower of cost and net realizable value, or market
adjustment) are generally expected to be part of cost of sales.
[330-10-50-2, 420-10-S99-3]

In our experience, entities rarely present subsequent
measurement adjustments of inventory separate from cost of
sales, except in circumstances such as when inventory is
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Income statement presentation

destroyed as a result of an unusual item (e.g. fire, flood, other
natural disaster). See section 4.4 and Question 4.7.10.

In contrast, the Codification requires that net losses on firm
purchase commitments be disclosed separately in the income
statement. [330-10-50-5]

Question 4.6.60

How are exit or disposal costs presented in the income
statement?

Income statement presentation of restructuring charges

Facts: Restructuring charges often do not relate to a separate component of
the entity, and, as such, they would not qualify for presentation as losses on the
disposal of a discontinued operation. ...

Question 1: May such restructuring charges be presented in the income
statement as a separate caption after income from continuing operations before
income taxes (i.e., preceding income taxes and/or discontinued operations)?

Interpretive Response: No. ... the staff believes that restructuring charges
should be presented as a component of income from continuing operations,
separately disclosed if material. Furthermore, the staff believes that a
separately presented restructuring charge should not be preceded by a sub-
total representing “income from continuing operations before restructuring
charge” (whether or not it is so captioned). Such a presentation would be
inconsistent with the intent of FASB ASC Subtopic [220-20].

Question 2: Some registrants utilize a classified or “two-step” income
statement format (i.e., one which presents operating revenues, expenses and
income followed by other income and expense items). May a charge which
relates to assets or activities for which the associated revenues and expenses
have historically been included in operating income be presented as an item of
“other expense” in such an income statement?

Interpretive Response: No. The staff believes that the proper classification of
a restructuring charge depends on the nature of the charge and the assets and
operations to which it relates. Therefore, charges which relate to activities for
which the revenues and expenses have historically been included in operating
income should generally be classified as an operating expense, separately
disclosed if material. Furthermore, when a restructuring charge is classified as
an operating expense, the staff believes that it is generally inappropriate to
present a preceding subtotal captioned or representing operating income
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before restructuring charges. Such an amount does not represent a
measurement of operating results under GAAP.

Conversely, charges relating to activities previously included under “other
income and expenses” should be similarly classified, also separately disclosed
if material.

* > Comments Made by SEC Observer at Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
Meetings

+ « > SEC Observer Comment: Classification of Inventory Markdowns and Other
Costs Associated with Restructuring

$99-3 The following is the text of SEC Observer Comment: Classification of
Inventory Markdowns and Other Costs Associated with Restructuring.

Subtopic 420-10 states that costs associated with exit or disposal activities that
do not involve a discontinued operation should be included in income from
continuing operations before taxes. If a subtotal such as "income from
operations" is presented, that Subtopic indicates that subtotal should include
the amounts of exit or disposal costs. However, the guidance does not address
where within income from continuing operations or income from operations
inventory markdowns associated with an exit or restructuring activity. The SEC
staff recognizes that there may be circumstances in which it can be asserted
that inventory markdowns are costs directly attributable to a decision to exit or
restructure an activity. However, the staff believes that it is difficult to
distinguish inventory markdowns attributable to a decision to exit or restructure
an activity from inventory markdowns attributable to external market factors that
are independent of a decision to exit or restructure an activity. Further, the staff
believes that decisions about the timing, method, and pricing of dispositions of
inventory generally are considered to be normal, recurring activities integral to
the management of the ongoing business. Accordingly, the SEC staff believes
that inventory markdowns should be classified in the income statement as a
component of cost of goods sold.

Interpretive response: Exit or disposal costs involving a discontinued operation
are included (net of tax) in the results of discontinued operations.

Other exit or disposal activities (e.g. restructuring) are presented in income from
continuing operations before taxes, and in operating income if such a subtotal is
presented (see Question 4.3.80). They may be presented in a separate caption,
as long as the separate caption is not preceded by a subtotal representing
income from continuing operations before restructuring charge. In addition, the
terminology used to describe the caption should not be misleading. For
example, using the term ‘nonrecurring’ may be misleading if it is reasonably
likely to recur within two years (see Question 4.4.90). In our experience, some
entities use the term ‘restructuring and other charges’ when exit or disposal
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costs are combined with related costs, such as postemployment benefits under
Topic 712. [420-10-45-2 — 45-3, SAB Topic 5.P.3]

If a previously accrued liability for exit or disposal costs is reversed, the reversal
is presented in the same income statement caption where it was initially
recognized. [420-10-40-1]

Examples of costs that may be classified as an exit or disposal activity include:
e one-time employee termination benefits; [420-10-25-4 — 25-10]

e contract termination costs, excluding leases in the scope of Topic 842; [420-
10-25-11 — 25-13]

e other associated costs including (1) relocation costs for existing employees
and (2) costs to consolidate or close facilities; [420-10-25-14]

e accretion expense associated with exit or disposal activities. Topic 420
specifies that accretion expense cannot be classified as interest cost.
However, it does not specify whether the accretion expense should be
included in the same caption as the original exit or disposal costs, or in
another caption in operating activities. We believe an entity should select an
accounting policy for the classification of accretion expense and apply that
policy consistently. [420-10-35-4]

It is not appropriate to classify inventory writedowns as an exit or disposal

activity, even when the markdowns are costs directly attributable to a decision to

exit or restructure an activity. The SEC staff believes that such writedowns
should be classified as a component of cost of sales. [420-10-599-3]

See section 4.8.10 of KPMG Handbook, Employee benefits, for additional
discussion.

Question 4.6.70
Can litigation expenses arising from cases with

shareholders be reported outside of operating
expenses?

Interpretive response: Yes. Shareholder lawsuits arise when the value of
shareholders’ general interests in the entity have been harmed, and therefore
related expenses may be more appropriately reported outside of operating
expenses. This view was supported by the SEC staff in a 2007 SEC
Correspondence Letter with a registrant.

In contrast, expenses related to lawsuits with vendors, customers or other third
parties arising in the normal course of operations are costs of revenue or
operating expenses.
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Other classification issues

Question 4.7.10

How are gains and losses from involuntary conversions
presented in the income statement?

Background: Monetary assets are money (or a claim to receive a sum of
money) where the amount is fixed or determinable without reference to future
prices of specific goods or services. For involuntary conversions, monetary
assets are generally insurance proceeds. [845-10 Glossary, 610-30-05-1]

Nonmonetary assets are assets other than monetary assets — e.g. inventories or
property, plant, and equipment. [845-10 Glossary]

Example involuntary conversions include total or partial destruction, theft,
seizure or the condemnation of property. [610-30-15-2]

Interpretive response: Recoveries and losses from involuntary conversions of
nonmonetary assets to monetary assets are presented net as a gain or loss
(e.g. the loss from writing off the carrying amount of property destroyed in a
natural disaster is presented net of the related insurance proceeds recognized
in the period of the loss). The guidance in Question 4.5.40 applies to related
insurance recoveries. If the involuntary conversion qualifies as an unusual item,
the guidance in section 4.4 also applies. [610-30-45-1]

Question 4.7.20
How are gains and losses on the sale of a business that

is not a discontinued operation presented in the income
statement?

Interpretive response: US GAAP does not specify the income statement
presentation for the sale of a business that is not a discontinued operation. In
our experience, some entities present the gain or loss in operating income and
others present it in nonoperating income.

Question 4.7.30**
How are gains and losses on the remeasurement and

sale of crypto intangible assets presented in the income
statement?

Background: Crypto intangible assets may or may not be in the scope of
Subtopic 350-60.
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e In-scope crypto intangible assets are measured at fair value, with fair value

changes recorded in current period earnings.

e Out-of-scope crypto intangible assets are typically determined to have an
indefinite useful life and are, therefore, recognized at cost and tested for
impairment in accordance with the guidance that applies to all indefinite-
lived intangible assets (i.e. Subtopic 350-30 — see Question 4.6.50 for
discussion about presentation of impairment of other intangible assets).

When an entity sells a crypto intangible asset (whether in or out of the scope of

Subtopic 350-60), it applies Topic 606 if the counterparty is a ‘customer’;
otherwise it applies Subtopic 610-20 (unless one of that Subtopic’s specific
scope exceptions applies).

See Question 3.2.30 for information on when Subtopic 350-60 becomes
effective. See also section 6.3 of KPMG Issues In-Depth, Crypto intangible

assets, for more detailed discussion related to income statement presentation of

crypto intangible assets, both in and out of scope of Subtopic 350-60.

Interpretive response: The presentation of gains and losses on the
remeasurement and sale of crypto intangible assets depends on the nature of
the event giving rise to the gain or loss.

« Remeasurement of crypto intangible assets in the scope of Subtopic
350-60 to fair value — Subtopic 350-60 does not address whether

remeasurement gains and losses on crypto intangible assets in the scope of

Subtopic 350-60 are operating or nonoperating income statement items.
Therefore, entities consider the general classification principles in section
4.3.20.

¢ Sale of crypto intangible assets to customers — The sale transaction

gives rise to revenue, determined in accordance with Topic 606, and related

cost of sales.

e Gains or losses on the sale of crypto intangible assets under Subtopic

610-20 — We believe the gain or loss recognized from the sale of a

nonfinancial asset (which includes crypto intangible assets) under Subtopic
610-20 should be presented in operating income, if the entity presents such

a subtotal.
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Comprehensive income

Detailed contents
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5.3 Reporting comprehensive income
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5.3.20 FASB example: Single-statement format — OCI components
shown before tax

5.3.30 FASB example: Two-statement format — OCI components
shown net of tax effects

5.3.40 FASB example: Disclosure of related tax effects allocated to
each component of OCI

5.4 Reporting AOCI
5.4.10 AOCI balance
5.4.20 Changes in AOCI
5.4.30 Reclassification of AOCI to net income
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5410 How is AOCI presented on the balance sheet?

5.4.20 How is AOCI presented in the statement of changes in
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5.4.40 Does Subtopic 220-10 address when to reclassify items in
AOCI?

5.4.50 How are reclassification adjustments reported?

5.4.60 How are reclassification adjustments reported if the OCI
occurred during the same reporting period?

54.70 How are the income statement effects of reclassification
adjustments reported?
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5.4.20 FASB example: AOCI presentation in the statement of
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5.4.30 FASB example: Disclosure of the changes in each
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How the standard works

The statement of comprehensive income is one of the statements required in a
full set of financial statements. If an entity has OCI in any period presented, it
presents a statement of comprehensive income.

Comprehensive income comprises net income and OCI (e.g. foreign currency
translation adjustments). These elements together represent the change in an
entity’s equity from all sources except from transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners (i.e. investments by owners and distributions to owners).

Comprehensive income

|
I
I
I . :
: | Transactions with
: ’(\lcehtallgtt:eorné]‘j + (this(c)r?a:pter) : + OWNers L)Ly - ﬁh::l?i(:y
I | capacity as owners*
I

———————————————————————— ! * Chapter 5 of KPMG
Handbook, Debt and
equity financing

At the reporting date, the total of OCI for the period is transferred to AOCI, a
component of equity. Those amounts remain in AOCI until an event occurs that
requires them to be reclassified to net income. These reclassification
adjustments flow through OCI to avoid double counting in comprehensive
income items that are included in net income for a period that had also been
included in OCI in that period or earlier periods.

OCl

Reclassifications

Bengcl)rg + out of AOCI to

Other current- — Ending
period activity = AOCI

net income

Subtopic 220-10 contains the general presentation and disclosure requirements
for the statement of comprehensive income and changes in the components of
AOCI.

This chapter addresses:

¢ the format of the statement of comprehensive income;

e the requirements for reporting OCI and its components; and

e the requirements for reporting the balance of and changes in the
components of AOCI.

Chapter 4 addresses the presentation requirements specific to the income
statement — either as a stand-alone statement or as part of a statement of
comprehensive income. Other general presentation requirements applicable to
all financial statements (e.g. number of comparative periods, comparability,
chronological ordering) are addressed in chapter 2.

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved

123



5.2
5.2.10

Financial statement presentation | 124
5. Comprehensive income

Overview

Scope of Subtopic 220-10

10-1 The purpose of reporting comprehensive income is to report a measure
of all changes in equity of an entity that result from recognized transactions and
other economic events of the period other than transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners.

10-2 If used with related disclosures and other information in the financial
statements, the information provided by reporting comprehensive income
should assist investors, creditors, and others in assessing an entity's activities
and an entity's future cash flows.

10-3 Although total comprehensive income is a useful measure, information
about the components that make up comprehensive income also is needed. A
single focus on total comprehensive income is likely to result in a limited
understanding of an entity's activities. Information about the components of
comprehensive income often may be more important than the total amount of
comprehensive income.

> Entities

15-2 Except as noted in the following paragraph, the guidance in the Income
Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income Topic applies to all entities,
including:

a. Entities that provide a full set of financial statements that report financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows

b. Investment companies, defined benefit pension plans, and other employee
benefit plans that are exempt from the requirement to provide a statement
of cash flows by paragraph 230-10-15-4.

15-3 The guidance in this Topic does not apply to the following entities:

a. An entity that has no items of other comprehensive income in any period
presented. In such cases, the entity is not required to report other
comprehensive income or comprehensive income. See paragraph 220-
10-45-10A for items that are required to be reported as other
comprehensive income.

b. A not-for-profit entity (NFP) that is required to follow the provisions of
Subtopic 958-205.

15-5 The guidance in the Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive
Income Topic applies to general-purpose statements that purport to present
results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).
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20 Glossary
Comprehensive Income

The change in equity (net assets) of a business entity during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It
includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by owners and distributions to owners. Comprehensive income
comprises both of the following:

a. All components of net income
b. All components of other comprehensive income.

Other Comprehensive Income

Revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that under generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) are included in comprehensive income but
excluded from net income.

25-1 This Subtopic does not specify when to recognize the items that make up
comprehensive income.

30-1 This Subtopic does not specify how to measure the items that make up

comprehensive income.

Comprehensive income has two components: net income and OCI. These
elements together represent the change in the entity’s equity from all sources
except from investments by and distributions to owners. [220-10 Glossary]

Comprehensive income

(chapter 4)

|

|

| Net income + OCl
: (this chapter)
|

—_—_— e e ——

All entities present comprehensive income under Subtopic 220-10 except: [220-
10-15-2 — 15-3]

e those that do not have OCI in any period presented; they present only an
income statement (see chapter 4);

e NFPs required to apply Subtopic 958-205 — i.e. those in the scope of
Subtopic 958-10.

Question 5.2.10

Do NFP, business-oriented healthcare entities in the
scope of Topic 954 have to apply Subtopic 220-107?

Interpretive response: No. NFP, business-oriented healthcare entities are in
the scope of Topic 954 (healthcare entities) and Topic 958 (NFP entities) and

therefore are not required to apply Subtopic 220-10. [220-10-15-3, 954-10-05-3, 958-
10-15-2, 15-3(g)]
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Subtopic 954-220 provides a list of specific items that an NFP, business-
oriented healthcare entity reports separately from its performance indicator (a
performance indicator is analogous to income from continuing operations of a
for-profit entity). This list includes items typically considered OCI by other
entities — e.g. certain pension items and foreign currency translation
adjustments. However, an NFP, business-oriented healthcare entity would

classify these specific items as ‘other changes in net assets’, not as OCI. [954-
220-45-5, 45-8]

Subtopic 954-220 also requires an NFP, business-oriented healthcare entity to
include its performance indicator in a statement that also presents the total
changes in net assets without donor restrictions. Other changes in net assets
may be presented separately or in the same statement, which is similar to the
requirements in Subtopic 220-10 to report comprehensive income in either a
single continuous financial statement or in two separate but consecutive
financial statements. [954-220-45-5, 220-10-45-1]

Although not required, we would not object to an NFP, business-oriented
healthcare entity providing disclosures consistent with the provisions of Subtopic
220-10.

Question 5.2.20

Does Subtopic 220-10 address the recognition and
measurement of items of OCI?

Interpretive response: No. Subtopic 220-10 does not specify when to
recognize or how to measure items of OCI. Instead, recognition and
measurement of these items is based on the relevant underlying accounting
literature. [220-10-25-1, 30-1]

OClI defined

The second component of a statement of comprehensive income (after net
income) is OCI. OCl is simply any revenues, expenses, gains and losses that
affect an entity’s equity but are not reported in net income. [220-10 Glossary]
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Question 5.2.30

Which items are considered OCI?

> |ltems within Other Comprehensive Income
45-10A Items of other comprehensive income include the following:

a. Foreign currency translation adjustments (see paragraph 830-30-45-12)

b. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions that are designated as,
and are effective as, economic hedges of a net investment in a foreign
entity, commencing as of the designation date (see paragraph 830-20-35-
3(a))

c. Gains and losses on intra-entity foreign currency transactions that are of a
long-term-investment nature (that is, settlement is not planned or
anticipated in the foreseeable future), when the entities to the transaction
are consolidated, combined, or accounted for by the equity method in the
reporting entity's financial statements (see paragraph 830-20-35-3(b))

d. Gains and losses on derivative instruments that are designated as, and
qualify as, cash flow hedges (see paragraph 815-20-35-1(c))

dd. For derivatives that are designated in qualifying hedging relationships, the
difference between changes in fair value of the excluded components and
the initial value of the excluded components recognized in earnings under a
systematic and rational method in accordance with paragraphs 815-20-25-
83A and 815-35-35-5A

e. Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities
(see paragraph 326-30-35-2)

f. Unrealized holding gains and losses that result from a debt security being
transferred into the available-for-sale category from the held-to-maturity
category (see paragraph 320-10-35-10(c)) ...

i. Gains or losses associated with pension or other postretirement benefits
(that are not recognized immediately as a component of net periodic benefit
cost) (see paragraph 715-20-50-1(j))

j- Prior service costs or credits associated with pension or other
postretirement benefits (see paragraph 715-20-50-1(j)

k. Transition assets or obligations associated with pension or other
postretirement benefits (that are not recognized immediately as a
component of net periodic benefit cost) (see paragraph 715-20-50-1(j)).

I.  Changes in fair value attributable to instrument-specific credit risk of
liabilities for which the fair value option is elected (see paragraph 825-10-
45-5).

m. The effect of changes in the discount rates used to measure traditional and
limited-payment long-duration insurance contracts (see paragraph 944-40-
35-6A(b)(1)).
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n. The effect of changes in the fair value of a market risk benefit attributable
to a change in the instrument-specific credit risk (see paragraph 944-40-35-
8A).

Additional classifications or additional items within current classifications may
result from future accounting standards.

45-10B None of the following items qualify as an item of comprehensive
income:

a. Changes in equity during a period resulting from investments by owners
and distributions to owners

b. Items required to be reported as direct adjustments to paid-in capital,
retained earnings, or other nonincome equity accounts such as the
following types of transactions:

1. A reduction of shareholders’ equity related to employee stock
ownership plans (see paragraph 718-740-25-5)

2. Recognition of tax benefits related to deductible temporary differences
and carryforwards arising from a quasi-reorganization as defined in
Subtopic 852-20 (see paragraph 852-740-45-3)

3. Net cash settlement resulting from a change in value of a contract that
gives the entity a choice of net cash settlement or settlement in its own
shares (see paragraph 815-40-25-4(b)(2)).

Interpretive response: Only those items that are specifically identified in US
GAAP as OCI items can be reported outside of net income — e.g. Subtopic 830-
30 identifies foreign currency translation adjustments as OCI items. There is no
conceptual basis for which items are recorded in OCI (instead of net income)
and later reclassified to net income (see section 5.4). [CON 8. PR32]

Paragraph 220-10-45-10A contains a list of OCI items. This table summarizes
the broad categories.

OCl item category ‘ Addressed in

Unrealized gains or losses on available- | Topics 320 and 326
for-sale debt securities See KPMG Handbook, Investments
Topic 715

Certain gains or losses related to defined

benefit plans See KPMG Handbook, Employee
benefits
. . , Topic 815
Certain gains or losses resulting from o
hedging activities See KPMG Handbook, Derivatives and
hedging

Cumulative translation adjustments —i.e.
adjustments to translate an entity’s Topic 830
financial statements from a functional
currency that is a foreign currency to the
reporting currency

See KPMG Handbook, Foreign currency
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OCl item category Addressed in

Changes in the fair value of financial
liabilities attributable to instrument- Topic 825

specific credit risk when those liabilities See KPMG Handbook, Investments
are measured using the ‘fair value option’

5.3 Reporting comprehensive income

5.3.10 Format of the statement of comprehensive income

20 Glossary
Noncontrolling Interest

The portion of equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to a parent. A noncontrolling interest is sometimes called a minority
interest.

Parent

An entity that has a controlling financial interest in one or more subsidiaries.
(Also, an entity that is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity.)

Subsidiary

An entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership or trust, in
which another entity, known as its parent, holds a controlling financial interest.
(Also, a variable interest entity that is consolidated by a primary beneficiary.)

> Reporting Comprehensive Income

45-1 This Subtopic requires an entity to report comprehensive income either
in a single continuous financial statement or in two separate but consecutive
financial statements.

45-1A An entity reporting comprehensive income in a single continuous
financial statement shall present its components in two sections, net income
and other comprehensive income. If applicable, an entity shall present the
following in that financial statement:

a. A total amount for net income together with the components that make up
net income.

b. A total amount for other comprehensive income together with the
components that make up other comprehensive income. As indicated in
paragraph 220-10-15-3, an entity that has no items of other comprehensive
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income in any period presented is not required to report comprehensive
income.
c. Total comprehensive income.

45-1B An entity reporting comprehensive income in two separate but
consecutive statements shall present the following:

a. Components of and the total for net income in the statement of net income

b. Components of and the total for other comprehensive income as well as a
total for comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income,
which shall be presented immediately after the statement of net income. A
reporting entity shall begin the second statement with net income.

45-1C An entity shall present, either in a single continuous statement of
comprehensive income or in a statement of net income and statement of other
comprehensive income, all items that meet the definition of comprehensive
income for the period in which those items are recognized. Components
included in other comprehensive income shall be classified based on their
nature. For related guidance, see paragraphs 220-10-45-10A through 45-10B.

45-4 This Subtopic does not require that an entity use the terms comprehensive
income or other comprehensive income in its financial statements, even though
those terms are used throughout this Subtopic.

There are two possible formats for a statement of comprehensive income
(illustrated in section 5.3.40): [220-10-45-1 — 45-1C; FRM 1110.1]

e asingle continuous statement (single-statement format); and
e separate but consecutive statements (two-statement format).

The single-statement format contains components of both net income and OCI
in one statement. The two-statement format presents a separate income
statement followed immediately by the statement of comprehensive income.
When the two-statement format is used, the statement of comprehensive
income starts with net income. [220-10-45-1A, 45-1B]

An entity is not required to use the labels ‘comprehensive income’ or ‘other
comprehensive income’. [220-10-45-4]

Question 5.3.10

If two statements are presented, can they be on
separate pages?

Interpretive response: Yes, but the statement of comprehensive income must
immediately follow the income statement. [220-10-45-1B]
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Question 5.3.20
Does a change in format (from a single statement to two

statements or vice versa) represent a change in
accounting principle?

Interpretive response: No. We believe that such a change in format does not
represent a change in accounting principle because it is a change in
presentation only, which does not significantly alter the financial statement
information provided. Therefore, the requirements in Topic 250 for changes in
accounting principle do not apply. See Question 3.2.40 in KPMG Handbook,
Accounting changes and error corrections.

Question 5.3.30

What captions representing comprehensive income are
presented in the statement of comprehensive income?

Interpretive response: Subtopic 220-10 requires that the components of
comprehensive income be shown — either net of or before related tax effects
(see section 5.3.20). Each component of comprehensive income may comprise
the items listed in Subtopic 220-10, classified based on their nature. [220-10-45-1A
—45-1C]

Similarly, Reg S-X Rule 5-03 contains a list of required captions (known as
‘major captions’ and ‘subcaptions’) to be presented in the statement of
comprehensive income for commercial and industrial registrants, if applicable;
see Question 4.2.20 for other types of entities. These captions are presented
after ‘net income attributable to the controlling interest’ (see Question 4.3.20).
The distinction between major captions and subcaptions is important when the
registrant is presenting condensed interim financial statements (see Question
10.3.70). [S-X Rule 5-03]

Major caption ‘ Subcaptions

Other comprehensive income e Components of OCI, either (1) net of
related tax effects or (2) before related
tax effects with one amount shown for
the aggregate income tax expense or
benefit

e Amount of income tax expense or
benefit allocated to each component,
including reclassification adjustments’

e OCl total

Comprehensive income (subtotal)

Comprehensive income attributable to
the noncontrolling interest

Comprehensive income attributable to
the controlling interest
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Note:
1. Can be presented in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes.

Question 5.3.40

How is EPS reported in the statement of comprehensive
income?

Background: Entities with common stock (or potential common stock) that is
traded in a public market are required to present EPS under Topic 260. Other
entities that voluntarily present EPS also follow Topic 260. [260-10-15-2 — 15-3]

Interpretive response: An entity that reports comprehensive income in a single
continuous financial statement presents EPS after presenting net income and
before presenting other comprehensive income information. See Question
9.2.45 in KPMG Handbook, Earnings per share. [220-10-55-7]

Entities may not display per-share amounts for comprehensive income or the
components of OCI in the statement of comprehensive income. However,
disclosure of such per-share amounts is permitted in the notes to financial
statements. See Question 9.2.115 in KPMG Handbook, Earnings per share.

Income tax effects of OCI

> Presentation of Income Tax Effects

45-11 An entity shall present components of other comprehensive income in
the statement in which other comprehensive income is reported either net of
related tax effects or before related tax effects with one amount shown for the
aggregate income tax expense or benefit related to the total of other
comprehensive income items.

45-12 An entity shall present the amount of income tax expense or benefit
allocated to each component of other comprehensive income, including
reclassification adjustments, in the statement in which those components are
presented or disclose it in the notes to financial statements. Example 1 (see
paragraphs 220-10-55-7 through 55-8B) illustrates the alternative formats for
disclosing the tax effects related to the components of other comprehensive
income. (See paragraph 220-10-50-4.)
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> Disclosing Changes and Certain Income Tax Effects within Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

50-4 An entity shall present the amount of income tax expense or benefit
allocated to each component of other comprehensive income, including
reclassification adjustments, in the statement in which those components are
presented or disclose it in the notes to financial statements. Example 1 (see
paragraphs 220-10-55-7 through 55-8B) illustrates the alternative formats for
disclosing the tax effects related to the components of other comprehensive
income. (See paragraph 220-10-45-12.)

Question 5.3.50

How are the tax effects for components of OCI
presented?

Interpretive response: An entity is permitted to present each of the
components of OCI either: [220-10-45-11]

e net of the related tax effects; or
e before the related tax effects, with one amount shown for the aggregate
income tax expense or benefit related to the total of OCI items.

Regardless of the presentation approach, the tax effect for each component of
OCI must be either presented in the statement of comprehensive income or
disclosed in the notes. [220-10-45-12, 50-4]

Section 5.3.40 illustrates these two presentation approaches and related
disclosures.

Special situations

Question 5.3.60

How is comprehensive income attributable to NCI
presented?

> Reporting Comprehensive Income

45-5 Paragraph 810-10-50-1A(a) states that, if an entity has an outstanding
noncontrolling interest, amounts for both net income and comprehensive
income attributable to the parent and net income and comprehensive income
attributable to the noncontrolling interest in a less-than-wholly-owned
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subsidiary shall be reported in the financial statement(s) in which net income
and comprehensive income are presented in addition to presenting
consolidated net income and comprehensive income. For more guidance, see
paragraph 810-10-50-1A(c).

Interpretive response: The statement of comprehensive income presents both
net income and comprehensive income attributable to NCI separately from
amounts attributable to owners of the entity. [220-10-45-5]

An entity also provides a reconciliation at the beginning and the end of the
period of the carrying amount of total equity (net assets), equity (net assets)
attributable to its owners, and equity (net assets) attributable to NCI. That
reconciliation separately discloses each component of comprehensive income
and may be presented in either the statement of changes in equity or the notes.
[810-10-50-1A(c)]

However, Subtopic 220-10 requires the components of OCI to be listed in the
statement of comprehensive income (see section 5.3.10). Instead of presenting
these components twice — once in the statement of comprehensive income and
again in the statement of changes in equity — in our experience, many entities
with NCI provide this reconciliation in the notes. See section 8.3.50 of KPMG
Handbook, Consolidation, for example presentation and disclosure of NCI.

Question 5.3.70

How does an equity method investor present its share of
an investee’s equity adjustments for OCI items?

Interpretive response: An investor recognizes in its OCI its share of the
investee's OCI with a corresponding increase or decrease to the carrying
amount of its equity method investment. [323-10-35-18]

The investee's presentation format of OCI does not affect how an investor
presents its share of those amounts. Regardless of how an investee chooses to
present OCI, an investor may combine its share of those amounts with its own
OCIl items and present the aggregate of those amounts. The investor may also
report what portion comprises its share of the investee’s AOCI. See sections 4.5
and 7.2 of KPMG Handbook, Equity method of accounting. [323-10-45-3]

Question 5.3.80

How are prior-period adjustments affecting OCI
presented?

Interpretive response: If a prior-period adjustment (e.g. a change in
accounting principle or error correction) involves an OCI item, OCl is
appropriately adjusted in the retroactive restatement of the financial statements.
In single-period financial statements, prior-period adjustments that involve an
OCl item are reported as an adjustment of the opening balance of AOCI and
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NCI, if applicable. See Question 3.3.190 and section 4.4 of KPMG Handbook,
Accounting changes and error corrections. [FAS 130.106]

FASB examples

Subtopic 220-10 contains a series of examples to illustrate the single continuous
statement versus the two-statement approach to presenting comprehensive
income and demonstrate some of the reporting requirements for the statement
comprehensive income, OCI and AOCI.

These examples are reproduced below as follows:

e Example 5.3.10: Single-statement format — OCI components shown net of

tax effects

e Example 5.3.20: Single-statement format — OCI components shown before
tax

e Example 5.3.30: Two-statement format — OCI components shown net of tax
effects

e Example 5.3.40: Disclosure of related tax effects allocated to each
component of OCI

For comparability purposes, these FASB examples are built on a single fact
pattern (fact pattern A), with the following key amounts.

Caption ‘ Amount
Net income $63,600
OCl, before tax $22,666
OCl, net of tax $17,000
Comprehensive income attributable to NCI $16,120
AOCI at December 31, 201X $32,000

The FASB examples use the following conventions.

@ Excerpt from ASC 220-10

> |llustrations

55-5 Brackets are used to highlight certain basic totals that must be presented
in financial statements to comply with the provisions of this Subtopic. This
Subtopic requires not only presenting those certain basic totals but also
reporting components of those aggregates. For example, among other items, it
requires reporting information about unrealized gains and losses on available-
for-sale debt securities, foreign currency items, gains or losses associated with
pension or other postretirement benefits, prior service costs or credits
associated with pension or other postretirement benefits, and transition assets
or obligations associated with pension or other postretirement benefits.
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55-6 The tables use the term comprehensive income to label the total of all
parts of comprehensive income, including net income. The tables use the term
other comprehensive income to label revenues, expenses, gains, and losses
that are included in comprehensive income but excluded from net income. This
Subtopic does not require that an entity use those terms in its financial
statements. Other equivalent terms, such as fotal nonowner changes in equity,
can be used as labels for what this Subtopic refers to as comprehensive
income.

Example 5.3.10

FASB example: Single-statement format — OCI
components shown net of tax effects

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

+ + > Single Continuous Statement

55-7 The following illustrates the statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended December 31, 201X, with other comprehensive income
components shown net of tax effects.

Entity XYZ
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Revenues $ 140,000
Expenses (65,700)
Other gains and losses 8,000
Gain on sale of securities 2,500
Income from operations before tax 84,800
Income tax expense (21,200)
[Net income 63,600 ]
Less: net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest $(12,720)
Net income attributable to Entity XYZ shareholders 50,880
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted 0.46
Other comprehensive income, net of tax: [KPMG Note 1]
Foreign currency translation adjustments(@) 8,000
Unrealized gains on debt securities®)
Unrealized holding gains arising during period 13,000
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in net
income (1,500) 11,500
Defined benefit pension plans:(©
Prior service cost arising during period (1,600)
Net loss arising during period [KPMG Note 2] (1,000)
Less: amortization of prior service cost included in net
periodic pension cost 100 (2,500)
[Other comprehensive income 17,000 |
[Comprehensive income 80,600 ]
Less: comprehensive income attributable to the noncontrolling
interest (16,120)
Comprehensive income attributable to Entity XYZ shareholders $64,480
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(a) It is assumed that there was no sale or liquidation of an investment in a foreign entity. Therefore, there is
no reclassification adjustment for this period.

(b) This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross amounts (current-period
gain and reclassification adjustment) in the notes to the financial statements.

(c) This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross amounts (prior service cost
and net loss for the defined benefit pension plans less amortization of prior service cost) in the notes to
the financial statements

Notes:

1. This line indicates ‘before tax’ in paragraph 220-10-55-7; however, this example
illustrates a ‘net of tax’ presentation. Therefore, we have edited the example to
indicate that the amount on this line is net of tax.

2. The amount in this line is $1,600 in paragraph 220-10-55-7; however, that was a
typographical error. Therefore, we have edited the example to indicate the correct
amount.

Example 5.3.20

FASB example: Single-statement format — OCI
components shown before tax

I_:\E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

+ + > Single Continuous Statement

55-8 Alternatively, components of other comprehensive income could be
presented before tax with one amount shown for the aggregate income tax
expense or benefit, as shown in the following single continuous statement of
comprehensive income.

Entity XYZ
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Revenues $140,000
Expenses (65,700)
Other gains and losses 8,000
Gain on sale of securities 2,500
Income from operations before tax 84,800
Income tax expense (21,200)
[Net income 63,600
Less: net income attributable to the noncontrolling
interest $(12,720)
Net income attributable to Entity XYZ shareholders 50,880
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted 0.46
Other comprehensive income, before tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments® 10,666
Unrealized gains on debt securities®
Unrealized holding gains arising during period 17,333
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains
included in net income (2,000) 15,333
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Defined benefit pension plans:©

Prior service cost arising during period (2,133)
Net loss arising during period (1,333)
Less: amortization of prior service cost included in
net periodic pension cost 133 (3,333)
Other comprehensive income, before tax 22,666
[Income tax expense related to items of other comprehensive
income 7(5’666) ]
[Other comprehensive income, net of tax 17,000 ]
[Comprehensive income 80,600 ]
Less: comprehensive income attributable to the
noncontrolling interest (16,120)
Comprehensive income attributable to Entity XYZ
shareholders $64,480

(@) Itis assumed that there was no sale or liquidation of an investment in a foreign entity.
Therefore, there is no reclassification adjustment for this period.

(b)  This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross
amounts (current-period gain and reclassification adjustment) in the notes to the financial
statements.

(c) This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross
amounts (prior service cost and net loss for the defined benefit pension plans less
amortization of prior service cost) in the notes to the financial statements

Example 5.3.30

FASB example: Two-statement format — OCI
components shown net of tax effects

|_:§ Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Two-Statement Approach

55-9 The following illustrates the statements of net income and other
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 201X, with other
comprehensive income components presented net of tax effects.

Entity XYZ
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Revenues $140,000
Expenses (65,700)
Other gains and losses 8,000
Gain on sale of securities 2,500
Income from operations before tax 84,800
Income tax expense (21,200)
[Net income 63,600 ]
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Entity XYZ
Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Net income $ 63,600
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments @) 8,000
Unrealized gains on debt securities: ©)
Unrealized holding gains arising during period $13,000
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in
net income (1,500) 11,500
Defined benefit pension plans: ©)
Prior service cost arising during period (1,600)
Net loss arising during period (1,000)
Less: amortization of prior service cost included in net periodic
pension cost 100 (2,500)
[Other comprehensive income 17,000 ]
[Comprehensive income 80,600 ]
Less: comprehensive income attributable to the noncontrolling interest (16,120)
Comprehensive income attributable to Entity XYZ shareholders $64,480

(a) It is assumed that there was no sale or liquidation of an investment in a foreign entity. Therefore, there is
no reclassification adjustment for this period.

(b) This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross amounts (current-period
gain and reclassification adjustment) in the notes to the financial statements.

(c) This illustrates the gross display of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Alternatively, a net display can be used, with disclosure of the gross amounts (prior service cost
and net loss for the defined benefit pension plans less amortization of prior service cost) in the notes to
the financial statements

Example 5.3.40

FASB example: Disclosure of related tax effects
allocated to each component of OCI

I_._E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

+ « > Required Disclosure of Related Tax Effects Allocated to Each Component
of Other Comprehensive Income

55-8A The following table illustrates disclosure of the tax effects allocated to
each component of other comprehensive income in the notes to financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 201X.

Entity XYZ
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Tax
Before-Tax (Expense) Net-of-Tax
Amount or Benefit Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments $10,666 $(2,666) $8,000

Unrealized gains on debt securities:
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Unrealized holding gains arising during period 17,333 (4,333) 13,000
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net

income (2,000) 500 (1,500)
Net unrealized gains 15,333 (3,833) 11,500

Defined benefit pension plans:

Prior service cost from plan amendment during period (2,133) 533 (1,600)
Less: amortization of prior service cost included in net

periodic pension cost 133 (33) 100
Net prior service cost arising during period (2,000) 500 (1,500)
Net loss arising during period (1,333) 333 (1,000)
Defined benefit pension plans, net (3,333) 833 (2,500)
Other comprehensive income $22,666 $(5,666) $17,000

Reporting AOCI

The total of OCI for the period is transferred to AOCI (a component of equity) at
the reporting date. Those amounts remain in AOCI until an event occurs that
requires them to be reclassified to net income. [220-10-45-14]

OCl

Reclassifications
out of AOCI to
net income

Other current- — Ending

Beginning
+ = AOCI

AOCI

period activity

Because OCI items accumulate in AOCI and components of AOCI are
reclassified to net income at some point, they affect not only the statement of
comprehensive income, but also the balance sheet, statement of changes in
equity and notes. The following table summarizes the presentation and
disclosure requirements for AOCI.

Item ‘ Location ‘ Commentary

AOCI balance Balance sheet and AOCI is reported as a separate

See section 5.4.10

statement of changes
in equity

component of equity in the
balance sheet. [220-10-45-14]

Changes in each AOCI
component

See section 5.4.20

Statement of changes
in equity or notes

An entity reports which changes
are due to: [220-10-45-14A]

e reclassifications out of AOCI
(see section 5.4.30); and

e other current-period activity
(see section 5.2.20).

Reclassifications out of
AOCI

See section 5.4.30

Income statement or
notes

If a significant amount is
reclassified out of any AOCI
component, the effects of the
reclassification (i.e.
reclassification adjustments) are
identified. [220-10-45-17]
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AQOCI balance

FE Excerpt from ASC 220-10

+ > Reporting Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

45-14 The total of other comprehensive income for a period shall be transferred
to a component of equity that is presented separately from retained earnings
and additional paid-in capital in a statement of financial position at the end of an
accounting period. A descriptive title such as accumulated other
comprehensive income shall be used for that component of equity.

Question 5.4.10

How is AOCI presented on the balance sheet?

Interpretive response: AOCI is presented as a component of equity on the
balance sheet, separate from retained earnings and paid-in capital. Example
5.4.10 illustrates how to present AOCI on the balance sheet. [220-10-45-14]

Example 5.4.10
FASB example: AOCI presentation on the balance sheet

Paragraph 220-10-55-10A illustrates how AOCI is presented on the balance
sheet. See section 5.3.40 for the fact pattern underlying this example (fact
pattern A).

@ Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Statement of Financial Position

55-10A The following table illustrates the presentation of accumulated other
comprehensive income in the statement of financial position, as discussed in
paragraph 220-10-45-14.
Entity XYZ
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 201X

Assets:
Cash $150,000
Accounts receivable 175,000
Available-for-sale debt securities 112,000
Plant and equipment 985,000
Total assets $1,422,000
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Liabilities:
Accounts payable $112,500
Accrued liabilities 78,233
Liability for pension benefits 130,667
Notes payable 318,500
Total liabilities $639,900
Equity
Common stock $200,000
Paid-in capital 400,000
Retained earnings 111,680
[Accumulated other comprehensive income 32,000 ]
Total Entity XYZ shareholders’ equity 743,680
Noncontrolling interest 38,420
Total equity 782,100
Total liabilities and equity $1,422,000

Question 5.4.20

How is AOCI presented in the statement of changes in
equity?

Interpretive response: AOCI is reported in the statement of changes in equity
either as one balance or disaggregated by components of AOCI. [220-10-45-14A]

Subtopic 220-10 illustrates two possible alternatives for presenting AOCI in the
statement of changes in equity, using a tabular or a columnar format. In our
experience, the tabular format is most commonly used; the corresponding FASB
example is reproduced below in Example 5.4.20. [220-10-55-11 — 55-12]

Both alternatives present only the AOCI balance and total change in AOCI; they
do not break down AOCI into its components. Therefore, an entity following
either format must also disclose in the notes the changes in the balances of
each component of AOCI (see Question 5.4.30). [220-10-45-14A]
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Example 5.4.20

FASB example: AOCI presentation in the statement of
changes in equity — tabular format

See section 5.3.40 for the fact pattern underlying this example (fact pattern A).

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Statement of Changes in Equity (Alternative 1)

55-11 The following table illustrates the presentation of accumulated other
comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity for the year ended
December 31, 201X, as discussed in paragraph 220-10-45-14.

Entity XYZ
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year Ended December 31, 201X

Accumulated

Other
Retained Comprehensive Common Paid-in Noncontrolling
Total Earnings Income Stock Capital Interest

Beginning balance $561,500 $70,800 $18,400 $150,000 $300,000 $22,300

Net income 63,600 50,880 12,720

Other

comprehensive

income 17,000 13,600 3,400
Common stock issued 150,000 50,000 100,000
Dividends declared on
common stock (10,000) (10,000)
Ending balance $782,100 $111,680 $32,000 $200,000 $400,000 $38,420

Changes in AOCI

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

+ > Reporting Changes and Certain Income Tax Effects within Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

45-14A An entity shall present, either on the face of the financial statements or
as a separate disclosure in the notes, the changes in the accumulated balances
for each component of other comprehensive income included in that separate
component of equity, as required in paragraph 220-10-45-14. In addition to the
presentation of changes in accumulated balances, an entity shall present
separately for each component of other comprehensive income, current period
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income and other
amounts of current-period other comprehensive income. Both before-tax and
net-of-tax presentations are permitted provided the entity complies with the
requirements in paragraph 220-10-45-12. Paragraph 220-10-55-15 illustrates
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the disclosure of changes in accumulated balances for components of other
comprehensive income as a separate disclosure in the notes to financial
statements. (See paragraph 220-10-50-5.)

> Disclosing Changes and Certain Income Tax Effects within Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

50-5 An entity shall present, either on the face of the financial statements or as
a separate disclosure in the notes, the changes in the accumulated balances
for each component of other comprehensive income included in that separate
component of equity, as required in paragraph 220-10-45-14. In addition to the
presentation of changes in accumulated balances, an entity shall present
separately for each component of other comprehensive income, current period
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income and other
amounts of current-period other comprehensive income. Both before-tax and
net-of-tax presentations are permitted provided the entity complies with the
requirements in paragraph 220-10-45-12. Paragraph 220-10-55-15 illustrates
the disclosure of changes in accumulated balances for components of other
comprehensive income as a separate disclosure in the notes to financial
statements. (See paragraph 220-10-45-14A.)

An entity reports which changes in each AOCI component are due to: [220-10-45-
14A]

e reclassifications out of AOCI (see section 5.4.30) and
e other current-period activity (see section 5.2.20).

Question 5.4.30

How are the changes in each AOCI component
reported?

Interpretive response: The changes in each AOCI component are either
presented as a reconciliation in the statement of changes in equity or disclosed
in the notes to financial statements. In our experience, AOCI is often reported as
a total balance in the statement of changes in equity (see Question 5.4.20), in
which case the changes in each AOCI components are provided in the notes.
Examples 5.4.30 and 5.4.40 illustrate disclosure in the notes. [220-10-45-14A, 50-5]

Regardless of where these changes in each AOCI component are presented, an
entity distinguishes between changes due to:

e current-period reclassifications out of AOCI (see section 5.4.30); and
e other current-period activity running through OCI (see section 5.2.20).

The changes can be presented before tax or net of tax, as long as the income
effects of OCI are properly disclosed (see Question 5.4.50). [220-10-45-14A]
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Example 5.4.30

FASB example: Disclosure of the changes in each
component of AOCI

Subtopic 220-10 illustrates the disclosure of the changes in each component of
AOCI, including reclassifications to net income, and several other reporting
requirements for the statement of comprehensive income, OCI and AOCI.

For comparability purposes, several FASB examples are built on a single fact
pattern (fact pattern B), with the following key amounts.

Caption Amount
AOCI (beginning balance) $(7,700)
OCI before reclassifications 3,600
Amounts reclassified from AOCI 2,250
AOCI (ending balance at December 31, 201X) $(1,950)

Fact pattern B is also used in Example 5.4.60.

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Disclosure of Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Balances

55-15 The following table illustrates the disclosure of changes in the balances
of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income, as required
by paragraph 220-10-45-14A. The amounts in this illustration correspond to the
amounts in the Example in paragraph 220-10-55-17E and demonstrate the
relationship between the requirements in paragraph 220-10-45-14A and the
requirements in paragraph 220-10-50-6 for this entity.

Entity XYZ
Notes to Financial Statements
Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income by Component(a)
For the Period Ended December 31, 201X

Unrealized
Gains and
Gains and Losses on Defined
Losses on  Available-for- Benefit Foreign
Cash Flow Sale Debt Pension Currency
Hedges Securities Items Items Total
Beginning balance $(1,200) $1,000 $(8,800) $1,300 $(7,700)
Other
comprehensive
income before
reclassifications 3,000 2,500 (3,000) 1,000 3,500
Amounts reclassified
from accumulated
other comprehensive
income (750) (1,500) 4,500 - 2,250
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Net current-period

other comprehensive
income 2,250 1,000 1,500 1,000 5,750

Ending balance $1,050 $2,000 $(7,300) $2,300  $(1,950)

(a) All amounts are net of tax. Amounts in parentheses indicate debits.

55-15B The presentation of unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
debt securities illustrated in paragraphs 220-10-55-15 through 55-15A is
aggregated for simplicity and, therefore, does not necessarily comply with all of
the disclosures that may be required in Topic 320 or 326 (for example,
disclosures about available-for-sale debt securities with an allowance for
credit losses in paragraph 326-30-45-2).

Example 5.4.40

FASB example: Disclosure of the changes in each
component of AOCI

Subtopic 220-10 illustrates some of the reporting requirements for the changes
in AOCI, including reclassifications to net income. For comparability purposes,
several FASB examples are built on a single fact pattern (fact pattern C), with
the following key amounts.

Caption Amount
AOCI (beginning balance) $3,000
OCI before reclassifications 15,000
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (5,250)
AOCI (ending balance at December 31, 201X) $12,750

Fact pattern C is also used in Example 5.4.50 (sum of reclassification
adjustments listed).

FE Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Disclosure of Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Balances

55-15A The following table illustrates the disclosure of changes in the balances
of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income, as required
by paragraph 220-10-45-14A. The amounts in this illustration correspond to the
amounts in the Example in paragraph 220-10-55-17F.
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Entity ABC
Notes to Financial Statements
Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income by Component(a)
For the Period Ended December 31, 201X

Unrealized
Gains and
Losses on
Gains and Available-
Losses on for-Sale
Cash Flow Debt
Hedges Securities Total
Beginning balance $(5,000) $8,000 $3,000
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 7,000 8,000 15,000
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (2,250) (3,000) (5,250)
Net current-period other comprehensive income 4,750 5,000 9,750
Ending balance $(250) $13,000 $12,750

(a) All amounts are net of tax. Amounts in parentheses indicate debits.

Reclassification of AOCI to net income

20 Glossary
Reclassification Adjustments

Adjustments made to avoid double counting in comprehensive income items
that are displayed as part of net income for a period that also had been
displayed as part of other comprehensive income in that period or earlier
periods.

> Reclassification Adjustments

45-15 Reclassification adjustments shall be made to avoid double counting of
items in comprehensive income that are presented as part of net income for a
period that also had been presented as part of other comprehensive income in
that period or earlier periods. For example, gains on investment securities that
were realized and included in net income of the current period that also had
been included in other comprehensive income as unrealized holding gains in
the period in which they arose must be deducted through other comprehensive
income of the period in which they are included in net income to avoid including
them in comprehensive income twice (see paragraph 320-10-40-2). Example 3
(see paragraphs 220-10-55-18 through 55-27) illustrates the presentation of
reclassification adjustments in accordance with this paragraph.

45-16 An entity shall determine reclassification adjustments for each
component of other comprehensive income. The requirement for a
reclassification adjustment for foreign currency translation adjustments is
limited to translation gains and losses realized upon sale or upon complete or
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substantially complete liquidation of an investment in a foreign entity (see
paragraphs 830-30-40-1 through 40-1A).

45-17 An entity shall separately provide information about the effects on net
income of significant amounts reclassified out of each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income if those amounts all are required
under other Topics to be reclassified to net income in their entirety in the same
reporting period. An entity shall provide this information together, in one
location, in either of the following ways:

a. On the face of the statement where net income is presented
b. As a separate disclosure in the notes to financial statements.

Paragraph 220-10-45-17A describes the information requirements for
presentation on the face of the statements where net income is presented, and
paragraph 220-10-50-6 describes the information requirements for disclosure in
the notes to financial statements.

45-17A If an entity chooses to present information about the effects of
significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income on net income, on the face of the statement where net income is
presented, the entity shall present parenthetically by component of other
comprehensive income the effect of significant reclassification amounts on the
respective line items of net income. An entity also shall present parenthetically
the aggregate tax effect of all significant reclassifications on the line item for
income tax benefit or expense in the statement where net income is presented.
However, if an entity chooses to use a separate line item or items in the income
statement to present significant pension cost components or other
postretirement benefit cost components reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income, it shall no longer be required to present those pension
cost components or other postretirement benefit cost components
parenthetically. If an entity is unable to identify the line item of net income
affected by any significant amount reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income in a reporting period (including when all
reclassifications for the period are not to net income in their entirety), the entity
must follow the guidance in paragraph 220-10-50-6. Paragraph 220-10-55-17F
provides an example of presentation of the effect of reclassification on the face
of the statement where net income is presented.

> Disclosing Changes and Certain Income Tax Effects within Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

50-1 An entity shall disclose a description of the accounting policy for releasing
income tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income.

50-6 If an entity chooses to disclose information about significant amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income in the notes to
financial statements or is required to do so by paragraph 220-10-45-17A, it
shall disclose the significant amounts by each component of accumulated other
comprehensive income and provide a subtotal of each component of
comprehensive income. The subtotals for each component shall agree with the
requirements in paragraph 220-10-45-14A. Both before-tax and net-of-tax
presentations are permitted provided the entity complies with the requirements
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in paragraph 220-10-45-12. For each significant reclassification amount, the
entity shall identify, for those amounts that are required under other Topics to
be reclassified to net income in their entirety in the same reporting period, each
line item affected by the reclassification on the statement where net income is
presented. For any significant reclassification for which other Topics do not
require that reclassification to net income in its entirety in the same reporting
period, the entity shall cross-reference to the note where additional details
about the effect of the reclassifications are disclosed. Paragraph 220-10-55-
17E provides an example of a note presentation in a tabular format of the effect
of reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income. (See
paragraph 220-10-45-17B.)

« « > Disclosure of Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Balances

55-15C For life insurers, amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income exclude changes in unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale debt securities associated with direct adjustments made to
policy liabilities necessary to reflect these balances as if such unrealized gains
and losses were realized.

« « > Disclosure of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

55-17A The effect of reclassifications on the line items in the statement in
which net income is presented, as described in paragraph 220-10-45-17,
should be presented on either a before-tax basis or a net-of-tax basis
consistent with the entity’s method of presentation for the line items in the
statement where net income is presented. In either case, the total for this
disclosure should agree with the total amount of reclassifications for each
component of comprehensive income that complies with the presentation
requirements in paragraph 220-10-45-14A. The illustration in paragraph 220-
10-55-17E presents the effect of reclassifications on the line items of net
income on a before-tax basis, but it also shows totals for each component,
which agree with the ending balances presented in paragraph 220-10-55-15,
which is on an after-tax basis.

55-17B An entity with significant defined benefit pension costs reclassified out
of accumulated other comprehensive income should identify the amount of
each pension cost component reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income and make reference to the relevant pension cost
disclosure that provides greater detail about these reclassifications.

55-17C A life insurer may make adjustments to unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale debt securities for the effect on relevant assets and liabilities
(as specified in paragraph 320-10-S99-2 for public entities) as if the unrealized
gains and losses had been realized. In such cases, the life insurer should
cross-reference to the related notes.

55-17D Some entities may not have a separate line item for realized
gains/(losses) on the sale of securities and, instead, will include this amount as
part of another line item, for example, other income/(expense).
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The occurrence of certain events triggers the reclassification of amounts of
AOCI to net income. This is to avoid double counting in comprehensive income
items that are included in net income for a period that had also been included in
other comprehensive income in that period or earlier periods. [220-10 Glossary]

An example of a reclassification event is the sale of available-for-sale debt
securities; to avoid double counting in comprehensive income, any unrealized
gains or losses in AOCI related to those securities are reclassified to net income
in the period the realized gain or loss is reported in net income. [320-10-40-2]

Reclassification adjustments are determined for each component of OCI in
AOCI. [220-10-45-15 — 45-16]

Reclassifications of significant amounts from AOCI requires separate
presentation or disclosure (see Question 5.4.50).

Question 5.4.40

Does Subtopic 220-10 address when to reclassify items
in AOCI?

Interpretive response: In general, no. Subtopic 220-10 does not specify when
to reclassify (i.e. derecognize) items of AOCI, except for the one-time
derecognition of tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act on items in AOCI.
Instead, derecognition of items in AOCI is based on the relevant underlying
accounting literature. [220-10-35-1, 45-12A]

Question 5.4.50

How are reclassification adjustments reported?

Interpretive response: There are two aspects to reporting reclassification
adjustments.

e All current-period reclassification adjustments are reported separately for
each component of AOCI, either on the face of the financial statements orin
the notes (see Question 5.4.30). [220-10-45-14A]

e The effects of a reclassification adjustment on individual captions in the
income statement are reported if the reclassification amount is significant,

either in the income statement or in the notes (see Question 5.4.60). [220-10-
45-17]
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Question 5.4.60

How are reclassification adjustments reported if the OCI
occurred during the same reporting period?

Interpretive response: For reclassification adjustments in the same reporting
period that the OCI occurred, we believe an entity can elect a policy to present:

¢ only the changes from the beginning balance of AOCI as reclassification
adjustments — i.e. amounts added and removed from AOCI during the same
period are shown net; or

e each individual change in OCI and AOCI — i.e. intra-period activity is
presented gross.

The policy should be consistently applied and disclosed if material.

Question 5.4.70

How are the income statement effects of reclassification
adjustments reported?

Interpretive response: When reclassifications from AOCI components
represent significant amounts, the income statement effect of the reclassification
adjustment are reported by either: [220-10-45-17]

e presenting the effects in parentheticals in the income statement (see
Question 5.4.80); or

e disclosing the effects in the notes to financial statements (see Question
5.4.90).

An entity discloses the effects in the notes (as opposed to in the income
statement) when: [220-10-45-17A, 55-17F]

¢ reclassifications for the period are not to net income in their entirety — e.g.
when a reclassification adjustment is capitalized into inventory; or

e the entity is unable to identify the appropriate caption(s) in the income
statement that are affected by the reclassifications.

Question 5.4.80

How are significant reclassification adjustments
presented in the income statement?

Interpretive response: When the conditions discussed in Question 5.4.70 are
met, an entity can elect to present significant reclassification adjustments out of
AOCI parenthetically in the income statement on each affected caption. The
amount of the effects is presented pre-tax or post-tax, consistent with whether
the caption is presented pre-tax or post-tax. However, the total of the amount of
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the effects disclosed in this manner must agree with the totals reported for
changes in AOCI balances (see Question 5.4.30). [220-10-55-17A]

Example 5.4.50 illustrates this presentation.

Example 5.4.50
FASB example: Presenting effects on net income of

significant amounts reclassified out of AOCI — items
reclassified in their entirety to net income

See Example 5.4.40 for the fact pattern underlying this example (fact pattern C).

@ Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Disclosure of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

55-17F The following illustrates presentation of the effect on certain line items
of net income of significant amounts reclassified out of each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income, as required by paragraph 220-10-
45-17A. The amounts in this Example agree with the amounts in the Example
in paragraph 220-10-55-15A. This presentation should only be used if all
significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income
are reclassified to net income in their entirety in the same reporting period.

Entity ABC
Statement of Income
For the Period Ended December 31, 201X

Revenues (includes $4,000 accumulated other comprehensive income

reclassifications for net gains on cash flow hedges) $122,500
Expenses (includes ($1,000) accumulated other comprehensive income

reclassifications for net losses on cash flow hedges) (32,000)
Other gains and losses 5,000

Gain on sale of securities (includes $4,000 accumulated other comprehensive
income reclassifications for unrealized net gains on available-for-sale debt

securities) 4,000
Income from operations before tax 99,500
Income tax expense (includes ($1,750) income tax expense from

reclassification items) (24,875)
Net income $74,625
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Question 5.4.90

How are significant reclassification adjustments
presented in the notes?

Interpretive response: When an entity discloses the effects of significant
reclassification adjustments in the notes (see Question 5.4.70), it discloses all
significant adjustments. [220-10-50-6]

Note disclosures are required to: [220-10-50-6]

¢ identify significant amounts by each AOCI component;

e provide a subtotal of each component of comprehensive income that agrees
with the subtotal reported for changes in the balances of the AOCI
components (see Question 5.4.30);

« for significant amounts required to be reclassified to net income in their
entirety in the same reporting period, each caption affected by the
reclassification;

o for significant amounts not required to be reclassified to net income in their
entirety in the same reporting period, cross reference to the disclosure with
additional details about the effect of the reclassifications.

These disclosures may be presented on either a before-tax or net-of-tax basis.

Example 5.4.60 illustrates this presentation.

Example 5.4.60
FASB example: Presenting effects on net income of

significant amounts reclassified out of AOCI — items
reclassified in their entirety to net income

See Example 5.4.30 for the fact pattern underlying this example (fact pattern B).

I_:E Excerpt from ASC 220-10

« « > Disclosure of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

55-17E The following illustrates a disclosure in a tabular format of significant
amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other
comprehensive income, as required by paragraph 220-10-50-6. The amounts
used in this Example correspond to those in the Example in paragraph 220-10-
55-15.
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Entity XYZ
Notes to Financial Statements
Reclassification Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income(a)
For the Period Ended December 31, 201X

Details about Accumulated Other Amount Reclassified from Affected Line Item in the
Comprehensive Income Accumulated Other Statement Where Net Income
Components Comprehensive Income is Presented
Gains and losses on cash flow
hedges
Interest rate contracts $1,000 Interest income/(expense)
Credit derivatives (500)  Other income/(expense)
Foreign exchange contracts 2,500 Sales/revenue
Commodity contracts (2,000)  Cost of sales

1,000 Total before tax
(250)  Tax (expense) or benefit
$750  Net of tax

Unrealized gains and losses on

available-for-sale debt securities

Realized gain/(loss) on sale of
securities

(285)  Impairment expense

$2,300

Insignificant items (15)
2,000 Total before tax
(500)  Tax (expense) or benefit
$1,500  Net of tax

Amortization of defined benefit
pension items

Prior-service costs $(2,000)®  Other income/(expense)
Transition obligation (2,500)®  Other income/(expense)
Actuarial gains/(losses) (1,500)®  Other income/(expense)

(6,000) Total before tax
1,500  Tax (expense) or benefit
$(4,500)  Net of tax

Total reclassifications for the period $(2,250)  Net of tax

(a) Amounts in parentheses indicate debits to profit/loss.
(b) These accumulated other comprehensive income components are components of net periodic pension
cost (see pension note for additional details).
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Notes to financial statements

Detailed contents

6.1 How the standard works
6.2 General disclosure guidance
Questions

6.2.10 What is the purpose of the notes to financial statements?
6.2.20 Are registrants required to make additional disclosures?
6.2.30 Is disclosure of immaterial items required?

6.2.40 Are disclosures from the prior year repeated in the current
year?

6.2.50 Can registrants avoid repeating in the notes financial
information presented in MD&A?

6.2.60 How can the effectiveness of disclosure be improved?
6.3 Accounting policies

6.3.10 Overview

6.3.20 Accounting policies note

Questions

6.3.10 Which accounting policies must be disclosed?

6.3.20 How are significant accounting policies disclosed?

6.3.30 What accounting policies does an entity disclose if it issues
only one financial statement?

6.4 Information prepared under IFRS Accounting Standards
Question

6.4.10 Can financial information prepared under IFRS Accounting
Standards be included in US GAAP financial statements?
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How the standard works

The notes to financial statements (notes) supplement or explain information
presented in the financial statements, and with a full set of financial statements
help achieve the objective of general purpose financial reporting (see Question
2.3.10).

US GAAP provides no one-stop-shop for disclosure requirements. Each Topic in
the Codification lists the required disclosure for that Topic — e.g. Topic 606
details disclosures required for revenue from contracts with customers. For
registrants, SEC regulations and other guidance have additional disclosure
requirements.

This Handbook discusses the following disclosure requirements in depth:

¢ general disclosure guidance — see section 6.2;

e accounting policies (Topic 235) — see section 6.3;

e risks and uncertainties (Topic 275) — see chapter 7;

¢ related parties (Topic 850) — see chapter 8;

e subsequent events (Topic 855) — see chapter 9;

¢ interim period disclosures (Topic 270) — see chapter 10.

For other disclosure requirements see the collection of KPMG Handbooks. In
addition, KPMG Accounting Research Online subscribers can access KPMG
accounting disclosure checklists.

In some cases, an entity has a choice of providing information in notes or
parenthetically on the financial statements. For ease of reading, this chapter
specifically refers only to notes, but the concepts discussed also apply to
information disclosed parenthetically.
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General disclosure guidance

Some general disclosure guidance can be found across the FASB Concepts
Statements, Topic 105, Subtopic 205-10 and SEC guidance. These are
summarized in this section and are generally relevant to both annual and interim
financial statements, unless indicated otherwise.

Disclosure requirements do not apply to immaterial items. In contrast, disclosure
beyond the specific requirements of US GAAP may sometimes be necessary to
keep the disclosures from being misleading. Well-reasoned, practical judgments
on financial statement disclosures are critical to providing high-quality and

decision-useful information to investors and preserving disclosure effectiveness.

Question 6.2.10

What is the purpose of the notes to financial
statements?

Interpretive response: The primary purpose of the notes to financial
statements is to supplement, explain or amplify the information presented in the
financial statements. The notes provide information about: [CON 8.D4, D12]

¢ financial statement captions;

e the reporting entity; and

e past events and current conditions and circumstances that have not been
recognized but could affect the entity’s future cash flows.

However, disclosure is not an acceptable alternative to the proper application of
US GAAP. [CON 8.PR12]

Question 6.2.20

Are registrants required to make additional disclosures?

Interpretive response: Yes. Reg S-X requires several disclosures beyond the
Cadification. Further, throughout the Codification, entities meeting the definition
of a ‘public entity’ or ‘public business entity’ are required to make additional
disclosures beyond those required for nonpublic entities.

See Appendix for a full reproduction of S-X Rules 4-08, 5-02 and 5-03, which
include additional disclosures required for registrants.
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Question 6.2.30

Is disclosure of immaterial items required?

Interpretive response: No. The provisions of the Codification and SEC
guidance are not required to be applied to immaterial items, including disclosure
requirements. [105-10-05-6, S-X Rule 4-02]

In 2015, the FASB attempted but eventually decided not to incorporate a
definition of materiality (legal or otherwise) separately into Topic 235 (notes to
financial statements). This is because materiality is ultimately integrated into the
entire financial reporting system and has implications not just for disclosure, but
also for recognition and measurement in financial statements. Question 2.4.50
discusses materiality.

Question 6.2.40

Are disclosures from the prior year repeated in the
current year?

Interpretive response: Yes. Disclosures from the prior year are repeated to the
extent they continue to be of significance. [205-10-50-2]

Question 6.2.50

Can registrants avoid repeating in the notes financial
information presented in MD&A?

Interpretive response: No. The same financial information may need to be
presented in both the notes to financial statements and MD&A.

Disclosures required by the Codification must be included in the notes. A
registrant cannot refer to MD&A for those required disclosures unless it is
specifically permitted or required by SEC guidance or by US GAAP. For
example, in the notes, a registrant cannot simply reference the income tax
disclosures in MD&A to satisfy the requirements of Topic 740. [17 CFR 240.12b-23]

Conversely, a registrant can refer to the financial statements and notes in
MD&A. [S-K Item 303]

Question 6.2.60

How can the effectiveness of disclosure be improved?

Background: In recent years, the SEC and the FASB have been working on a
number of projects on disclosure effectiveness. For example, the FASB
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disclosure framework project aims at facilitating clear communication of the
information material to the users of the financial statements.

Interpretive response: Financial information conveyed through the notes to
financial statements must be useful to the users of the financial statements
when making voting decisions or decisions about providing resources to the
entity. [CON 8.D4]

For that purpose, we believe the following best practices in terms of content and
format of the notes should be considered: [2015 AICPA Conf]

e avoiding boilerplate or non-entity specific information;

¢ removing outdated or redundant disclosures;

e eliminating immaterial disclosures;

e using tabular formats over narratives where possible;

e cross-referencing information from the face of the financial statements to the
related note or between notes; and

e ordering the notes in a systematic and logical fashion — e.g. in the order that
the financial statement captions are presented.

Accounting policies

Overview

05-1 The Notes to Financial Statements Topic addresses the content and
usefulness of disclosure by an entity of the accounting policies judged by
management to be most appropriate to fairly present the entity's financial
statements.

05-2 Disclosure of accounting policies related to specific financial statement
line items are addressed in the related Topics.

> Importance of Accounting Policies Disclosure

05-3 The accounting policies of an entity are the specific accounting principles
and the methods of applying those principles that are judged by the
management of the entity to be the most appropriate in the circumstances to
present fairly financial position, cash flows, and results of operations in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and that,
accordingly, have been adopted for preparing the financial statements.

05-4 The accounting policies adopted by an entity can affect significantly the
presentation of its financial position, cash flows, and results of operations.
Accordingly, the usefulness of financial statements for purposes of making
economic decisions about the entity depends significantly upon the user's
understanding of the accounting policies followed by the entity.
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> Entities

15-2 The guidance in the Notes to Financial Statements Topic applies to all
entities.

Financial statements are typically compiled using numerous accounting policies
— e.g. consolidation basis, depreciation methods, inventory cost flow assumption
(e.g. first-in, first-out), transition options to adopt a new ASU. For financial
statements to be useful, users need to understand these accounting policies.
Therefore, all entities must disclose those accounting policies that management

deems most appropriate to fairly present the financial statements. [235-10-05-1, 05-
3, 15-2]

In addition, Topic 250 requires specific disclosures related to changes in
accounting principles, which includes existing policies and practices as well as
the adoption of new accounting standards. See chapter 3 of KPMG Handbook,
Accounting changes and error corrections.

Accounting policies note

> Accounting Policies Disclosure

50-1 Information about the accounting policies adopted by an entity is essential
for financial statement users. When financial statements that are issued or are
available to be issued (as discussed in Section 855-10-25) purport to present
fairly financial position, cash flows, and results of operations in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), a description of all significant
accounting policies of the entity shall be included as an integral part of the
financial statements. In circumstances where it may be appropriate to issue one
or more of the basic financial statements without the others, purporting to
present fairly the information given in accordance with GAAP, statements so
presented also shall include disclosure of the pertinent accounting policies.

> What to Disclose

50-3 Disclosure of accounting policies shall identify and describe the
accounting principles followed by the entity and the methods of applying those
principles that materially affect the determination of financial position, cash
flows, or results of operations. In general, the disclosure shall encompass
important judgments as to appropriateness of principles relating to recognition
of revenue and allocation of asset costs to current and future periods; in
particular, it shall encompass those accounting principles and methods that
involve any of the following:
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a. A selection from existing acceptable alternatives

b. Principles and methods peculiar to the industry in which the entity operates,
even if such principles and methods are predominantly followed in that
industry

c. Unusual or innovative applications of GAAP.

> Examples of Disclosures

50-4 Examples of disclosures by an entity commonly required with respect to
accounting policies would include, among others, those relating to the following:

Basis of consolidation

Depreciation methods

Amortization of intangibles

Inventory pricing

Recognition of revenue from contracts with customers
Recognition of revenue from leasing operations.

~0 00T W

> Avoid Duplicate Details of Disclosures

50-5 Financial statement disclosure of accounting policies shall not duplicate
details (for example, composition of inventories or of plant assets) presented
elsewhere as part of the financial statements. In some cases, the disclosure of
accounting policies shall refer to related details presented elsewhere as part of
the financial statements; for example, changes in accounting policies during the
period shall be described with cross-reference to the disclosure required by
Topic 250.

> Format

50-6 This Subtopic recognizes the need for flexibility in matters of format
(including the location) of disclosure of accounting policies provided that the
entity identifies and describes its significant accounting policies as an integral
part of its financial statements in accordance with the provisions of this
Subtopic. Disclosure is preferred in a separate summary of significant
accounting policies preceding the notes to financial statements (notes), or as
the initial note, under the same or a similar title.

The note describing all significant accounting policies of the entity forms an
integral part of the financial statements. [235-10-50-1]

Question 6.3.10

Which accounting policies must be disclosed?

Interpretive response: All significant accounting policies must be disclosed.
The term ‘accounting policy’ broadly includes accounting principles, methods
and techniques. See Question 3.2.10 in KPMG Handbook, Accounting changes
and error corrections, for a discussion of those terms. [235-10-50-3]
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An accounting policy is ‘significant’ if it has a material impact, either
quantitatively or qualitatively, on the financial statements presented. Selecting
which accounting policies are significant requires judgment and particular
attention is given to those accounting policies that require judgments as to their
appropriateness. This includes principles relating to recognition of revenue,
allocation of asset costs to current and future periods, and presentation (such as

statement of cash flow classification) and disclosure items, especially when:
[235-10-50-3]

e several acceptable alternatives exist;
e the principles and methods followed are industry-specific; or
e the application of GAAP is unusual or innovative.

For nonpublic entities, we believe that the selection of private company
accounting alternatives should be disclosed, if applicable.

Accounting policy disclosures do not need to be included in interim financial
statements with limited notes if the entity has not changed its accounting
policies since the end of its preceding fiscal year. See section 10.5 for additional
discussion of interim reporting disclosure requirements.

Question 6.3.20

How are significant accounting policies disclosed?

Interpretive response: The preferred approach is to disclose significant
accounting policies in a separate note preceding all other notes. However, the
format and placement of the disclosure is flexible, as long as it is an integral part
of the financial statements. Accounting policy disclosures do not need to be

duplicated in a separate note if presented elsewhere in the financial statements.
[235-10-50-5 — 50-6]

Question 6.3.30

What accounting policies does an entity disclose if it
issues only one financial statement?

Interpretive response: An entity only discloses the accounting policies that are
pertinent to the issued financial statement. For example, if an entity is issuing
only a balance sheet, it does not need to disclose accounting policies relevant to
the statement of cash flows or the income statement, unless those policies
affect the balance sheet. [235-10-50-1]
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Information prepared under IFRS Accounting
Standards

Question 6.4.10
Can financial information prepared under IFRS

Accounting Standards be included in US GAAP financial
statements?

Interpretive response: It depends. US domestic registrants are not permitted
to include financial information prepared under IFRS Accounting Standards in
their US GAAP financial statements because this would meet the definition of a
non-GAAP measure (see Question 2.4.20). However, segment information may
be disclosed on an IFRS Accounting Standards basis because segment

measures do not need to be provided in accordance with US GAAP. [SK Item
10(e), 280-10-55-9]

However, for nonpublic entities, we believe it may be acceptable to include, in
the notes to US GAAP financial statements, financial information prepared
under IFRS Accounting Standards. This is as long as the information is not

misleading or does not otherwise obscure the financial statements. [AU-C 700.A19
- A20]

If included, we believe this information should be:

e prepared using all relevant recognition and measurement principles of IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB;

e clearly labeled as such; and

e reconciled to the equivalent US GAAP metric. The reconciliation should
allow the user to understand and quantify the material differences in
accounting policies between US GAAP and IFRS Accounting Standards.

For example, an entity may wish to present its total of shareholders’ equity or
net income under IFRS Accounting Standards. This information would be best
presented in a separate note with a reconciliation presented as follows:

e in tabular format;

¢ in sufficient detail to quantify material adjustments from US GAAP to IFRS
Accounting Standards;

e accompanied by relevant explanations for the key differences in accounting
policies.
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Risks and uncertainties

Detailed contents

Item significantly updated in this edition: #

71
7.2

7.3

7.4

How the standard works

Overview

Questions

7.2.10 What financial statements require Topic 275 disclosures?
7.2.20 What risks and uncertainties are disclosed under Topic 2757

7.2.30 Are risks and uncertainties disclosures limited to near-term

effects?

7.2.40 What risks and uncertainties are not disclosed under Topic
2757

7.2.50 When is the assessment of risks and uncertainties
performed?

7.2.60 Where are Topic 275 disclosures included in the notes?

7.2.70 Are registrants subject to any risks and uncertainties
disclosure requirements outside the financial statements?

7.2.80 What are the implications if future actual events differ from
disclosed risks and uncertainties?

Nature of operations

7.3.10 Overview

7.3.20 Example disclosures
Question

7.3.10 What disclosures are required about the nature of an entity’s
operations?

Example

7.3.10 Nature of operations/activities — retailer whose planned
principal operations have commenced

Use of estimates

7.4.10 Overview

7.4.20 Example disclosure
Question

7.4.10 How does an entity disclose its use of estimates?
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Significant estimates

7.5.10 Overview

7.5.20 Examples of estimates
7.5.30 Example disclosures
Questions

7.5.10 How does an entity assess if an estimate is significant for
disclosure purposes?

7.5.20 Can risk-reduction techniques be considered in evaluating
whether an estimate is significant?

7.5.30 How is Criterion 2 for significant estimates applied to the
estimate of an intangible or long-lived asset’s useful life?

7.5.40 What disclosures are required for significant estimates
including loss contingencies?

Examples

7.5.10 Significant estimates — recoverability of property and
equipment

7.5.20 Significant estimates — guarantee of debt

7.5.30 Significant estimates — fair value of financial instruments
Vulnerability from certain concentrations

7.6.10 Overview

7.6.20 Example disclosures

Questions

7.6.10 What types of concentrations are in the scope of Topic 2757?
7.6.20 When is a concentration significant for disclosure purposes?
7.6.30 What disclosures are required for significant concentrations?
Example

7.6.10 Concentrations of inventory, revenue and accounts
receivable

Impact of macroeconomic events on risks and uncertainties
disclosures

7.7.10 Uncertain environments

7.7.20 Climate change and natural disasters
7.7.30 Widespread health crises

7.7.40 Cybersecurity

7.7.50 Foreign jurisdictions

7.7.60 Regulatory environment and other
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Questions

7.7.10

7.7.20

7.7.30

7.7.40

7.7.50

7.7.60

7.7.70

7.7.80

7.7.90

How can macroeconomic events impact the functioning of an
entity?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to uncertain economic conditions or downturns?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to volatile commodity prices?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to climate-related risks? #

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to natural disasters?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to widespread health crises?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to cybersecurity incidents?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to foreign jurisdictions?

What are some potential disclosable risks and uncertainties
related to reference rate reform?

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved



71

Financial statement presentation
7. Risks and uncertainties

How the standard works

An entity discloses risks and uncertainties that could significantly affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements in the near term or the near-term
functioning of the entity. The following table summarizes the disclosures

required by Topic 275.

Risk area ‘ General disclosure requirements

Nature of operations
(see section 7.3)

Describe major products or services and
principal markets, including their location.

Estimates in general
(see section 7.4)

Explain that the preparation of financial
statements in conformity with US GAAP
requires use of management’s estimates.

Certain significant estimates
(see section 7.5)

When it is reasonably possible that an
estimate will change materially in the near
term, disclose this fact and indicate the
nature of the uncertainty.

Current vulnerabilities due to
concentrations

(see section 7.6)

Disclose concentrations in certain areas
when the concentration makes the entity
vulnerable to the risk of near-term severe
impact and it is at least reasonably possible
that events could occur to cause such severe
impact.

Topic 275 disclosures are intended to complement (and sometimes overlap)
disclosures already required by other Topics. Registrants are subject to more
comprehensive risk disclosure requirements outside the financial statements.
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Overview

05-1 Financial statements provide information about certain current conditions
and trends that help users in predicting reporting entities' future cash flows and
results of operations. The quality of users' predictions depends to a significant
degree on their assessment of the risks and uncertainties inherent in entities'
operations and of the information about those operations that financial reporting
provides.

05-2 The central feature of this Subtopic's disclosure requirements is
selectivity: specified criteria serve to screen the host of risks and uncertainties
that affect every entity so that required disclosures are limited to matters
significant to a particular entity. The disclosures focus primarily on risks and
uncertainties that could significantly affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements in the near term or the near-term functioning of the reporting entity.
The risks and uncertainties this Subtopic addresses can stem from any of the
following:

a. The nature of the entity's operations, including the activities in which the
entity is currently engaged if principal operations have not commenced

b. The use of estimates in the preparation of the entity's financial statements

c. Significant concentrations in certain aspects of the entity's operations.

05-3 This Subtopic does not prohibit disclosure of matters it does not require to
be disclosed either because they do not meet the specified screening criteria or
because they relate to risks and uncertainties that are outside the scope of this
Subtopic.

10-1 Disclosing information to help users assess major risks and uncertainties
is consistent with the established objectives of financial reporting.

> Entities
15-2 The guidance in the Risks and Uncertainties Topic applies to all entities.
> Other Considerations

15-3 The guidance in the Risks and Uncertainties Topic applies to financial
statements prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) and applies to all entities that issue such statements. While
the guidance in this Topic applies to complete interim financial statements, it
does not apply to condensed or summarized interim financial statements. If
comparative financial statements are presented, the disclosure requirements
apply only to the financial statements for the most recent fiscal period
presented.

15-4 The disclosure requirements do not encompass risks and uncertainties
that might be associated with any of the following:
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Management or key personnel

Proposed changes in government regulations

Proposed changes in accounting principles

Deficiencies in the internal control structure

The possible effects of acts of God, war, or sudden catastrophes.

® o 0T

* > Overlap with Other Topics

15-5 Certain disclosure requirements in this Topic supplement the requirements
of other authoritative Topics. In many cases, however, the disclosure
requirements in this Topic, particularly those relating to certain significant
estimates, will be met or partly met by compliance with such other Topics.

15-6 The disclosure requirements of this Topic in many circumstances are
similar to or overlap the disclosure requirements in other Topics, for example,
Topic 450 and, for public entities, Subtopic 280-10. The disclosure
requirements of this Topic in many circumstances also are similar to or overlap
the disclosure requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). This Topic does not alter the requirements of any other Topic or any
SEC requirement.

50-1 All of the disclosures required by this Subtopic shall be included in the
basic financial statements. Reporting entities shall make disclosures in their
financial statements about the risks and uncertainties existing as of the date of
those statements in the following areas:

a. Nature of operations, including the activities in which the entity is currently
engaged if principal operations have not commenced

b. Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

c. Certain significant estimates

d. Current vulnerability due to certain concentrations.

These four areas of disclosure are not mutually exclusive. The information
required by some may overlap. Accordingly, the disclosures required by this
Subtopic may be combined in various ways, grouped together, or placed in
diverse parts of the financial statements, or included as part of the disclosures
made pursuant to the requirements of other Topics.

Topic 275 requires all entities to disclose: [275-10-50-1]

e the nature of the entity’s operations — see section 7.3;

e the use of estimates in preparing the financial statements — see section 7.4;
e certain significant estimates — see section 7.5; and

e current vulnerability related to certain concentrations — see section 7.6.

These disclosures are tailored to an entity’s specific facts and circumstances so
as to provide clear and meaningful information about how the significant risks
and uncertainties may impact the entity’s financial statements in the near term.

Disclosures are updated each period to reflect current circumstances.
[275-10-15-3]

© 2024 KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved



Financial statement presentation | 170
7. Risks and uncertainties

Question 7.2.10

What financial statements require Topic 275
disclosures?

Interpretive response: Topic 275 applies to all financial statements prepared in
accordance with US GAAP except for condensed or summarized interim
financial statements. When financial statements include comparative periods,

Topic 275 disclosures are required only for the most recent period presented.
[275-10-15-3]

Question 7.2.20

What risks and uncertainties are disclosed under Topic
2757

Interpretive response: Every entity faces risks and uncertainties. These risks
may, for example, be inherent to the business in which the entity engages or
linked to the environment(s) in which it operates. Certain macroeconomic events
might be sources of risks and uncertainties (see section 7.7).

Topic 275 focuses only on significant risks that may affect amounts reported in
the financial statements in the near term or the near-term functioning of the

reporting entity. Question 7.2.30 explains how near term should be interpreted.
[275-10 Glossary]

The required disclosures under Topic 275 are limited to:

e the nature of entity’s operations;

e the use of estimates in preparing the financial statements;
e certain significant estimates; and

e current vulnerability related to certain concentrations.

Topic 275 disclosures are intended to complement (and sometimes overlap)
disclosures already required by US GAAP. For example, risks attached to the
following matters are also disclosed under other Codification Topics:

e concentration of sales with major customers (Topic 280) — see section 8.5 of
KPMG Handbook, Segment reporting;

e commitments (Topic 440);

¢ loss contingencies (Topic 450);

e unrecognized tax benefits (Topic 740) — see section 9 of KPMG Handbook,
Accounting for income taxes;

e fair value measurements (Topic 820) — see section N of KPMG Handbook,
Fair value measurement;

¢ financial instrument with concentrations of credit risk (Topic 825);

¢ related-party transactions (Topic 850) — see chapter 8;

e subsequent events (Topic 855) — see chapter 9;

e risk that an entity will not be able to continue as a going concern (Subtopic
205-40) — see chapter 5 of KPMG Handbook, Going concern.
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Topic 275 also specifically excludes certain risks from its scope — see Question
7.2.40. However, an entity may voluntarily disclose additional risks and

uncertainties outside of the requirements of Topic 275 or other US GAAP. [275-
10-05-3]

Question 7.2.30

Are risks and uncertainties disclosures limited to near-
term effects?

FE Excerpt from ASC 275-10

20 Glossary
Near Term

A period of time not to exceed one year from the date of the financial
statements.

Interpretive response: Topic 275 focuses on significant risks with a near-term

effect. Near term is defined as less than a year from the reporting date. [275-10
Glossary]

However, it may be appropriate to disclose risks and uncertainties with effects
beyond the near-term as required by other US GAAP — e.g. loss contingencies
under Topic 450 or debt maturities under Topic 470.

Question 7.2.40

What risks and uncertainties are not disclosed under
Topic 2757

Interpretive response: Topic 275 disclosures do not apply to risks and
uncertainties associated with any of the following: [275-10-15-4]

e management or key personnel;

e proposed changes in government regulations;

e proposed changes in accounting principles;

e deficiencies in internal control structure; and

e the possible effects of acts of God, war, or sudden catastrophes.

However, outside the financial statements (see Question 7.2.70), registrants
may be required to discuss risks and uncertainties related to management or
key personnel and pending legislation or regulations. [S-K Item 103, 105, 303]
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Question 7.2.50

When is the assessment of risks and uncertainties
performed?

Interpretive response: Topic 275 disclosures reflect facts and circumstances at
the reporting date and are updated every period.

The assessment considers information known to management before the
financial statements are issued (available to be issued), as defined in Topic 855
(see Question 9.3.50). Therefore, Topic 275 requires monitoring subsequent
events and leverages processes and controls in place to comply with the
requirements of Topic 855 (see chapter 9) and Subtopic 205-40 (see KPMG
Handbook, Going concern). However, each subsequent event is assessed
separately under each Topic. [275-10-50-8, 50-17]

Topic 275 only requires consideration of information known to management,
rather than information of which management is reasonably expected to have
knowledge. Therefore, Topic 275 disclosures are not based on information
management does not readily know even if the information could be identified
without significant amount of cost or effort. This contrasts with Subtopic 205-40,
which requires consideration of both known and reasonably knowable

conditions and events in the going concern assessment. [275-10-50-17, ASU 2014-
15.BC26]

Question 7.2.60

Where are Topic 275 disclosures included in the notes?

Interpretive response: Topic 275 does not prescribe where in the notes to
financial statements risks and uncertainties should be disclosed. Instead,
entities select the presentation that is most meaningful for financial statement
users — i.e. combined in one note or provided in multiple notes. [275-10-50-1]

Topic 275 disclosures often complement (and sometimes overlap) those in other
Topics, in which case they may be provided together with disclosures made
pursuant to requirements of other Topics. Information already provided
elsewhere in the notes does not need to be repeated in a risks and uncertainties

note if all requirements under Topic 275 have been sufficiently addressed. [275-
10-15-5 — 15-6, 50-21]

Questions 7.3.10, 7.4.10, 7.5.40 and 7.6.30 discuss common placements of
Topic 275 disclosures.
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Question 7.2.70
Are registrants subject to any risks and uncertainties

disclosure requirements outside the financial
statements?

Interpretive response: Yes. A number of Reg S-K disclosures require
registrants to discuss risks and uncertainties, such as:

e adescription of the business, including dependence on key revenue-
generating activities, products, services or customers; [S-K Item 101]

e a description of material pending legal proceedings; [S-K Item 103]

e adiscussion of risk factors. The focus is on material factors that make an
investment in the registrant or offering speculative or risky; [S-K Item 105]

¢ management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations. The focus is on material events and uncertainties known to
management that are reasonably likely to cause reported financial
information not to be necessarily indicative of future operating results or of
future financial condition; [S-K Item 303]

e critical accounting estimates. The focus is on estimates involving significant
estimation uncertainty that have had or are reasonably likely to have a
material impact on financial condition or results of operations; [S-K Item 303]

e quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk. [S-K Item 305]

Therefore, registrants may be required to provide information outside the
financial statements that is similar to or consistent with information disclosed in
the notes to financial statements. However, the SEC does permit Reg S-K
disclosures to hyperlink or cross-reference information disclosed in the notes,
rather than repeat it, provided that the Reg S-K disclosures integrate the
substance of the notes in a manner that informs readers of the significance of
the information. [S-K Item 103, 105, 303]

In our experience, when identifying potential risks and uncertainties for Topic
275 disclosures, registrants often leverage their processes for complying with
the above disclosure requirements in Reg S-K.
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Question 7.2.80

What are the implications if future actual events differ
from disclosed risks and uncertainties?

> Application of Disclosure Criteria

50-23 An assessment of whether a disclosure is required should not be found
to be in error simply as a result of future events. For example, reporting a
concentration not followed by a severe impact does not imply that the
disclosure should not have been made, because something that has only a
reasonably possible chance of occurring obviously might not occur. Similarly,
the occurrence of a severe impact related to a concentration not disclosed in
the prior-year financial statements would not suggest noncompliance with the
requirements of this Subtopic if an appropriate judgment had been made that a
near-term severe impact was not at least reasonably possible at the prior
reporting date. In addition, a severe impact may arise from a concentration of
which management did not have knowledge at the time the financial statements
were issued.

Background: Such a situation may arise when, for example:

e an entity concluded that a potential event created a disclosable risk or
uncertainty but the event did not subsequently occur;

e an entity concluded that a potential event did not create a disclosable risk or
uncertainty but the event subsequently occurred,;

e the timing or magnitude of a potential event was different than what the
entity predicted.

Interpretive response: Such differences require no corrective action as long as
risks and uncertainties disclosures were made using appropriate judgment at
the time. However, an entity will have to alter its disclosures prospectively for
the new information. [275-10-50-23]

Nevertheless, if an entity incorrectly applied the disclosure requirements or
overlooked information that it should have considered, then corrective action
may be needed. [250-10 Glossary]
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Nature of operations

Overview

> Nature of Operations

05-4 Disclosure of the locations of a business entity's or not-for-profit entity's
(NFP's) principal markets provides information useful in assessing risks and
uncertainties related to the environments in which the entity operates. The risks
and the uncertainties associated with selling products and services in various
regions in the United States may differ significantly. And they do differ
significantly from the risks and the uncertainties in selling products and services
outside the United States. Knowing those environments in which an entity sells
its products or provides services helps users of financial statements to assess
certain risks based on day-to-day national and world events.

05-5 Information about the nature of operations is he